Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this document, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this document.



HSBC Holdings plc

Overseas Regulatory Announcement

The attached announcement has been released to the other stock exchanges on which HSBC Holdings plc is listed.

The Board of Directors of HSBC Holdings plc as at the date of this announcement are: Douglas Flint, Stuart Gulliver, Kathleen Casey[†], Safra Catz[†], Laura Cha[†], Sir Jonathan Evans[†], Joachim Faber[†], Rona Fairhead[†], Renato Fassbind[†], Sam Laidlaw[†], John Lipsky[†], Rachel Lomax[†], Iain Mackay, Marc Moses, Sir Simon Robertson[†] and Jonathan Symonds[†].

Hong Kong Stock Code: 5

[†] Independent non-executive Director

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

	Washington, D.C.	. 20549	
	FORM 10-	Q	
(Marl	k One)		
×	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934		
	For the quarterly period endo	ed June 30, 2014	
	OR		
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934		
	For the transition period from	to	
	Commission file numb	er 1-8198	
	Delaware (State of incorporation) 26525 North Riverwoods Boulevard, Suite 100, Mettawa, Illinois (Address of principal executive offices)	cified in its charter) 80 (I.R.S. Emplo	6-1052062 yer Identification No.) 60045 Zip Code)
	(224) 880-7000 Registrant's telephone number, i		
prece	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be fiding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such Yes ■ No □		
subm	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted itted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 mont such files). Yes ⊠ No □		
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerate itions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company"		
	Large accelerated filer	Non-accelerated filer [corting company)	Smaller reporting company
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule	12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Y	Yes □ No ☑
	As of July 31, 2014, there were 68 shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding	g, all of which are owned by H	SBC Investments (North America) Inc.

HSBC Finance Corporation

Form 10-Q

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part/Item	No

Part I		Page
Item 1.	Financial Statements (Unaudited):	
	Consolidated Statement of Income	3
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income	4
	Consolidated Balance Sheet	5
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity	6
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	7
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	9
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations:	
	Forward-Looking Statements	45
	Executive Overview	46
	Basis of Reporting	50
	Receivables Review	51
	Real Estate Owned	53
	Results of Operations	53
	Segment Results — IFRSs Basis	60
	Credit Quality	64
	Liquidity and Capital Resources	76
	Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	
	Fair Value	78
	Risk Management	79
	Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures	85
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	86
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	86
Part II		
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	86
Item 5.	Other Information	86
Item 6.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules	88
Index		89
Signature	es	91

PART I
Item 1. Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Si	nded		
	2	2014 2013 2014				2013		
					(in millions)			
Interest income	\$	492	\$	591	\$	998	\$	1,364
Interest expense on debt held by:								
HSBC affiliates		53		50		108		101
Non-affiliates		214		303		433		631
Interest expense		267		353		541		732
Net interest income		225		238		457		632
Provision for credit losses		(197)		267		(195)		291
Net interest income (loss) after provision for credit losses		422		(29)		652		341
Other revenues:								
Derivative related income (expense)		(90)		186		(180)		86
Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives		42		119		73		135
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates		6		6		14		13
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables held for sale		97		372		208		826
Other income (loss)		(8)		(55)		14		(78)
Total other revenues		47		628		129		982
Operating expenses:								
Salaries and employee benefits		51		51		107		115
Occupancy and equipment expenses, net		9		9		18		18
Real estate owned expenses				20		12		42
Other servicing and administrative expenses		(12)		48		68		153
Support services from HSBC affiliates		73		67		133		135
Total operating expenses		121		195		338		463
Income from continuing operations before income tax		348		404		443		860
Income tax expense		112		133		95		285
Income from continuing operations		236		271		348		575
Discontinued operations (Note 2):								
Loss from discontinued operations before income tax		(9)		(76)		(20)		(195)
Income tax benefit		2		25		7		66
Loss from discontinued operations		(7)		(51)		(13)		(129)
Net income	\$	229	\$	220	\$	335	\$	446
	_		_				_	

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Month June			ıded													
	2014 2013			2014 2013 201		2014		2014		2014		2014		2014		2014		2014		2014 20	
				(in mi		(in millions)															
Net income	\$	229	\$	220	\$	335	\$	446													
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:																					
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax, on:																					
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges		9		38		23		206													
Securities available-for-sale, not other-than temporarily impaired		_				_		(115)													
Other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities available-for-sale		_		_		_		(1)													
Pension and postretirement benefit plan adjustments, net of tax		_		1		_		1													
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax		_		9		_		(11)													
Other comprehensive income, net of tax		9		48		23		80													
Total comprehensive income	\$	238	\$	268	\$	358	\$	526													

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

	Jun	ne 30, 2014	Dec	cember 31, 2013
		(in mi except sh		
Assets		-		ŕ
Cash	\$	195	\$	175
Securities purchased under agreements to resell		5,643		6,924
Receivables, net (including \$3.5 billion and \$4.0 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, collateralizing long-term debt and net of credit loss reserves of \$2.7 billion and \$3.3 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively)		22,575		24,173
Receivables held for sale		1,874		2,047
Properties and equipment, net		66		68
Real estate owned		180		323
Deferred income taxes, net		2,449		2,580
Other assets		1,356		1,417
Assets of discontinued operations		88		165
Total assets		34,426	\$	37,872
Liabilities	—	34,420	Ψ	37,672
Debt:				
Due to affiliates (including \$517 million and \$496 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, carried at fair value)	\$	7,761	\$	8,742
Long-term debt (including \$7.3 billion and \$8.0 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, carried at fair value and \$1.8 billion and \$2.2 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, collateralized by receivables)		18,234		20,839
Total debt		25,995		29,581
Liability for postretirement benefits		226		228
Other liabilities		1,158		1,299
Liabilities of discontinued operations		95		103
Total liabilities		27,474		31,211
Shareholders' equity				
Redeemable preferred stock:				
Series B (1,501,100 shares authorized, \$0.01 par value, 575,000 shares issued and outstanding)		575		575
Series C (1,000 shares authorized, \$0.01 par value, 1,000 shares issued and outstanding)		1,000		1,000
Common shareholder's equity:				
Common stock (\$0.01 par value, 100 shares authorized; 68 shares issued at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013)		_		_
Additional paid-in-capital		23,963		23,968
Accumulated deficit		(18,501)		(18,774)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(85)		(108)
Total common shareholder's equity		5,377		5,086
Total shareholders' equity		6,952		6,661
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$	34,426	\$	37,872

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended June 30,		2013
	(in mi	llions)
Preferred stock		
Balance at beginning and end of period	\$ 1,575	\$ 1,575
Common shareholder's equity		
Common stock		
Balance at beginning and end of period		
Additional paid-in-capital		
Balance at beginning of period	23,968	23,974
Employee benefit plans, including transfers and other	(5)	(10)
Balance at end of period	23,963	23,964
Accumulated deficit		
Balance at beginning of period	(18,774)	(19,187)
Net income	335	446
Dividends on preferred stock	(62)	(62)
Balance at end of period	(18,501)	(18,803)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		
Balance at beginning of period	(108)	(257)
Other comprehensive income	23	80
Balance at end of period	(85)	(177)
Total common shareholder's equity at end of period	5,377	4,984
Total shareholders' equity at end of period	\$ 6,952	\$ 6,559

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended June 30,	2014	2013
	(in mi	llions)
Cash flows from operating activities		
Net income	•	·
Loss from discontinued operations.		(129)
Income from continuing operations	348	575
Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash used in operating activities:		
Provision for credit losses	(195)	291
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables held for sale	(208)	(826)
(Gain) loss on sale of real estate owned, including lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments.	(12)	5
Depreciation and amortization	4	3
Mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives	63	33
Foreign exchange and derivative movements on long-term debt and net change in non-fair value option related derivative assets and liabilities	(79)	(463)
Net change in other assets	193	622
Net change in other liabilities	(143)	75
Other, net	` /	49
Cash provided by operating activities – continuing operations	21	364
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities – discontinued operations	55	(75)
Cash provided by operating activities	76	289
Cash flows from investing activities		
Net change in short-term securities available-for-sale	_	80
Net change in securities purchased under agreements to resell	1,280	(3,182)
Net change in interest bearing deposits with banks	_	937
Receivables:		
Net collections	1,013	1,501
Proceeds from sales of receivables	950	3,193
Proceeds from sales of real estate owned	309	296
Purchases of properties and equipment	_	(4)
Cash provided by investing activities – continuing operations		2,821
Cash provided by investing activities – discontinued operations		215
Cash provided by investing activities		3,036

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (Continued)

Six Months Ended June 30,	2014		2013
	(in mi	llion	s)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Debt:			
Net change in due to affiliates	(1,001)		(802)
Long-term debt retired	(2,545)		(2,574)
Shareholders' dividends	(62)		(62)
Cash used in financing activities – continuing operations	(3,608)		(3,438)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities – discontinued operations	_		
Cash used in financing activities	(3,608)		(3,438)
Net change in cash	20		(113)
Cash at beginning of period ⁽¹⁾	198		397
Cash at end of period ⁽²⁾	\$ 218	\$	284
Supplemental Noncash Investing and Capital Activities:			
Fair value of properties added to real estate owned	\$ 155	\$	376
Transfer of receivables to held for sale	534		1,537

⁽¹⁾ Cash at beginning of period includes \$23 million and \$200 million for discontinued operations as of January 1, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

⁽²⁾ Cash at end of period includes \$23 million and \$23 million for discontinued operations as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note		Page	Note	Page
1	Organization and Basis of Presentation	9	9 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	28
2	Discontinued Operations	9	10 Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit	s 31
3	Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell	11	11 Related Party Transactions	32
4	Receivables	11	12 Business Segments	34
5	Credit Loss Reserves	17	13 Variable Interest Entities	36
6	Receivables Held for Sale	18	14 Fair Value Measurements	37
7	Fair Value Option	22	15 Litigation and Regulatory Matters	43
8	Derivative Financial Instruments	23	16 New Accounting Pronouncements	44

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

HSBC Finance Corporation is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America"), which is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC Finance Corporation and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have been made. HSBC Finance Corporation and its subsidiaries may also be referred to in this Form 10-Q as "we," "us" or "our." These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "2013 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that we will continue as a going concern. Such assertion contemplates the significant losses recognized in recent years and the challenges we anticipate with respect to a sustained return to profitability on a continuing operations basis under prevailing and forecasted economic conditions. HSBC continues to be fully committed and has the capacity to continue to provide the necessary capital and liquidity to fund continuing operations.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Unless otherwise noted, information included in these notes to the consolidated financial statements relates to continuing operations for all periods presented. See Note 2, "Discontinued Operations," for further details. Interim results should not be considered indicative of results in future periods.

2. Discontinued Operations

2012 Discontinued Operations:

Insurance On March 29, 2013, we sold our interest in substantially all of our insurance subsidiaries to Enstar for \$153 million in cash and recorded a gain at sale of \$21 million (\$13 million after-tax), which is reflected in the table below. There were no assets or liabilities in our discontinued Insurance operations at either June 30, 2014 or December 31, 2013. The following table summarizes the operating results of our discontinued Insurance business for the periods presented:

	Tl	hree Moi Jun	nths l e 30,	Ended	Six Months F June 30			ded		
	2	2014	2013		2013 20		2014		20)13
				(in mill	ions)					
Net interest income and other revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$	_	\$	(2)	\$	_	\$	70		
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income tax		_		(7)		_		6		

⁽¹⁾ Interest expense, which is included as a component of net interest income, was allocated to discontinued operations in accordance with our existing internal transfer pricing policy. This policy uses match funding based on the expected lives of the assets and liabilities of the business at the time of origination, subject to periodic review, as demonstrated by the expected cash flows and re-pricing characteristics of the underlying assets.

Commercial In the second quarter of 2012, we began reporting our Commercial business in discontinued operations as there were no longer any outstanding receivable balances or any remaining significant cash flows generated from this business. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, assets of our Commercial business totaled \$64 million and \$63 million, respectively. Liabilities of our Commercial business totaled \$1 million at December 31, 2013. There were no liabilities in our Commercial business at June 30, 2014. The following table summarizes the operating results of our discontinued Commercial business for the periods presented:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Si	ded		
	2014		2	013	2014		4 201	
				(in mi	illions)			
Net interest income and other revenues	\$	4	\$	7	\$	6	\$	8
Income from discontinued operations before income tax		3		3		4		4

2011 Discontinued Operations:

Card and Retail Services On May 1, 2012, HSBC, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries HSBC Finance Corporation, HSBC USA Inc. and other wholly-owned affiliates, sold its Card and Retail Services business to Capital One Financial Corporation ("Capital One"). In addition to receivables, the sale included real estate and certain other assets and liabilities which were sold at book value or, in the case of real estate, appraised value. Under the terms of the agreement, interests in facilities in Chesapeake, Virginia; Las Vegas, Nevada; Mettawa, Illinois; Volo, Illinois; Hanover, Maryland; Salinas, California; Sioux Falls, South Dakota and Tigard, Oregon were sold or transferred to Capital One, although we entered into site-sharing arrangements for certain of these locations for a period of time. Our Card and Retail Services business is reported in discontinued operations.

The following table summarizes the operating results of our discontinued Card and Retail Services business for the periods presented:

	Thi				Six Months June 30			ıded
	20	14	2	013	2	014	- 2	2013
				(in mi	illions))		
Net interest income and other revenues	\$	_	\$		\$	_	\$	
Loss from discontinued operations before income tax ⁽¹⁾		(12)		(72)		(24)		(205)

⁽¹⁾ For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, the amounts include expenses related to activities to complete the separation of the credit card operational infrastructure between us and Capital One. We expect costs associated with the separation of the credit card operational infrastructure to continue through the remainder of 2014. Additionally, the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 includes an incremental expense of \$7 million and the six months ended June 30, 2013 includes an incremental expense of \$100 million recorded based on actions taken and actions planned to be taken in connection with an industry review of enhancement services products.

Assets and liabilities of our discontinued Card and Retail Services business, which are reported as a component of Assets of discontinued operations and Liabilities of discontinued operations in our consolidated balance sheet, consisted of the following:

	June 30,	2014		nber 31, 013
		(in mi	llions)	
Cash	\$	21	\$	23
Other assets ⁽¹⁾		3		79
Assets of discontinued operations	\$	24	\$	102
Other liabilities ⁽²⁾	\$	95	\$	102
Liabilities of discontinued operations	\$	95	\$	102

⁽¹⁾ At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, other assets primarily consists of current and deferred taxes.

3. Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

Securities purchased under agreements to resell ("Resale Agreements") are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are carried on our balance sheet at the amount advanced plus accrued interest with a balance of \$5.6 billion and \$6.9 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, all of which were purchased from HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI"). The collateral subject to the Resale Agreements consists of investment-grade securities, and we obtain collateral with a market value in excess of the amount advanced. Collateral is valued daily and additional collateral is obtained or released when appropriate.

4. Receivables

Receivables consisted of the following:

	Jui	ne 30, 2014	Dec	cember 31, 2013
		(in mi	lions)
Real estate secured:				
First lien	\$	21,682	\$	23,568
Second lien		2,791		3,016
Total real estate secured receivables		24,473		26,584
Accrued interest income and other		794		862
Credit loss reserve for receivables		(2,692)		(3,273)
Total receivables, net	\$	22,575	\$	24,173

Deferred origination fees, net of costs, totaled \$170 million and \$183 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, and are included in the receivable balance. Net unamortized premium on our receivables totaled \$89 million and \$102 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

Collateralized funding transactions Secured financings previously issued under public trusts with a balance of \$1,835 million at June 30, 2014 are secured by \$3,495 million of closed-end real estate secured receivables. Secured financings previously issued under public trusts with a balance of \$2,200 million at December 31, 2013 were secured by \$4,020 million of closed-end real estate secured receivables.

Age Analysis of Past Due Receivables The following tables summarize the past due status of our receivables at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. The aging of past due amounts is determined based on the contractual delinquency status of payments made under the receivable. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been made in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices such as re-aging.

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, other liabilities primarily consists of certain legal accruals.

		Pas	t Due	;	- Total Past Due		Total		Total					Total
June 30, 2014	30 -	- 89 days	9	0+ days			Current(1)		Rec	ceivables ⁽²⁾				
					(in	millions)								
Real estate secured:														
First lien	\$	1,626	\$	1,069	\$	2,695	\$	18,987	\$	21,682				
Second lien		175		105		280		2,511		2,791				
Total real estate secured receivables	\$	1,801	\$	1,174	\$	2,975	\$	21,498	\$	24,473				
			_				_							
		Past	Due			Total				Total				
December 31, 2013	30 -	Past - 89 days)+ days		Total ast Due	C	Current ⁽¹⁾	Re	Total ceivables ⁽²⁾				
December 31, 2013	30 -)+ days	Pa		C	Current ⁽¹⁾	Re					
December 31, 2013 Real estate secured:	30 -)+ days	Pa	ast Due	C	Current ⁽¹⁾	Re					
				0+ days	Pa	ast Due	\$	19,568						
Real estate secured:		- 89 days	90		(in	millions)				ceivables ⁽²⁾				

⁽¹⁾ Receivables less than 30 days past due are presented as current.

Nonaccrual receivables Nonaccrual consumer receivables and nonaccrual receivables held for sale are all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as second lien loans (regardless of delinquency status) where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent. Nonaccrual receivables do not include receivables which have made qualifying payments and have been re-aged such that the contractual delinquency status has been reset to current. If a reaged loan subsequently experiences payment default and becomes 90 or more days contractually delinquent, it will be reported as nonaccrual. Nonaccrual receivables and nonaccrual receivables held for sale consisted of the following:

	June	30, 2014		ember 31, 2013
		(in m	illions)	
Nonaccrual receivable portfolios:				
Real estate secured ⁽¹⁾	\$	1,195	\$	1,769
Receivables held for sale ⁽²⁾		1,059		1,422
Total nonaccrual receivables ⁽³⁾	\$	2,254	\$	3,191

⁽¹⁾ At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, nonaccrual real estate secured receivables held for investment include \$519 million and \$639 million, respectively, of receivables that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

The following table provides additional information on our total nonaccrual receivables:

Six Months Ended June 30,	2	2014	2	013
		(in mi	llions)	
Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual receivable had been current in accordance with contractual terms during the period	\$	176	\$	405
Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual receivables included in interest income on nonaccrual loans during the period.		31		55

⁽²⁾ The receivable balances included in this table reflects the principal amount outstanding on the loan and certain basis adjustments to the loan such as deferred fees and costs on originated loans, purchase accounting fair value adjustments and premiums or discounts on purchased loans. However, these basis adjustments on the loans are excluded in other presentations of dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and nonperforming receivable account balances.

⁽²⁾ For a discussion of the movements between the components of nonaccrual receivables, see Note 6, "Receivables Held for Sale," which includes discussion of the formal program introduced in the second quarter of 2013 to transfer receivables (meeting pre-determined criteria) to held for sale when the receivable is written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies.

⁽³⁾ Nonaccrual receivables do not include receivables totaling \$1,146 million and \$953 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, which have been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which are less than 90 days contractually delinquent and not accruing interest.

Troubled Debt Restructurings Troubled debt restructurings ("TDR Loans") represent receivables for which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide for terms that are at less than a market rate of interest for new receivables because of deterioration in the borrower's financial status.

Modifications for real estate secured and personal non-credit card receivables may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited to, a change in interest rate, an extension of the amortization period, a reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment of principal. A substantial amount of our modifications involve interest rate reductions which lower the amount of interest income we are contractually entitled to receive for a period of time in future periods. By lowering the interest rate and making other changes to the loan terms, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately be collected from the loan, given the borrower's financial condition. Re-aging is an account management action that results in the resetting of the contractual delinquency status of an account to current which generally requires the receipt of two qualifying payments. TDR Loans are reserved for based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans' original effective interest rate which generally results in a higher reserve requirement for these loans. The portion of the credit loss reserves on TDR Loans that is associated with the discounting of cash flows is released from credit loss reserves over the life of the TDR Loan.

The following table presents information about receivables and receivables held for sale which as a result of any account management action taken during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 became classified as TDR Loans.

ths En	nded
- :	2013
\$	790
	94
	198
	1,082
	28
\$	1,110
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- - -

⁽¹⁾ As discussed more fully in Note 7, "Receivables Held for Sale," in our 2013 Form 10-K, we sold our personal non-credit card receivable portfolio on April 1, 2013.

⁽²⁾ The following table summarizes the actions taken during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 which resulted in the above receivables being classified as a TDR Loan.

	Tł	ree Moi Jun	Ended	S	Six Mont June		nded
	- 2	2014	2013	013 2		2	2013
			(in mi	illions	s)		
Interest rate modification.	\$	80	\$ 173	\$	324	\$	392
Re-age of past due account		137	362		165		718
Total	\$	217	\$ 535	\$	489	\$	1,110

Receivables and receivables held for sale reported as TDR Loans consisted of the following:

	Jur	ne 30, 2014	December 31, 2013		
		(in mi	llions	s)	
TDR Loans: (1)(2)					
Real estate secured:					
First lien ⁽⁴⁾	\$	10,100	\$	10,633	
Second lien ⁽⁴⁾		967		1,047	
Real estate secured receivables held for sale ⁽³⁾		1,300		1,392	
Total real estate secured TDR Loans	\$	12,367	\$	13,072	
Credit loss reserves for TDR Loans: (5)					
Real estate secured:					
First lien	\$	1,980	\$	2,294	
Second lien		318		360	
Total credit loss reserves for real estate secured TDR Loans ⁽³⁾	\$	2,298	\$	2,654	

⁽¹⁾ TDR Loans are considered to be impaired loans regardless of accrual status.

The TDR Loan balances included in the table above reflect the current carrying amount of TDR Loans and includes all basis adjustments on the loan, such as unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated loans and premiums or discounts on purchased loans as well as any charge-off recorded in accordance with our existing charge-off policies. Additionally, the carrying amount of TDR Loans classified as held for sale has been reduced by both the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment as well as the credit loss reserves associated with these receivables prior to the transfer. The following table reflects the unpaid principal balance of TDR Loans:

	Jun	e 30, 2014	Dec	cember 31, 2013
		(in m	illions	s)
Real estate secured:				
First lien	\$	10,419	\$	10,983
Second lien		1,105		1,188
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		2,031		2,587
Total real estate secured TDR Loans	\$	13,555	\$	14,758

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the unpaid principal balances reflected above include \$329 million and \$92 million, respectively, which has received a reduction in the unpaid principal balance as part of an account management action.

There are no credit loss reserves associated with receivables classified as held for sale as they are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

⁴⁾ At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, TDR Loans held for investment totaling \$544 million and \$604 million, respectively, are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

⁽⁵⁾ Included in credit loss reserves.

The following table discloses receivables and receivables held for sale which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which subsequently became sixty days or greater contractually delinquent during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

	Three Months Ended June 30,				1		ths Ended e 30,		
	2	2014		2013	2014		- 2	2013	
				(in mi	llions)			
Real estate secured:									
First lien	\$	94	\$	83	\$	236	\$	391	
Second lien		14		28		31		64	
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		7		207		23		239	
Total real estate secured		115		318		290		694	
Personal non-credit card receivables held for sale ⁽¹⁾		_				_		21	
Total	\$	115	\$	318	\$	290	\$	715	

⁽¹⁾ As discussed more fully in Note 7, "Receivables Held for Sale," in our 2013 Form 10-K, we sold our personal non-credit card receivable portfolio on April 1, 2013.

The following table provides additional information relating to TDR Loans, including TDR Loans held for sale:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Mont Jun	
		2014		2013	2014		2013
				(in mi	llior	1s)	
Average balance of TDR Loans:							
Real estate secured:							
First lien	\$	11,722	\$	14,784	\$	11,856	\$ 14,755
Second lien		985		1,159		1,010	1,175
Total average balance of TDR Loans	\$	12,707	\$	15,943	\$	12,866	\$ 15,930
Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:	_						
Real estate secured:							
First lien	\$	200	\$	243	\$	406	\$ 485
Second lien		24		28		49	56
Total real estate secured		224		271		455	541
Personal non-credit card							40
Total interest income recognized on TDR Loans	\$	224	\$	271	\$	455	\$ 581

Consumer Receivable Credit Quality Indicators Credit quality indicators used for consumer receivables include a loan's delinquency status, whether the loan is performing and whether the loan is a TDR Loan.

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total receivables and receivables held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our loan portfolio:

		June 3	0, 2014		December	r 31, 2013	
	Dollars of Delinquency		Delinquency Ratio		ollars of inquency	Delinquency Ratio	
			(dollars are	in m	illions)		
Real estate secured:							
First lien	\$	1,565	7.22%	\$	2,387	10.13%	
Second lien		161	5.77		275	9.12	
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		1,094	58.38		1,473	71.96	
Total real estate secured.	\$	2,820	10.70%	\$	4,135	14.44%	

Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of receivables and receivables held for sale:

	Ad	ccruing Loans	Nonaccrual Loans ⁽³⁾	Total							
	'	(in millions)									
At June 30, 2014											
Real estate secured ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	\$	23,278	\$ 1,195	\$ 24,473							
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		815	1,059	1,874							
Total	§	24,093	\$ 2,254	\$ 26,347							
At December 31, 2013	=										
Real estate secured ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	\$	24,815	\$ 1,769	\$ 26,584							
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		625	1,422	2,047							
Total		25,440	\$ 3,191	\$ 28,631							
	_										

⁽¹⁾ At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, nonaccrual real estate secured receivables held for investment include \$519 million and \$639 million, respectively, of receivables that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of TDR Loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

⁽²⁾ At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, nonaccrual real estate secured receivables held for investment include \$852 million and \$1,245 million, respectively, of TDR Loans, some of which may also be carried at fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

⁽³⁾ Nonaccrual loans do not include receivables totaling \$1,146 million and \$953 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, which have been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which are less than 90 days contractually delinquent and not accruing interest.

5. Credit Loss Reserves

The following table summarizes the changes in credit loss reserves by product/class and the related receivable balance by product during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

		Real Esta	te Sec	ured	Personal Non-Credit Card			
	Fi	rst Lien	Sec	ond Lien				Total
				(in mi	llions)		
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014:								
Credit loss reserve balances at beginning of period	\$	2,526	\$	471	\$	_	\$	2,997
Provision for credit losses		(115)		(69)		(13)		(197)
Net charge-offs:								
Charge-offs ⁽²⁾		(143)		(52)		_		(195)
Recoveries		28		46		13		87
Total net charge-offs		(115)		(6)		13		(108)
Credit loss reserve balance at end of period	\$	2,296	\$	396	\$		\$	2,692
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014:								
Credit loss reserve balance at beginning of period	\$	2,777	\$	496	\$	_	\$	3,273
Provision for credit losses		(139)		(39)		(17)		(195)
Net charge-offs:								
Charge-offs ⁽²⁾		(391)		(115)		_		(506)
Recoveries		49		54		17		120
Total net charge-offs		(342)		(61)		17		(386)
Credit loss reserve balance at end of period	\$	2,296	\$	396	\$	_	\$	2,692
Reserve components:								
Collectively evaluated for impairment	\$	299	\$	77	\$	_	\$	376
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽¹⁾		1,946		318		_		2,264
Receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell		49		_		_		49
Receivables acquired with deteriorated credit quality		2		1		_		3
Total credit loss reserves	\$	2,296	\$	396	\$		\$	2,692
Receivables:								
Collectively evaluated for impairment	\$	11,279	\$	1,810	\$	_	\$	13,089
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽¹⁾		9,575		948		_		10,523
Receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell		819		31		_		850
Receivables acquired with deteriorated credit quality		9		2		_		11
Total receivables		21,682	\$	2,791	\$		\$	24,473
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013:	÷	,	_		_		Ė	
Credit loss reserve balances at beginning of period	\$	3,619	\$	694	\$	_	\$	4,313
Provision for credit losses		250		22		(5)		267
Net charge-offs:						(-)		
Charge-offs ⁽²⁾		(437)		(90)		_		(527)
Recoveries		31		9		5		45
Total net charge-offs		(406)		(81)		5	_	(482)
Credit loss reserve balance at end of period		3,463	\$	635	\$		\$	4,098
	Ψ	2,103	Ψ		Ψ		Ψ	-,,,,,,

		Real Estat	e Sec	ured	- Personal Non- Credit Card			
	Fi	rst Lien	Sec	ond Lien				Total
				(in mi	llions)			
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013:								
Credit loss reserve balance at beginning of period	\$	3,867	\$	740	\$	_	\$	4,607
Provision for credit losses		266		62		(37)		291
Net charge-offs:								
Charge-offs ⁽²⁾		(738)		(188)		_		(926)
Recoveries		60		21		37		118
Total net charge-offs		(678)		(167)		37		(808)
Other		8		_		_		8
Credit loss reserve balance at end of period	\$	3,463	\$	635	\$		\$	4,098
Reserve components:								
Collectively evaluated for impairment	\$	624	\$	176	\$	_	\$	800
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽¹⁾		2,775		458				3,233
Receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell		62		1		_		63
Receivables acquired with deteriorated credit quality		2		_				2
Total credit loss reserves	\$	3,463	\$	635	\$		\$	4,098
Receivables:								
Collectively evaluated for impairment	\$	14,300	\$	2,166	\$	_	\$	16,466
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽¹⁾		10,667		1,098		_		11,765
Receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell		823		48		_		871
Receivables acquired with deteriorated credit quality		8		2				10
Total receivables	\$	25,798	\$	3,314	\$	_	\$	29,112

These amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow methodology. Each loan is individually identified as a TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted cash flow impairment analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. The receivable balance above excludes TDR Loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled \$544 million and \$726 million at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The reserve component above excludes credit loss reserves for TDR Loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled \$34 million and \$51 million at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These credit loss reserves are reflected within receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in the table above.

6. Receivables Held for Sale

Real Estate Secured Receivables Real estate secured receivables held for sale which are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value totaled \$1,874 million and \$2,047 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

As discussed in prior filings, during the second quarter of 2013, we adopted a formal program to initiate sale activities for first lien real estate secured receivables in our held for investment portfolio when a receivable meeting pre-determined criteria is written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies (generally 180 days past due). During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred real estate secured receivables to held for sale with an unpaid principal balance of approximately \$430 million and \$869 million, respectively, at the time of transfer. The net realizable value (carrying value) of these receivables prior to transfer after considering the fair value of the property less cost to sell was approximately \$332 million and \$674 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. As we plan to sell these receivables to third party investors, fair value represents the price we believe a third party investor would pay to acquire the receivable portfolios. A third party investor would incorporate a number of assumptions in predicting future

For collateral dependent receivables that are transferred to held for sale, existing credit loss reserves at the time of transfer are recognized as a charge-off. We transferred to held for sale certain real estate secured receivables during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 that were carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell. Accordingly, we recognized the existing credit loss reserves on these receivables as additional charge-off totaling \$18 million and \$38 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared with \$119 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013.

cash flows, such as differences in overall cost of capital assumptions, which may result in a lower estimate of fair value for the cash flows associated with the receivables. Accordingly, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 we recorded as a component of total other revenues in the consolidated statement of income, a lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment of \$42 million and \$102 million, respectively, associated with the newly transferred loans, all of which was attributable to non-credit related factors as these receivables were already carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we transferred real estate secured receivables to held for sale with an unpaid principal balance of approximately \$2,604 million at the time of transfer. The net realizable value (carrying value) of these receivables prior to transfer after considering the fair value of the property less cost to sell was approximately \$1,755 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. As discussed above, the price a third party investor may be willing to pay for these receivables may differ than our estimate of value for receivables we intend to hold for investment purposes. Accordingly, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we recorded a lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment of \$99 million associated with these transferred loans, all of which was attributable to non-credit related factors as these receivables were already carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and was recorded as a component of total other revenues in the consolidated statement of income.

We expect that receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 will be sold in multiple transactions generally over the next 15 months or, if the foreclosure process is completed prior to sale, the underlying properties acquired in satisfaction of the receivables will be classified as real estate owned ("REO") and sold. As we continue to work with borrowers, we may also agree to a short sale whereby the property is sold by the borrower at a price which has been pre-negotiated with us and the borrower is released from further obligation. Accordingly, based on the projected timing of loan sales and the expected flow of foreclosure volume into REO over the next 15 months, a portion of the real estate secured receivables classified as held for sale will ultimately become REO. This estimate of fair value is highly dependent upon the timing and size of future receivable sales as well as the volume and timelines associated with foreclosure activity. The following table summarizes the activity of real estate secured receivables either transferred to REO or sold in a short sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

	Three Months Ended June 30,				\$	Six Mont Jun	ths Ei e 30,	nded
	20	14	:	2013		2014		2013
				(in mi	llions	s)		
Carrying value of real estate secured receivables:								
Transferred to REO after obtaining title to the underlying collateral	\$	47	\$	118	\$	117	\$	230
Short sales		20		53		31		88
Impact to lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded resulting from the transfer to REO or short sales:								
Transferred to REO after obtaining title to the underlying collateral		(2)		(16)		2		(49)
Short Sales				(2)		1		(11)

Personal Non-Credit Card Receivables On April 1, 2013, we completed the sale of our personal non-credit card receivable portfolio with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of \$3,760 million (aggregate carrying value of \$2,947 million) at March 31, 2013 to trusts for which affiliates of Springleaf Finance, Inc. ("Springleaf"), Newcastle Investment Corp. and Blackstone Tactical Opportunities Advisors L.L.C. are the sole beneficiaries (collectively, the "Purchasers"). Total cash consideration received was \$2,964 million. During the second quarter of 2013, we recorded a loss on sale of \$11 million primarily related to transaction fees. On September 1, 2013, we completed the sale of a loan servicing facility and related assets located in London, Kentucky (the "Facility") to Springleaf and recognized an immaterial gain on sale of the Facility during the third quarter of 2013. Additionally, on September 1, 2013 the personal non-credit card receivables were converted onto the Purchasers' system and we transferred to the Purchasers over 200 employees who had performed servicing activities for these and other receivables. Prior to the conversion of these receivable to the Purchaser's systems, we serviced these personal non-credit card receivables for the Purchasers for a fee. Servicing fee revenues recorded for servicing these personal non-credit card receivables during the three months ended June 30, 2013 totaled \$12 million.

Receivable Held for Sale Activity During the Period The following table summarizes the activity in receivables held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014:

		2014
	(in	millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014:		
Real estate secured receivables held for sale at beginning of period	\$	2,420
Real estate secured receivables sold		(884)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on real estate secured receivables held for sale		139
Carrying value of real estate secured receivables held for sale settled through short sale or transfer to REO		(67)
Change in real estate secured receivable balance, including collections		(6)
Transfer of real estate secured receivables into held for sale at the lower of amortized cost or fair value ⁽²⁾		272
Real estate secured receivables held for sale at end of period ⁽³⁾	\$	1,874
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014:		
Real estate secured receivables held for sale at beginning of period	\$	2,047
Real estate secured receivables sold		(884)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on real estate secured receivables held for sale		310
Carrying value of real estate secured receivables held for sale settled through short sale or transfer to REO		(148)
Change in real estate secured receivable balance, including collections		23
Transfer of real estate secured receivables into held for investment at the lower of amortized cost or fair value ⁽¹⁾		(8)
Transfer of real estate secured receivables into held for sale at the lower of amortized cost or fair value ⁽²⁾		534
Real estate secured receivables held for sale at end of period ⁽³⁾	\$	1,874

During the first quarter of 2014, we identified a small pool of receivables held for sale which did not meet our criteria to be classified as held for sale. As a result we transferred these receivables to held for investment at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

⁽³⁾ The following table provides a rollforward of our valuation allowance for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. The valuation allowance has been reduced to zero as the fair value of receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 exceeds the carrying value as these receivables are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. See Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," for a discussion of the factors impacting the fair value of these receivables.

	 Ionths Ended e 30, 2014		nths Ended 30, 2014
	(in mi	llions)	
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 165	\$	329
Initial valuation allowance for real estate secured receivables transferred to held for sale during the period	42		102
Release of valuation allowance resulting from improvements in fair value	(139)		(310)
Valuation allowance on real estate secured receivables transferred to held for investment	_		(4)
Change in valuation allowance for collections, loans sold, charged-off, transferred to REO or short sale	(68)		(117)
Balance at end of period	\$ 	\$	

⁽²⁾ The lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables transferred into held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 totaled \$42 million and \$102 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the components of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded in other revenues during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

		Lower of A Adjus	^y alue			
	Fai	ir Value	REO	Sho	rt Sales	Total
			(in mi	llions)		
(Income)/Expense:						
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014:						
Initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment	\$	42	\$ _	\$		\$ 42
Subsequent to initial transfer to held for sale		(137)	(2)			(139)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded through other revenues	\$	(95)	\$ (2)	\$		\$ (97)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013:						
Initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment	\$	99	\$ 	\$		\$ 99
Subsequent to initial transfer to held for sale		(453)	(16)		(2)	(471)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded through other revenues	\$	(354)	\$ (16)	\$	(2)	\$ (372)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014:						
Initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment	\$	102	\$ _	\$		\$ 102
Subsequent to initial transfer to held for sale		(313)	2		1	(310)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded through other revenues	\$	(211)	\$ 2	\$	1	\$ (208)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013:						
Initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment	\$	99	\$ _	\$		\$ 99
Subsequent to initial transfer to held for sale		(865)	(49)		(11)	 (925)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded through other revenues	\$	(766)	\$ (49)	\$	(11)	\$ (826)

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we reversed \$137 million and \$313 million, respectively, of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded primarily due to an increase in the relative fair value of the real estate secured receivables held for sale as conditions in the housing industry have continued to show improvement in the first half of 2014 due to modest improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased investor demand for these types of receivables.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we reversed \$453 million and \$947 million of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded primarily due to an increase in the relative fair value of the real estate secured receivables held for sale during 2013 largely due to improved conditions in the housing industry. During the first quarter of 2013, the fair value of the personal non-credit card receivables held for sale decreased by \$82 million, reflecting the excess of the interest and fee income on the loans over the fees received from the Purchasers as the sale agreement called for interest and fees on the loans to pass to the Purchasers after December 31, 2012 in return for a cost of carry and servicing fee to be paid to the seller.

7. Fair Value Option

We have elected to apply fair value option ("FVO") reporting to certain of our fixed rate debt issuances which also qualify for FVO reporting under International Financial Reporting Standards. The following table summarizes fixed rate debt issuances accounted for under FVO:

	Jun	e 30, 2014	Dec	ember 31, 2013
		(in mi	llions)
Fixed rate debt accounted for under FVO reported in:				
Long-term debt	\$	7,288	\$	8,025
Due to affiliates		517		496
Total fixed rate debt accounted for under FVO	\$	7,805	\$	8,521
Unpaid principal balance of fixed rate debt accounted for under FVO ⁽¹⁾	\$	7,264	\$	7,942
Fixed rate long-term debt not accounted for under FVO	\$	6,822	\$	7,083

⁽¹⁾ Balance includes a foreign currency translation adjustment relating to our foreign denominated FVO debt which increased the debt balance by \$230 million and \$245 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

We determine the fair value of the fixed rate debt accounted for under FVO through the use of a third party pricing service. Such fair value represents the full market price (including credit and interest rate impacts) based on observable market data for the same or similar debt instruments. See Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," for a description of the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of our fixed rate debt accounted for under FVO.

The following table summarizes the components of the gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

	Th	ree Moi Jun	nths le 30,	Ended		Six Mont June	nded
	20	014	2013		2014		2013
				(in mi	llions	s)	
Mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value ⁽¹⁾ :							
Interest rate component	\$	28	\$	119	\$	64	\$ 205
Credit risk component		(9)	23		(25)		(18)
Total mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value		19		142	39		187
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives ⁽¹⁾		(45)		(107)		(102)	(220)
Net realized gains on the related derivatives.		68		84		136	168
Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives	\$	42	\$	119	\$	73	\$ 135

Mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives excludes market value changes due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Foreign currency translation gains (losses) recorded in derivative related income (expense) associated with debt designated at fair value was a gain of \$17 million and a loss of \$29 million during the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and a gain of \$15 million and a gain of \$81 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Offsetting gains (losses) recorded in derivative related income (expense) associated with the related derivatives was a loss of \$17 million and a gain of \$29 million during the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and a loss of \$15 million and a loss of \$81 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The movement in the fair value reflected in gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives includes the effect of our own credit spread changes and interest rate changes, including any economic ineffectiveness in the relationship between the related derivatives and our debt and any realized gains or losses on those derivatives. With respect to the credit component, as our credit spreads narrow accounting losses are booked and the reverse is true if credit spreads widen. Differences arise between the movement in the fair value of our debt and the fair value of the related derivative due to the different credit characteristics and differences in the calculation of fair value for debt and derivatives. The size and direction of the accounting consequences of such changes can be volatile from period to period but do not alter the cash flows intended as part of the documented interest rate management strategy. On a cumulative basis, we have recorded fair value option adjustments which increased the value of our debt by \$542 million and \$581 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

The change in the fair value of the debt and the change in value of the related derivatives during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 reflects the following:

- Interest rate curve During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, changes in market movements on certain debt and related derivatives that mature in the near term resulted in a gain in the interest rate component on the mark-to-market of the debt and a loss on the mark-to-market of the related derivative. As these items near maturity, their values are less sensitive to interest rate movements. Rising long-term interest rates during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 resulted in a gain in the interest rate component on the mark-to-market of the debt and a loss on the mark-to-market of the related derivative in the year-ago period. Changes in the value of the interest rate component of the debt as compared with the related derivative are also affected by differences in cash flows and valuation methodologies for the debt and the derivatives. Cash flows on debt are discounted using a single discount rate from the bond yield curve for each bond's applicable maturity while derivative cash flows are discounted using rates at multiple points along an interest rate yield curve. The impacts of these differences vary as short-term and long-term interest rates shift and time passes. Furthermore, certain FVO debt no longer has any corresponding derivatives.
- Credit Our secondary market credit spreads tightened during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 on overall positive economic news. During the three months ended June 30, 2013, our secondary market credit spreads widened minimally; however, during the six months ended June 30, 2013, our credit spreads tightened on overall positive economic news.

Net income volatility, whether based on changes in the interest rate or credit risk components of the mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value and the related derivatives, impacts the comparability of our reported results between periods. Accordingly, gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives for the six months ended June 30, 2014 should not be considered indicative of the results for any future periods.

8. Derivative Financial Instruments

Our business activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Accordingly, we have comprehensive risk management policies to address potential financial risks, which include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, and operational risks. Our risk management policy is designed to identify and analyze these risks, to set appropriate limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and limits continually by means of reliable and up-to-date administrative and information systems. Our risk management policies are primarily carried out in accordance with practice and limits set by the HSBC Group Management Board. The HSBC North America Asset Liability Committee ("HSBC North America ALCO") meets regularly to review risks and approve appropriate risk management strategies within the limits established by the HSBC Group Management Board. Additionally, our Risk Management Committee receives regular reports on our interest rate and liquidity risk positions in relation to the established limits. In accordance with the policies and strategies established by HSBC North America ALCO, in the normal course of business, we enter into various transactions involving derivative financial instruments. These derivative financial instruments primarily are used as economic hedges to manage risk.

Objectives for Holding Derivative Financial Instruments Market risk (which includes interest rate and foreign currency exchange risks) is the possibility that a change in interest rates or foreign exchange rates will cause a financial instrument to decrease in value or become more costly to settle. Prior to our ceasing originations in our Consumer Lending business and ceasing loan purchase activities in our Mortgage Services business, customer demand for our loan products shifted between fixed rate and floating rate products, based on market conditions and preferences. These shifts in loan products resulted in different funding strategies and produced different interest rate risk exposures. Additionally, the mix of receivables on our balance sheet and the corresponding market risk is changing as we manage the liquidation of all of our receivable portfolios. We maintain an overall risk management strategy that utilizes interest rate and currency derivative financial instruments to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations caused by changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates related to our debt liabilities. We manage our exposure to interest rate risk primarily through the use of interest rate swaps with the main objective of managing the interest rate volatility due to a mismatch in the duration of our assets and liabilities. We manage our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk primarily through the use of cross currency interest rate swaps.

Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two counterparties for the exchange of periodic interest payments generally based on a notional principal amount and agreed-upon fixed or floating rates. The majority of our interest rate swaps are used to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates by converting floating rate debt to fixed rate or by converting fixed rate debt to floating rate. We have also entered into currency swaps to convert both principal and interest payments on debt issued from one currency to the appropriate functional currency.

We do not manage credit risk or the changes in fair value due to the changes in credit risk by entering into derivative financial instruments such as credit derivatives or credit default swaps.

Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures A control framework has been established which is designed to ensure that fair values are validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the measurement of fair values rests with the HSBC U.S. Valuation Committee. The HSBC U.S. Valuation Committee establishes policies and procedures to ensure appropriate valuations. Fair values for derivatives are measured by management using valuation techniques, valuation models and inputs that are developed, reviewed, validated and approved by the Quantitative Risk and Valuation Group of an HSBC affiliate. These valuation models utilize discounted cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The models used apply appropriate control processes and procedures to ensure that the derived inputs are used to value only those instruments that share similar risk to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors.

Credit Risk By utilizing derivative financial instruments, we are exposed to counterparty credit risk. Counterparty credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a transaction fails to perform according to the terms of the contract. We manage the counterparty credit (or repayment) risk in derivative instruments through established credit approvals, risk control limits, collateral, and ongoing monitoring procedures. We utilize an affiliate, HSBC Bank USA, National Association ("HSBC Bank USA") as the primary provider of derivative products. We have never suffered a loss due to counterparty failure.

At both June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, all of our existing derivative contracts are with HSBC subsidiaries, making them our sole counterparty in derivative transactions. Derivative agreements require that payments be made to, or received from, the counterparty when the fair value of the agreement reaches a certain level. When the fair value of our agreements with affiliate counterparties requires the posting of collateral, it is provided in either the form of cash and recorded on the balance sheet, consistent with third party arrangements, or in the form of securities which are not recorded on our balance sheet. The fair value of our agreements with affiliate counterparties required the affiliates to provide collateral to us of \$590 million and \$811 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, all of which was received in cash. These amounts are offset against the fair value amount recognized for derivative instruments that have been offset under the same master netting arrangement and recorded in our balance sheet as a component of derivative financial assets or derivative related liabilities. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had derivative contracts with a notional amount of \$14.0 billion and \$16.5 billion, respectively, all of which is outstanding with HSBC Bank USA. Derivative financial instruments are generally expressed in terms of notional principal or contract amounts which are much larger than the amounts potentially at risk for nonpayment by counterparties.

To manage our exposure to changes in interest rates, we entered into interest rate swap agreements and currency swaps which have been designated as cash flow hedges under derivative accounting principles, or are treated as non-qualifying hedges. We currently utilize the long-haul method to assess effectiveness of all derivatives designated as hedges.

The following table presents the fair value of derivative contracts by major product type on a gross basis. Gross fair values exclude the effects of both counterparty netting and collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet.

	June 30, 2014					December 31, 2013					
	Fir	rivative nancial assets	Fi	rivative nancial abilities	Fi	erivative inancial Assets	Derivative Financial Liabilities				
40				(in mi	llions	s)					
Derivatives ⁽¹⁾											
Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges											
Interest rate swaps	\$	12	\$	(108)	\$	16	\$	(138)			
Currency swaps		264		(10)		255		(28)			
Cash flow hedges		276		(118)		271		(166)			
Non-qualifying hedge activities											
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments											
Interest rate swaps		21		(303)		24		(171)			
Currency swaps		_						_			
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments		21		(303)		24		(171)			
Derivatives associated with debt carried at fair value											
Interest rate swaps		197				270		_			
Currency swaps		498				542		_			
Derivatives associated with debt carried at fair value		695				812					
Total derivatives		992		(421)		1,107		(337)			
Less: Gross amounts offset in the balance sheet ⁽²⁾		992		(421)		1,107		(337)			
Net amounts of derivative financial assets and liabilities presented in the balance sheet ⁽³⁾	\$		\$		\$		\$				

⁽¹⁾ All of our derivatives are bilateral over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives.

Fair Value Hedges In the first quarter of 2013, we terminated all of our active fair value hedge positions to better align our overall hedge position with our overall interest rate risk position, which had changed after the issuance of \$1.5 billion in fixed rate debt to HSBC USA Inc. in December 2012. Prior to the first quarter of 2013, fair value hedges included interest rate swaps to convert our fixed rate debt to variable rate debt and currency swaps to convert debt issued from one currency into U.S. dollar variable rate debt. We recorded fair value adjustments to the carrying value of our debt for fair value hedges which increased the debt balance by \$2 million and \$5 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, there were neither any gains or losses recorded on any derivatives or related hedged items in the consolidated statement of income as we terminated all of our active fair value hedge positions in the first quarter of 2013 as discussed above.

Cash Flow Hedges Cash flow hedges include interest rate swaps to convert our variable rate debt to fixed rate debt by fixing future interest rate resets of floating rate debt as well as currency swaps to convert debt issued from one currency into U.S. dollar fixed rate debt. Gains and losses on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges are reported in other comprehensive income (loss) ("OCI") net of tax and totaled a loss of \$74 million and \$97 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. We expect \$55 million (\$35 million after-tax) of currently unrealized net losses will be reclassified to earnings within

⁽²⁾ Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under an enforceable netting agreement. Gross amounts offset in the balance sheet includes cash collateral received as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 of \$590 million and \$811 million, respectively. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we did not have any financial instrument collateral received/posted.

⁽³⁾ At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had not received any cash or financial instruments not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement.

one year. However, these reclassified unrealized losses will be offset by decreased interest expense associated with the variable cash flows of the hedged items and will result in no significant net economic impact to our earnings.

The following table provides the gain or loss recorded on our cash flow hedging relationships.

	in A	(Loss) OCI or ffective	ı Deri		Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from AOCI into Income	Fro	ain (Loss om AOCI (Effective	into	Income	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on the Derivative	In I	ognized rivative rtion)		
	201	14	2	2013	(Effective Portion)	2	2014		2013	(Ineffective Portion)	20	014		2013
							(in mi	lions	5)					
Three Months Ended	June 3	0,												
Interest rate swaps	\$	8	\$	32	Interest expense	\$	1	\$	_	Derivative related income (expense)	\$	_	\$	_
Currency swaps		3		23	Interest expense		(4)		(3)	Derivative related income (expense)		3		5
Total	\$	11	\$	55		\$	(3)	\$	(3)		\$	3	\$	5
Six Months Ended Jur	1e 30,													
Interest rate swaps	\$	21	\$	74	Interest expense	\$	1	\$	(1)	Derivative related income (expense)	\$	_	\$	2
Currency swaps		7		38	Interest expense		(7)		(8)	Derivative related income (expense)		8		19
					Derivative loss recognized on termination of hedges		_		(199)					
Total	\$	28	\$	112		\$	(6)	\$	(208)		\$	8	\$	21
-														

Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities We have entered into interest rate and currency swaps which are not designated as hedges under derivative accounting principles. However, as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we no longer have any open currency swap positions. These financial instruments are economic hedges but do not qualify for hedge accounting and are primarily used to minimize our exposure to changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates through more closely matching both the structure and duration of our liabilities to the structure and duration of our assets.

The following table provides detail of the realized and unrealized gain or loss recorded on our non-qualifying hedges:

			Amo	unt of	Gain (Loss Related In		gnized in Dei Expense)	rivativ	ve
	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on	Thre	e Months l	Endec	June 30,	S	ix Months E	nded .	June 30,
	Derivative	- 2	2014 2013				2014		2013
					(in	million	s)		
Interest rate contracts	Derivative related income (expense)	\$	(93)	\$	181	\$	(188)	\$	264
Currency contracts	Derivative related income (expense)				(1)		_		(1)
Total		\$	(93)	\$	180	\$	(188)	\$	263

We have elected the fair value option for certain issuances of our fixed rate debt and have entered into interest rate and currency swaps related to debt carried at fair value. The interest rate and currency swaps associated with this debt are non-qualifying hedges but are considered economic hedges and realized gains and losses are reported as "Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives" within other revenues. The derivatives related to fair value option debt are included in the tables below.

The following table provides the gain or loss recorded on the derivatives related to fair value option debt primarily due to changes in interest rates. See Note 7, "Fair Value Option," for further discussion.

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Derivative Related Income (Expense)

					ciated inco	ine (LA	pensej		
	Location of Gain (Loss)	Th	ree Months	Ende	l June 30,	Six	Months E	nded .	June 30,
	Recognized in Income on Derivative		2014		2013		2014		2013
					(in mi	llions)			
Interest rate contracts	Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives	\$	5	\$	(6)	\$	8	\$	(7)
Currency contracts	Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives		18		(17)		26		(45)
Total		\$	23	\$	(23)	\$	34	\$	(52)

Notional Amount of Derivative Contracts The following table provides the notional amounts of derivative contracts.

	June	30, 2014	December 31, 2013		
		(in mil	lions)		
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:					
Interest rate swaps	\$	1,959	\$	3,256	
Currency swaps		2,248		2,277	
		4,207		5,533	
Non-qualifying hedges:					
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:					
Interest rate swaps		3,199		3,699	
Currency swaps					
		3,199		3,699	
Derivatives associated with debt carried at fair value:					
Interest rate swaps		3,682		4,343	
Currency swaps		2,892		2,892	
		6,574		7,235	
Total	§	13,980	\$	16,467	

The decrease in the notional amount of our derivative contracts at June 30, 2014 as compared with December 31, 2013 reflects maturities of approximately \$2.5 billion.

During the first quarter of 2013, we terminated \$1.0 billion of cash flow hedge positions. As discussed in previous filings, we have approximately \$1.0 billion of junior subordinated notes issued to an affiliate, HSBC Finance Capital Trust IX ("HFCT IX"). HFCT IX, which is a related but unconsolidated entity, issued trust preferred securities to third party investors to fund the purchase of the junior subordinated notes. In October 2013, U.S. Regulators published a final rule in the Federal Register implementing the Basel III capital framework under which the qualification of trust preferred securities as Tier I capital will be phased out. In anticipation of these changes as well as other recent changes in our assessment of cash flow needs, including long term funding considerations, in the first quarter of 2013 we terminated the associated cash flow hedges associated with these notes, which resulted in the reclassification to income of \$199 million of unrealized losses previously accumulated in other comprehensive income during the first quarter of 2013.

9. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCI") includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of shareholders' equity. The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss balances.

	2014	2	2013
	(in mi	lions)	
Three Months Ended June 30,			
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments:			
Balance at beginning of period	\$ (83)	\$	(190)
Other comprehensive income for period:			
Net gains arising during period, net of tax of \$4 million and \$19 million, respectively	7		36
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$1 million and \$1 million, respectively ⁽³⁾	2		2
Total other comprehensive income for period.	9		38
Balance at end of period	(74)		(152)
Pension and postretirement benefit plan liability:			
Balance at beginning of period	(11)		(26)
Other comprehensive income for period:			
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$-million, respectively ⁽²⁾	_		1
Total other comprehensive income for period.			1
Balance at end of period	(11)		(25)
Foreign currency translation adjustments:			
Balance at beginning of period			(9)
Other comprehensive income for period:			
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$-million, respectively ⁽³⁾	_		9
Total other comprehensive income for period			9
Balance at end of period			_
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of period	\$ (85)	\$	(177)
Six Months Ended June 30,			
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments:			
Balance at beginning of period.	\$ (97)	\$	(358)
Other comprehensive income for period:			
Net gains arising during period, net of tax of \$9 million and \$39 million, respectively	19		72
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$2 million and \$74 million, respectively ⁽³⁾	4		134
Total other comprehensive income for period.	23		206
Balance at end of period	(74)		(152)

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale, not other-than temporarily impaired: Balance at beginning of period.		2014	2013
Balance at beginning of period		(in mi	llions)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(62) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ . Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. Balance at end of period. Unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities available-for-sale: Balance at beginning of period. Cher comprehensive income (loss) for period: Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(1) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ . Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. Balance at end of period. Cher comprehensive income for period. Reclassification adjustment benefit plan liability: Balance at beginning of period. Cher comprehensive income for period: Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$-million, respectively ⁽²⁾ . Total other comprehensive income for period. Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$-million, respectively ⁽²⁾ . Total other comprehensive income for period. Translation losses, net of tax of \$-million and \$(1) million, respectively. Translation losses, net of tax of \$-million and \$(1) million, respectively. Acclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(9) million, respectively. Go (6) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. Cher cher cher cher cher cher cher cher c			
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(62) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ — (115) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (115) Balance at end of period. — 1 Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(1) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ — (1) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (1) Balance at the deprination adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(1) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ — (1) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (11) Balance at end of period. — (11) (26) Other comprehensive income for period: Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$-million, respectively ⁽²⁾ — 1 Total other comprehensive income for period. — 1 Balance at end of period. — (11) (25) Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period. — (11) (25) Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period. — (1) (25) Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period. — (1) (25) Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period. — (5) Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$-million and \$(9) million, respectively ⁽³⁾ — (6) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (11) Balance at end of period. — (11)		_	115
million, respectively(1) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. (115) Balance at end of period. — (115) Balance at beginning of period. — (1 Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively(1) Balance at end of period. — (1) Balance at beginning of period. — (1) Balance at beginning of period. — (11) Balance at end of period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (11) Balance at beginning of period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income for period: Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$- million, respectively(2) Balance at beginning of period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income for period. — 1 Balance at end of period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income for period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income for period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income for period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income (loss) for period: — (125) Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period. — (11) Cother comprehensive income (loss) for period: — (5) Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(9) million, respectively(3) — (6) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (11) Balance at end of period. — (11) Balance at end of period. — (11)	1		
Balance at end of period	Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(62) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾	_	(115)
Balance at beginning of period	Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period	_	(115)
Balance at beginning of period	Balance at end of period	_	
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ — (1) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — — (1) Balance at end of period. — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	Unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities available-for-sale:		
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾	Balance at beginning of period		1
million, respectively ⁽¹⁾ — (1) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — — (1) Balance at end of period. — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:		
Balance at end of period	Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively ⁽¹⁾	_	(1)
Pension and postretirement benefit plan liability: Balance at beginning of period	Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period		(1)
Balance at beginning of period	Balance at end of period		
Other comprehensive income for period: Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$- million, respectively (2)	Pension and postretirement benefit plan liability:		
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$- million, respectively ⁽²⁾	Balance at beginning of period	(11)	(26)
million, respectively ⁽²⁾ — 1 Total other comprehensive income for period. — 1 Balance at end of period. — (11) (25) Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period. — 11 Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: — 11 Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: — (5) Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(9) million, respectively. — (6) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period. — (11) Balance at end of period. — (11)	Other comprehensive income for period:		
Balance at end of period	Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$- million, respectively ⁽²⁾	_	1
Foreign currency translation adjustments: Balance at beginning of period	Total other comprehensive income for period.		1
Balance at beginning of period	Balance at end of period	(11)	(25)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period: Translation losses, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively	Foreign currency translation adjustments:		
Translation losses, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively	Balance at beginning of period	_	11
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(9) million, respectively ⁽³⁾	Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:		
million, respectively ⁽³⁾ — (6) Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period — (11) Balance at end of period — —	Translation losses, net of tax of \$- million and \$(1) million, respectively	_	(5)
Balance at end of period	Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of \$- million and \$(9) million, respectively ⁽³⁾	_	(6)
<u> </u>	Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period		(11)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of period	Balance at end of period		
	Total accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of period	\$ (85)	\$ (177)

The amounts reclassified during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are included in loss from discontinued operations in our consolidated statement of income.

⁽²⁾ The amounts reclassified during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 are included as a component of salaries and employee benefits in our consolidated statement of income.

⁽³⁾ See the tables below for the components of the amounts reclassified during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 into income and location in our consolidated statement of income.

The following table provides additional information related to the amounts classified into the consolidated statement of income out of accumulated other comprehensive loss during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss Components	Amount Reclass from Accumula Other Comprehe Loss ⁽¹⁾	ated	Affected Line Item in the Statement of Income
	(in millions))	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014:			
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments:			
Interest rate and currency swaps	\$	(3)	Interest expense
Total before tax		(3)	
Tax benefit		(1)	
Net of tax	\$	(2)	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013:			
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments:			
Interest rate and currency swaps	\$	(3)	Interest expense
Derivative loss recognized on termination of hedge relationship			Derivative related income (expense)
Total before tax		(3)	
Tax benefit		(1)	
Net of tax	\$	(2)	
Foreign currency translation adjustments:			
Sale of Insurance business	\$		Income (loss) on discontinued operations
Closure of foreign legal entity		9	Other income
Total before tax		9	
Tax expense (benefit)	••		
Net of tax	\$	9	
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014:			
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments:			
Interest rate and currency swaps	\$	(6)	Interest expense
Total before tax		(6)	
Tax benefit		(2)	
Net of tax	\$	(4)	

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss Components	Amount Reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensiv Loss ⁽¹⁾	e Affected Line Item in the Statement of Income
	(in millions)	
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013:		
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments:		
Interest rate and currency swaps	\$	9) Interest expense
Derivative loss recognized on termination of hedge relationship	(19	Derivative related income 9) (expense)
Total before tax	(20	8)
Tax benefit	(7	4)
Net of tax	\$ (13	4)
Foreign currency translation adjustments:		=
Sale of Insurance business	\$ (2	4) Income (loss) on discontinued operations
Closure of foreign legal entity		9 Other income
Total before tax	(1	5)
Tax benefit	(9)
Net of tax	\$	6)

⁽¹⁾ Amounts in parenthesis indicate expenses recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

10. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The components of pension expense for the defined benefit pension plan recorded in our consolidated statement of income and shown in the table below reflect the portion of the pension expense of the combined HSBC North America Pension Plan (either the "HSBC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan") which has been allocated to us.

		Three Mon	 		Six Mont June			
		2014	2013	_	2014		2013	
			(in mi	llion	ns)			
Service cost – benefits earned during the period	\$	1	\$ 2	\$	2	\$	4	
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation		12	14		25		28	
Expected return on assets		(15)	(18)		(29)		(36)	
Recognized losses		7	11		13		22	
Pension expense	\$	5	\$ 9	\$	11	\$	18	

During the first quarter of 2014, an additional contribution of \$74 million was made to the Plan.

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions The components of net periodic benefit cost for our postretirement plans other than pension are as follows:

		Three Months Ended June 30,					onths Ended une 30,		
					2014		2	2013	
	(in mill				nillions)				
Service cost – benefits earned during the period	\$		\$		\$	_	\$		
Interest cost		2		2		4		4	
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost	\$	2	\$	2	\$	4	\$	4	

11. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. These transactions occur at prevailing market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivatives, servicing arrangements, information technology, centralized support services, item and statement processing services, banking and other miscellaneous services. The following tables and discussions below present the more significant related party balances and the income (expense) generated by related party transactions for continuing operations:

	Jun	e 30, 2014		ember 31, 2013
		(in mi	illions)	
Assets:				
Cash	\$	195	\$	172
Securities purchased under agreements to resell ⁽¹⁾		5,643		6,924
Other assets		143		86
Total assets	\$	5,981	\$	7,182
Liabilities:				
Due to affiliates ⁽²⁾	\$	7,761	\$	8,742
Other liabilities		79		51
Total liabilities	\$	7,840	\$	8,793

⁽¹⁾ Securities under an agreement to resell are purchased from HSI and generally have terms of 120 days or less. The collateral underlying the securities purchased under agreements to resell, however, is with an unaffiliated third party. Interest income recognized on these securities is reflected as interest income from HSBC affiliate in the table below.

⁽²⁾ Due to affiliates includes amounts owed to HSBC and its subsidiaries as a result of direct debt issuances as well as HSBC's ownership of our subordinated debt and excludes preferred stock.

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Mont June		
	2	2014		2013		2014		2013
				(in m	illioı	1s)		
Income/(Expense):								
Interest income from HSBC affiliates	\$	2	\$	1	\$	3	\$	2
Interest expense paid to HSBC affiliates ⁽¹⁾		(75)		(119)		(155)		(258)
Net interest income (expense)	\$	(73)	\$	(118)	\$	(152)	\$	(256)
Gain (loss) on FVO debt with affiliate	\$	(12)	\$	34	\$	(20)	\$	37
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates		6		6		14		13
Support services from HSBC affiliates		(73)		(67)		(133)		(135)
Stock based compensation expense with HSBC ⁽²⁾		(2)		(2)		(3)		(4)

⁽¹⁾ Includes interest expense paid to HSBC affiliates for debt held by HSBC affiliates as well as net interest paid to or received from HSBC affiliates on risk management hedges related to non-affiliated debt.

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

Beginning in the first quarter of 2012, all of our ongoing funding requirements have been integrated into the overall HSBC North America funding plans and our funding requirements are now sourced primarily through HSBC USA, Inc. Due to affiliates consists of the following:

⁽²⁾ Employees participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in Salary and employee benefits in our consolidated statement of income. Employees also participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement benefit plans sponsored by HSBC North America which are discussed in Note 10, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits."

	June	30, 2014		ember 31, 2013
		(in mi	illions)	
HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) S.A. and subsidiaries	\$	3,300	\$	4,300
HSBC USA Inc.		3,012		3,012
HSBC Holdings plc (includes \$517 million and \$496 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 carried at fair value, respectively)		839		820
HSBC North America Holdings Inc.		600		600
HSBC Asia Holdings BV		10		10
Due to affiliates	\$	7,761	\$	8,742

HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) S.A. and subsidiaries - We have various debt agreements with maturities between 2014 and 2016.

HSBC USA Inc. - We have a \$5.0 billion, 364-day uncommitted revolving credit agreement with HSBC USA Inc. which expires during the fourth quarter of 2014. The credit agreement allows for borrowings with maturities of up to 15 years. Of the amounts outstanding at June 30, 2014, \$512 million matures in September 2017, \$1.5 billion matures in January 2018 and \$1.0 billion matures in September 2018.

HSBC Holdings plc - We have a public subordinated debt issue with a carrying amount of \$3.0 billion which matures in 2021. Of this amount, HSBC Holdings plc holds \$839 million.

HSBC North America Holdings Inc. - We have a \$600 million loan agreement with HSBC North America which provides for three \$200 million borrowings with maturities between 2034 and 2035.

HSBC Asia Holdings BV - We have two \$5 million loan agreements with maturity dates in 2014 and 2015. Although these loan agreements have stated maturity dates, we have the ability to repay the loans at any time and may elect to do so.

We have the following funding arrangements available with HSBC affiliates, although there are no outstanding balances at either June 30, 2014 or December 31, 2013:

- \$1.0 billion committed revolving credit facility with HSBC USA Inc. was available at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. This credit facility expires in May 2017;
- \$100 million committed revolving credit facility with HSBC Investments (Bahamas) Limited was available at December 31, 2013. This facility matured in April 2014 and was not renewed; and
- \$455 million, 364-day uncommitted revolving credit facility with HSBC North America was available at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

As discussed more fully in Note 22, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2013 Form 10-K, in November 2013, we obtained a surety bond to secure a stay of execution of the partial judgment in the Jaffe litigation pending the outcome of our appeal. This surety bond has been guaranteed by HSBC North America and we pay HSBC North America an annual fee for providing the guarantee which is included as a component of interest expense. Guarantee fees for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 totaled \$2 million and \$3 million, respectively.

As previously discussed, we maintain an overall risk management strategy that utilizes interest rate and currency derivative financial instruments to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations caused by changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates related to affiliate and third-party debt liabilities. HSBC Bank USA is our sole counterparty in derivative transactions. The notional amount of derivative contracts outstanding with HSBC Bank USA totaled \$14.0 billion and \$16.5 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. When the fair value of our agreements with affiliate counterparties requires the posting of collateral, it is provided in either the form of cash and recorded on the balance sheet or in the form of securities which are not recorded on our balance sheet. The fair value of our agreements at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 with HSBC Bank USA required HSBC Bank USA to provide collateral to us of \$590 million and \$811 million, respectively, all of which was received in cash. These amounts are offset against the fair value amount recognized for derivative instruments that have been offset under the same master netting arrangement. See Note 8, "Derivative Financial Instruments," for additional information about our derivative portfolio.

In addition to the lending arrangements discussed above, during the fourth quarter of 2010, we issued 1,000 shares of Series C preferred stock to HSBC Investments (North America) Inc. ("HINO") for \$1.0 billion. Dividends paid on the Series C Preferred Stock totaled \$21 million and \$43 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared with \$21 million and \$43 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide services to and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. The following summarizes these activities:

- Servicing activities for real estate secured receivables across North America are performed both by us and HSBC Bank USA. As a result, we receive servicing fees from HSBC Bank USA for services performed on their behalf and pay servicing fees to HSBC Bank USA for services performed on our behalf. The fees we receive from HSBC Bank USA are reported in Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates. This includes fees received for servicing real estate secured receivables (with a carrying amount of \$907 million and \$1.0 billion at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively) that we sold to HSBC Bank USA in 2003 and 2004. Fees we pay to HSBC Bank USA are reported in Support services from HSBC affiliates.
- We also provide various services to HSBC Bank USA, including processing activities and other operational and administrative support. Fees received for these services are included in Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.
- HSBC North America's technology and certain centralized support services including human resources, corporate affairs, risk
 management, legal, compliance, tax, finance and other shared services are centralized within HSBC Technology & Services
 (USA) Inc. ("HTSU"). HTSU also provides certain item processing and statement processing activities for us. The fees we
 pay HTSU for the centralized support services and processing activities are included in Support services from HSBC affiliates.
 We also receive fees from HTSU for providing certain administrative services to them as well as receiving rental revenue
 from HTSU for certain office space. The fees and rental revenue we receive from HTSU are included in Servicing and other
 fees from HSBC affiliates.
- We use HSBC Global Resourcing (UK) Ltd., an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States, to provide various support
 services to our operations including among other areas, customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions. The
 expenses related to these services are included in Support services from HSBC affiliates.
- Banking services and other miscellaneous services are provided by other subsidiaries of HSBC, including HSBC Bank USA, which are included in Support services from HSBC affiliates.

12. Business Segments

We have one reportable segment: Consumer. Our Consumer segment consists of our run-off Consumer Lending and Mortgage Services businesses. While these businesses are operating in run-off, they have not been reported as discontinued operations because we continue to generate cash flow from the ongoing collections of the receivables, including interest and fees. There have been no changes in measurement or composition of our segment reporting as compared with the presentation in our 2013 Form 10-K.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs"). Our segment results are presented in accordance with IFRSs (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) on a legal entity basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed and trends are evaluated on an IFRSs basis. However, we continue to monitor liquidity and capital adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impact our results are presented in Note 18, "Business Segments," in our 2013 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since December 31, 2013 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs impacting our results.

The following table reconciles our IFRSs segment results to the U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

		IFRSs Consumer Segment Totals	er it IFRSs		IFRSs Reclassifications ⁽²⁾		U.S. GAAP Consolidated Totals	
			(in millions)					
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014:								
Net interest income	\$	370	\$	(80)	\$	(65)	\$	225
Other operating income (Total other revenues)		(77)		67		57		47
Total operating income (loss)		293		(13)		(8)		272
Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)		11		(209)		1		(197)
Net interest income and other operating income less loan impairment charges		282		196		(9)		469
Operating expenses		124		6		(9)		121
Profit (loss) before tax	\$	158	\$	190	\$		\$	348
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013:								
Net interest income	\$	493	\$	(168)	\$	(87)	\$	238
Other operating income (Total other revenues)		(116)		658		86		628
Total operating income (loss)		377		490		(1)		866
Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)		124		143		_		267
Net interest income and other operating income less loan impairment charges		253		347		(1)		599
Operating expenses		153		43		(1)		195
Profit (loss) before tax	\$	100	\$	304	\$		\$	404
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014:								
Net interest income	\$	742	\$	(155)	\$	(130)	\$	457
Other operating income (Total other revenues)		(161)		172		118		129
Total operating income (loss)		581		17		(12)		586
Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)		129		(325)		1		(195)
Net interest income and other operating income less loan impairment charges		452		342		(13)		781
Operating expenses		340		11		(13)		338
Profit (loss) before tax	\$	112	\$	331	\$		\$	443
Balances at end of period:								
Customer loans (Receivables)	\$	26,379	\$	(1,871)	\$	(35)	\$	24,473
Assets		35,784		(1,446)				34,338
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013:								
Net interest income	\$	1,129	\$	(327)	\$	(170)	\$	632
Other operating income (Total other revenues)		(315)		1,120		177		982
Total operating income (loss)	—	814		793		7		1,614
Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)		443		(152)		_		291
Net interest income and other operating income less loan impairment charges		371		945		7		1,323
Operating expenses		408		48		7		463
Profit (loss) before tax	\$	(37)	\$	897	\$		\$	860
Balances at end of period:	_							
Customer loans (Receivables)	\$	34,498	\$	(5,346)	\$	(40)	\$	29,112

⁽¹⁾ IFRSs Adjustments consist of the accounting differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs which have been described in Note 18, "Business Segments," in the 2013 Form 10-K.

⁽²⁾ Represents differences in balance sheet and income statement presentation between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs.

13. Variable Interest Entities

We consolidate variable interest entities ("VIEs") in which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary through our holding of a variable interest which is determined as a controlling financial interest. The controlling financial interest is evidenced by the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and obligations to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could be potentially significant to the VIE. We take into account all of our involvements in a VIE in identifying (explicit or implicit) variable interests that individually or in the aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation as the primary beneficiary and hence require us to consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be significant where we, among other things, (i) provide liquidity facilities to support the VIE's debt issuances, (ii) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from the assets held by the VIE, (iii) provide a financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilities issued, (iv) design, organize and structure the transaction and (v) retain a financial or servicing interest in the VIE.

We are required to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In almost all cases, a qualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest holder is required to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPEs") primarily to meet our own funding needs through collateralized funding transactions. We transfer certain receivables to these trusts which in turn issue debt instruments collateralized by the transferred receivables. The entities used in these transactions are VIEs. As we are the servicer of the assets of these trusts and have retained the benefits and risks, we determined that we are the primary beneficiary of these trusts. Accordingly, we consolidate these entities and report the debt securities issued by them as secured financings in long-term debt. As a result, all receivables transferred in these secured financings have remained and continue to remain on our balance sheet and the debt securities issued by them have remained and continue to be included in long-term debt.

The assets and liabilities of these consolidated secured financing VIEs consisted of the following as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

	June 30, 2014					December	2013	
	Consolidated Assets			Consolidated Liabilities		nsolidated Assets		nsolidated iabilities
				(in mi	llions	s)		
Real estate collateralized funding vehicles:								
Cash	\$	2	\$	_	\$		\$	
Receivables, net:								
Real estate secured receivables	3,4	95		_		4,020		
Accrued interest income and other	1	42		_		156		
Credit loss reserves	(4	42)		_		(556)		_
Receivables, net	3,1	95		_		3,620		
Other liabilities		_		(40)		_		(41)
Long-term debt		_		1,835				2,200
Total	\$ 3,1	97	\$	1,795	\$	3,620	\$	2,159

The assets of the consolidated VIEs serve as collateral for the obligations of the VIEs. The holders of the debt securities issued by these vehicles have no recourse to our general assets.

Unconsolidated VIEs As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, all of our unconsolidated VIEs, which relate to investments in certain partnerships, are reported within our discontinued operations. We do not have any unconsolidated VIEs within continuing operations.

14. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value and focus on an exit price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value Framework"). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the "highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have alternative use and, as such, the fair value of financial instruments should be determined using an "in-exchange" valuation premise. However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risk and/or market risks based on the exit price it would receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of a group of assets or liabilities if certain conditions are met. We have not elected to make fair value adjustments to a group of derivative instruments with offsetting credit and market risks.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In the event listed price or market quotes are not available, valuation techniques that incorporate relevant transaction data and market parameters reflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration are applied. Where applicable, fair value adjustments are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the markets in which the transactions occur.

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financial liabilities, predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the parties to the transaction in arriving at fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit valuation adjustment to a financial liability is recorded to reflect our default risk. Where applicable, we take into consideration the credit risk mitigating arrangements including collateral agreements and master netting arrangements in estimating the credit risk adjustments.

Valuation Control Framework A control framework has been established which is designed to ensure that fair values are validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the measurement of fair values rests with the HSBC U.S. Valuation Committee. The HSBC U.S. Valuation Committee establishes policies and procedures to ensure appropriate valuations. Fair values for debt securities and long-term debt for which we have elected fair value option are measured by a third-party valuation source (pricing service) by reference to external quotations on the identical or similar instruments. Once fair values have been obtained from the third-party valuation source, an independent price validation process is performed and reviewed by the HSBC U.S. Valuation Committee. For price validation purposes, we obtain quotations from at least one other independent pricing source for each financial instrument, where possible. We consider the following factors in determining fair values:

- similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;
- collaboration of pricing by reference to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark indices;
- whether the security is traded in an active or inactive market;
- consistency among different pricing sources;
- the valuation approach and the methodologies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;
- the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date; and
- the manner in which the fair value information is sourced.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from dealers who stand ready to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who originally underwrote such instruments, and market consensus pricing based on inputs from a large number of participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed by management and adjustments to fair values are recorded where appropriate.

Fair values for derivatives are determined by management using valuation techniques, valuation models and inputs that are developed, reviewed, validated and approved by the Quantitative Risk and Valuation Group of an HSBC affiliate. The models used apply appropriate control processes and procedures to ensure that the derived inputs are used to value only those instruments that share similar risk to the relevant benchmark indexes and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors.

Dogombor 21 2012

We have various controls over our valuation process and procedures for receivables held for sale. As these fair values are generally determined using value estimates from third party and affiliate valuation specialists, the controls may include analytical reviews of quarterly value trends, corroboration of inputs by observable market data, direct discussion with potential investors and results of actual sales of such receivable, all of which are submitted to the HSBC U.S. Valuation Committee for review.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value estimates, methods and assumptions set forth below for our financial instruments, including those financial instruments carried at cost, are made solely to comply with disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes included in this Form 10-Q. The following table summarizes the carrying values and estimated fair value of our financial instruments at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

	June 30, 2014									
		rrying Value		timated ir Value	Le	evel 1	L	evel 2	Le	vel 3
					(in m	illions)				
Financial assets:										
Cash	\$	195	\$	195	\$	195	\$	_	\$	_
Securities purchased under agreements to resell		5,643		5,643		_		5,643		
Real estate secured receivables ⁽¹⁾ :										
First lien	2	20,074		18,037		_		_	18	3,037
Second lien		2,501		1,373		_		_	1	,373
Total real estate secured receivables	7	22,575		19,410				_	19	,410
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		1,874		1,897		_		289	1	,608
Due from affiliates		143		143		_		143		_
Financial liabilities:										
Due to affiliates carried at fair value		517		517		_		517		_
Due to affiliates not carried at fair value		7,244		7,539		_		7,539		_
Long-term debt carried at fair value		7,288		7,288		_		7,288		_
Long-term debt not carried at fair value	1	10,946		11,580		_		9,821	1	,759

December 31, 2013									
				L	evel 1	Level	2	Lev	vel 3
				(in n	illions)				
\$	175	\$	175	\$	175	\$		\$	_
	6,924		6,924		_	6,9	24		_
2	21,514		18,577				_	18	,577
	2,659		1,418					1	,418
	24,173		19,995					19	,995
	2,047		2,047				_	2	,047
	86		86				86		
	496		496			4	96		
	8,246		8,369			8,3	69		
	8,025		8,025		_	8,0	25		_
į	12,814		13,301		_	11,2	32	2	,069
	\$	6,924 21,514 2,659 24,173 2,047 86 496 8,246 8,025	\$ 175 \$ 6,924	Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value \$ 175 \$ 175 6,924 6,924 21,514 18,577 2,659 1,418 24,173 19,995 2,047 2,047 86 86 496 4,96 8,246 8,369 8,025 8,025	Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value Local (in mode) \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ 6,924 \$ 21,514 18,577 2,659 1,418 24,173 19,995 2,047 86 86 496 496 8,246 8,369 8,025 8,025 8,025 8,025	Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value Level 1 (in millions) \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ 175 6,924 6,924 — 21,514 18,577 — 2,659 1,418 — 24,173 19,995 — 2,047 2,047 — 86 86 — 496 496 — 8,246 8,369 — 8,025 8,025 —	Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value Level 1 (in millions) Level 1 (in millions) \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ 6,924 — 6,924 \$ 21,514 18,577 — — 2,659 1,418 — — 24,173 — — 22,047 — 22,047 — — 22,047 — 22,047	Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 (in millions) \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ — 6,924 6,924 — 6,924 21,514 18,577 — — 2,659 1,418 — — 24,173 19,995 — — 2,047 2,047 — — 86 86 — 86 496 496 — 496 8,246 8,369 — 8,369 8,025 8,025 — 8,025	Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Level 3 \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ 175 \$ — \$ \$ — \$ 6,924 6,924 — 6,924 — \$ 6,924 21,514 18,577 — — 18 — — 1 — 1 2,659 1,418 — — — 19 — 19 — 19 2,047 2,047 — — — 2 2 86 86 — 86 496 496 — 8,369 — 8,369 8,369 — 8,369 8,025 8,025 — 8,025

⁽¹⁾ The carrying amount of receivables presented in the table above reflects the amortized cost of the receivable, including any accrued interest, less credit loss reserves as well as any charge-offs recorded in accordance with our existing charge-off policies.

Receivable values presented in the table above were determined using the Fair Value Framework for measuring fair value, which is based on our best estimate of the amount within a range of values we believe would be received in a sale as of the balance sheet date (i.e. exit price). The secondary market demand and estimated value for our receivables has been heavily influenced by the challenging economic conditions during the past several years, including house price depreciation, elevated unemployment, changes in consumer behavior, changes in discount rates and the lack of financing options available to support the purchase of receivables. For certain consumer receivables, investors incorporate numerous assumptions in predicting cash flows, such as future interest rates, higher charge-off levels, slower voluntary prepayment speeds, different default and loss curves and estimated collateral values than we, as the servicer of these receivables, believe will ultimately be the case. The investor's valuation process reflects this difference in overall cost of capital assumptions as well as the potential volatility in the underlying cash flow assumptions, the combination of which may yield a significant pricing discount from our intrinsic value. The estimated fair values at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflect these market conditions. The increase in the relative fair value of real estate secured receivables since December 31, 2013 reflects the conditions in the housing industry which have continued to show improvement in the first half of 2014 due to modest improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased investor demand for these types of receivables. These factors have also resulted in the fair value of receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 exceeding the carrying value as these receivables are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value.

	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for C Identical Assets		Obs I	Observable Unol		Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)		etting ⁽¹⁾	(L M	tal of Assets Liabilities) Leasured at Cair Value
					(in mil	llions)				
June 30, 2014:										
Derivative financial assets:										
Interest rate swaps	\$	_	\$	229	\$	_	\$	_	\$	229
Currency swaps	••••	_		763		_		_		763
Derivative netting		_				_		(992)		(992)
Total derivative financial assets		_		992		_		(992)		_
Total assets	···· \$	_	\$	992	\$	_	\$	(992)	\$	
Due to affiliates carried at fair value	···· \$		\$	(517)	\$		\$		\$	(517)
Long-term debt carried at fair value		_		(7,288)		_		_		(7,288)
Derivative related liabilities:										
Interest rate swaps		_		(410)		_		_		(410)
Currency swaps		_		(11)		_		_		(11)
Derivative netting		_		_		_		421		421
Total derivative related liabilities		_		(421)		_		421		
Total liabilities	\$	_	\$	(8,226)	\$	_	\$	421	\$	(7,805)
December 31, 2013:										
Derivative financial assets:										
Interest rate swaps	\$	_	\$	310	\$	_	\$	_	\$	310
Currency swaps	••••	_		797		_		_		797
Derivative netting		_		_		_		(1,107)		(1,107)
Total derivative financial assets		_		1,107		_		(1,107)		
Total assets	\$	_	\$	1,107	\$	_	\$	(1,107)	\$	_
Due to affiliates carried at fair value	\$	_	\$	(496)	\$	_	\$		\$	(496)
Long-term debt carried at fair value		_		(8,025)		_		_		(8,025)
Derivative related liabilities:										
Interest rate swaps		_		(309)		_		_		(309)
Currency swaps		_		(28)		_		_		(28)
Derivative netting		_		_		_		337		337
Total derivative related liabilities		_		(337)		_		337		
Total liabilities	\$		\$	(8,858)	\$	_	\$	337	\$	(8,521)
			_				_			

⁽¹⁾ Represents counterparty and swap collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts when certain conditions are met.

Significant Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the three or six months ended June 30, 2014 or 2013.

Information on Level 3 Assets and Liabilities There were no assets or liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the three or six months ended June 30, 2014 or 2013.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value.

	Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2014							(Loss Thre	cal Gains ses) for the see Months Ended	Total Gains (Losses) for the Six Months Ended		
	Le	vel 1	L	evel 2	I	Level 3		Total		e 30, 2014	Ju	ne 30, 2014
							(iı	n millions)				
Real estate secured receivables held for sale	\$	_	\$	272	\$	1,602	\$	1,874	\$	97	\$	208
Receivables held for investment carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell ⁽¹⁾				850		_		850		(70)		(233)
Real estate owned ⁽²⁾		_		220				220		(12)		(32)
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring					_		_					
basis	\$		\$	1,342	\$	1,602	\$	2,944	\$	15	\$	(57)
					nir Value Measurements une 30, 2013				(Loss Thre	tal Gains ses) for the ee Months Ended	(Lo S	otal Gains sses) for the ix Months Ended
	Le	evel 1		Level 2	Level 3 Total					e 30, 2013	Ju	ne 30, 2013
Receivables held for sale:							(1	n millions)			
Real estate secured	Ф		\$		\$	4.991	\$	4.991	\$	372	\$	908
Personal non-credit card ⁽³⁾	4		Ψ		Φ	4,991	φ	4,991	Ψ	312	Ψ	(82)
Total receivables held for sale.			_		_	4 001	_	4 001		272		
						4,991		4,991		372		826
Receivables held for investment carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell ⁽¹⁾		_		871		_		871		(278)		(505)
Real estate owned ⁽²⁾				333				333		(18)		(35)
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring basis	\$	_	\$	1,204	\$	4,991	\$	6,195	\$	76	\$	286

⁽¹⁾ Total gains (losses) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 includes amounts recorded on receivables that were subsequently transferred to held for sale.

The following table presents quantitative information about non-recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

		Fair	Valu	ie		Range of Inp					
Financial Instrument Type	June 30, Dec. 31, Significant ment Type 2014 2013 Valuation Technique Unobservable Inputs			June 3	0, 2014	Decer 2	nbe 013	- ,			
		(in m	illion	is)							
Receivables held for sale car value:	ried at	fair									
Real estate secured	\$ 1	,602	\$	2,047	Third party appraisal valuation based on	Collateral loss severity rates ⁽¹⁾	0%	- 92%	0%	-	93%
					estimated loss severities, including collateral values, cash flows and	Expenses incurred through collateral disposition	5%	- 10%	5%	-	10%
					market discount rate	Market discount rate	4%	- 8%	6%	-	10%

⁽¹⁾ The majority of the real estate secured receivables held for sale consider collateral value, among other items, in determining fair value. Collateral values are based on the most recently available broker's price opinion and the collateral loss severity rates averaged 20 percent and 21 percent at June 30, 2014 and

⁽²⁾ Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair value of the underlying asset unadjusted for transaction costs.

Our personal non-credit card portfolio was sold on April 1, 2013 as discussed more fully in Note 7, "Receivables Held for Sale," in our 2013 Form 10-K.

December 31, 2013, respectively. In the current market conditions, investors also take into consideration the fact that the most recently available broker's price opinion may not capture all of the home price appreciation due to the timing of the receipt of the opinion.

Valuation Techniques The following summarizes the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value and for estimating fair value for financial instruments not recorded at fair value but for which fair value disclosures are required.

Cash: Carrying amount approximates fair value due to the liquid nature of cash.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell: The fair value of securities purchased under agreements to resell approximates carrying amount due to the short-term maturity of the agreements.

Receivables and receivables held for sale: The estimated fair value of our receivables and receivables held for sale is determined by developing an approximate range of value from a mix of various sources appropriate for the respective pools of assets aggregated by similar risk characteristics. These sources include recently observed over-the-counter transactions where available and fair value estimates obtained from an HSBC affiliate and, for receivables held for sale, a third party valuation specialist for distinct pools of receivables. These fair value estimates are based on discounted cash flow models using assumptions we believe are consistent with those that would be used by market participants in valuing such receivables and trading inputs from other market participants which includes observed primary and secondary trades.

Valuation inputs include estimates of future interest rates, prepayment speeds, default and loss curves, estimated collateral values (including expenses to be incurred to maintain the collateral) and market discount rates reflecting management's estimate of the rate of return that would be required by investors in the current market given the specific characteristics and inherent credit risk of the receivables held for sale. Some of these inputs are influenced by collateral value changes and unemployment rates. To the extent available, such inputs are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation and other means. We perform analytical reviews of fair value changes on a quarterly basis and periodically validate our valuation methodologies and assumptions based on the results of actual sales of such receivables. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors. Portfolio risk management personnel provide further validation through discussions with third party brokers. Since some receivables pools may have features which are unique, the fair value measurement processes use significant unobservable inputs which are specific to the performance characteristics of the various receivable portfolios.

Real estate owned: Fair value is determined based on third party valuations obtained at the time we take title to the property and, if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value less estimated cost to sell. The carrying amount of the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 45 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area sales data.

Due from affiliates: Carrying amount approximates fair value because the interest rates on these receivables adjust with changing market interest rates.

Long-term debt and Due to affiliates: Fair value is primarily determined by a third party valuation source. The pricing services source fair value from quoted market prices and, if not available, expected cash flows are discounted using the appropriate interest rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit risk (spread). The credit spreads applied to these instruments are derived from the spreads recognized in the secondary market for similar debt as of the measurement date. Where available, relevant trade data is also considered as part of our validation process.

Derivative financial assets and liabilities: Derivative values are defined as the amount we would receive or pay to extinguish the contract using a market participant as of the reporting date. The values are determined by management using a pricing system maintained by HSBC Bank USA. In determining these values, HSBC Bank USA uses quoted market prices, when available. For non-exchange traded contracts, such as interest rate swaps, fair value is determined using discounted cash flow modeling techniques. Valuation models calculate the present value of expected future cash flows based on models that utilize independently-sourced market parameters, including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. Valuations may be adjusted in order to ensure that those values represent appropriate estimates of fair value. These adjustments are generally required to reflect factors such as market liquidity and counterparty credit risk that can affect prices in arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Finally, other transaction specific factors such as the variety of valuation models available, the range of unobservable model inputs and other model assumptions can affect estimates of fair value. Imprecision in estimating these factors can impact the amount of revenue or loss recorded for a particular position.

Counterparty credit risk is considered in determining the fair value of a financial asset. The Fair Value Framework specifies that the fair value of a liability should reflect the entity's non-performance risk and accordingly, the effect of our own credit risk (spread) has been factored into the determination of the fair value of our financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. In estimating the credit risk adjustment to the derivative assets and liabilities, we take into account the impact of netting and/or collateral arrangements that are designed to mitigate counterparty credit risk.

15. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 22, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2013 Form 10-K and our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 ("March 31, 2014 Form 10-Q"). Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our disclosure in our 2013 Form 10-K and our March 31, 2014 Form 10-Q are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below, and in our 2013 Form 10-K and our March 31, 2014 Form 10-Q, in the ordinary course of business, we are routinely named as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal actions and proceedings relating to activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and proceedings may include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents, testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our regulated activities.

In view of the inherent unpredictability of litigation and regulatory matters, particularly where the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we cannot determine with any degree of certainty the timing or ultimate resolution of litigation and regulatory matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties or business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation and regulatory matters when those matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted from time to time, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters, however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

Given the substantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and the inherent unpredictability of such matters, an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements in particular quarterly or annual periods. We currently are subject to a partial final judgment entered in October 2013 in the Securities Litigation (*Jaffe v. Household International, Inc., et al.* (N.D. Ill. No. 02 C5893)) in the amount of approximately \$2.5 billion, which includes pre-judgment interest at the Prime Rate. Claims totaling approximately \$625 million, prior to the imposition of pre-judgment interest, also remain pending that are still subject to objections not ruled on by the district court. Although the partial final judgment is on appeal, if the Appeals Court rejects or only partially accepts our arguments, the amount of damages in the action, based upon that partial final judgment, and other pending claims and the application of pre-judgment interest on those pending claims, may lie in a range from a relatively insignificant amount to an amount up to or exceeding \$3.6 billion. We continue to maintain a reserve for this matter in an amount that represents management's current estimate of probable losses.

Litigation - Continuing Operations

Securities Litigation The appeal to the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in the Jaffe matter has been fully briefed and the oral argument was heard on May 29, 2014. We await a ruling from the Court of Appeals.

Benchmark Rate Litigation In May 2014 HSBC, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC USA and HSBC Finance Corporation, along with the other U.S. dollar Libor panel banks, were named as defendants in a lawsuit filed by two mutual funds managed by Prudential Investment Portfolios seeking unspecified damages as a result of alleged artificial suppression of U.S. dollar Libor rates which plaintiffs allege resulted in plaintiffs receiving substantially less interest payments in connection with certain transactions entered into with the defendants. This action has been transferred and/or consolidated with a U.S. dollar Libor Multi-District Litigation proceeding pending in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. HSBC and HSBC Bank plc are defendants in that proceeding as well. These actions are subject to a stay imposed by the court.

Litigation - Discontinued Operations

Salveson v. JPMorgan Chase et al. (N.D.Cal. No. 13-CV-5816) On May 8, 2014, after being served with the complaint, HSBC filed a separate motion to dismiss, and both it and HSBC North America joined the joint motion to dismiss. On June 4, 2014, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation transferred the case to the Eastern District of New York for consolidation with MDL 1720.

Telephone Consumer Protection Act Litigation By agreement of the parties, the Mills & Wilkes v. HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A., HSBC Card Services, Inc., HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc. HSBC Auto Finance, Inc. & HSBC Consumer Lending (USA), Inc., action in the Northern District of California was dismissed and a consolidated action entitled Wilkins & Mills v. HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A. & HSBC Card Services, Inc., was filed in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division. The parties have agreed to settle the

action for approximately \$40 million. The settlement is subject to court approval. At a hearing on July 22, 2014, the court preliminarily approved the settlement.

Governmental and Regulatory Matters

Foreclosure Practices During the second quarter of 2014, we reduced by \$60 million our accrual relating to our discussions with the U.S. bank regulators and other governmental agencies regarding foreclosure and other mortgage servicing practices, reflecting the portion of the HSBC North America accrual we currently believe is allocable to us. The reduction was based on our discussions with the regulators of the terms of any potential national mortgage settlement. As this matter progresses and more information becomes available, we will continue to evaluate our portion of the HSBC North America liability which may result in a change to our current estimate.

16. New Accounting Pronouncements

Unrecognized Tax Benefits In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an Accounting Standards Update that provides guidance on financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss ("NOL") carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists in the same tax jurisdiction. The standard requires an entity to present the unrecognized tax benefit as a reduction of the deferred tax asset for an NOL or tax credit carryforward whenever the NOL or tax credit carryforward would be available to reduce the additional taxable income or tax due if the tax position is disallowed. However, the standard requires an entity to present an unrecognized tax benefit on the balance sheet as a liability if certain conditions are met. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2014. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our unrecognized tax benefit liability.

Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage Loans In January 2014, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update to define an in-substance repossession or foreclosure of residential real estate for purposes of determining whether or not an entity should derecognize a consumer mortgage loan collateralized by that real estate. Under the standard, an in-substance repossession or foreclosure has occurred if the entity has obtained legal title to the real estate as a result of the completion of a foreclosure (even if the borrower has rights to reclaim the property after the foreclosure upon the payment of certain amounts specified by law), or if, through a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or other legal agreement, the borrower conveys all interest in the real estate to the entity in satisfaction of the loan. The standard also requires entities to disclose both the amount of foreclosed residential real estate held as well as the recorded investment in consumer mortgage loans collateralized by residential real estate that the entity is in the process of foreclosing upon. The new guidance is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2015. We do not expect adoption of this standard will have a significant impact on our financial statements.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued that are expected to have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in press releases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC Finance Corporation that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements. Words such as "may", "will", "should", "would", "could", "appears", "believe", "intends", "expects", "estimates", "targeted", "plans", "anticipates", "goal", and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

- uncertain market and economic conditions, uncertainty relating to the U.S. debt and budget matters, the potential for
 future downgrading of U.S. debt ratings, a decline in housing prices, high unemployment, tighter credit conditions, changes
 in interest rates, the availability of liquidity, unexpected geopolitical events, changes in consumer confidence and consumer
 spending, and consumer perception as to the continuing availability of credit and price competition in the market segments
 we serve;
- · changes in laws and regulatory requirements;
- extraordinary government actions as a result of market turmoil;
- capital and liquidity requirements under Basel III, and Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review ("CCAR");
- changes in central banks' policies with respect to the provision of liquidity support to financial markets;
- a failure in or a breach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors;
- damage to our reputation;
- the ability to retain key employees;
- our ability to meet our funding requirements;
- increases in our allowance for credit losses and changes in our assessment of our loan portfolios;
- changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") accounting standards;
- changes to our mortgage servicing and foreclosure practices;
- continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to residential mortgage servicing practices, with particular focus on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;
- changes in bankruptcy laws to allow for principal reductions or other modifications to mortgage loan terms;
- our inability to wind down our real estate secured receivable portfolio at the same rate as in recent years;
- additional costs and expenses due to representations and warranties made in connection with loan sale transactions that
 may require us to repurchase the loans and/or indemnify private investors for losses due to breaches of these representations
 and warranties;
- the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation, deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

- additional financial contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
 pension plan;
- unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters; and
- the other risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "2013 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should, however, consider any additional disclosures of a forward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.

Executive Overview

Organization and Basis of Reporting HSBC Finance Corporation and its subsidiaries are indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of HSBC North America, which is an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). HSBC Finance Corporation and its subsidiaries may also be referred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") as "we", "us", or "our".

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations excludes the results of our discontinued operations unless otherwise noted. See Note 2, "Discontinued Operations," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion of these operations.

Current Environment The U.S. economy continued its gradual recovery during the first half of 2014. While consumer confidence, buoyed by healthy job growth, began to increase during the second quarter of 2014 and recover from the impact of the severe winter weather experienced across many parts of the United States during the first quarter, it remained flat compared with December 31, 2013 as wage growth prospects and prolonged high gasoline prices continued to impact consumer sentiment. During the first half of 2014, the Federal Reserve Board ("Federal Reserve") announced further reductions in its bond buying stimulus program and updated its guidance on short-term interest rates, putting less weight on the unemployment rate and indicating that it would look at 'a broad range of economic indicators' in deciding when to start raising short-term interest rates.

While the economy continued to add jobs in the first half of 2014, the pace of new job creation continued to be slower than needed to significantly reduce the number of long-term unemployed. While the unemployment rate in the U.S. fell 60 basis points since year-end to 6.1 percent at June 30, 2014 as more people began to find work, there are a significant number of U.S. residents who are no longer looking for work and are not reflected in the U.S. unemployment rates. Unemployment has continued to have an impact on the provision for credit losses in our loan portfolio and in loan portfolios across the industry. Concerns about the future of the U.S. economy, including the pace and magnitude of recovery from the recent economic recession, consumer confidence, fiscal policy, volatility in energy prices, credit market volatility including the ability to resolve various global financial issues and trends in corporate earnings will continue to influence the U.S. economic recovery and the capital markets. In particular, continued improvement in unemployment rates, a sustained recovery of the housing markets and stabilization in energy prices remain critical components of a broader U.S. economic recovery. These conditions in combination with the impact of recent regulatory changes, will continue to impact our results in 2014 and beyond.

While the housing market in the U.S. continues to recover, the strength of the recovery varies by market. The listing of foreclosed properties for sale has slowed price gains in 2014. In addition, certain courts and state legislatures have issued rules or statutes relating to foreclosures and scrutiny of foreclosure documentation has increased in some courts. Also, in some areas, officials are requiring additional verification of information filed prior to the foreclosure proceeding. The combination of these factors has led to a significant backlog of foreclosures in several jurisdictions which will take time to resolve.

Business Focus During the second quarter of 2014, we entered into an agreement to outsource the servicing of our real estate owned ("REO") portfolio to a third party which we believe will result in a more efficient process for servicing our REO portfolio. The servicing is being transferred over time and we anticipate the transfer will be completed by the end of 2014. Although we are transferring the servicing activities to a third-party, the REO portfolio will remain on our balance sheet.

On May 1, 2014, we sold a pool of real estate secured receivables with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of \$1,255 million (aggregate carrying value of \$884 million) at the time of sale to a third-party investor. Aggregate cash consideration for these real estate secured receivables totaled \$893 million. During the second quarter of 2014, we realized a loss on this transaction of \$6 million, net of transaction fees.

In May 2014, we sold the recovery rights to receivables with outstanding balances of \$3.3 billion which had previously been fully charged-off. The cash proceeds from this transaction of \$57 million were recorded as a recovery of charged-off receivables during the second quarter of 2014. Additionally, we anticipate selling the recovery rights associated with certain charged-off receivables on a monthly basis going forward, although we anticipate the impact will not be significant.

On July 1, 2014, we sold a pool of real estate secured receivables with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of \$289 million (aggregate carrying value of \$272 million) at the time of sale to a third-party investor. Aggregate cash consideration for these real estate secured receivables totaled \$289 million. We realized a gain on this transaction of approximately \$13 million, net of transaction costs, which will be recorded during the third quarter of 2014.

As discussed in prior filings, we have adopted a formal program to initiate sale activities for real estate secured receivables in our held for investment portfolio when a receivable meeting pre-determined criteria is written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies (generally 180 days past due). During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred real estate secured receivables to held for sale with an unpaid principal balance of approximately \$430 million and \$869 million, respectively, at the time of transfer. The net realizable value (carrying value) of these receivables prior to transfer after considering the fair value of the property less cost to sell was approximately \$332 million and \$674 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. As a result of the transfer of these receivables to held for sale, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 we recorded a lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment of \$42 million and \$102 million, respectively, to reduce the carrying value of the newly transferred loans, all of which was attributable to non-credit related factors (e.g. interest rates, market liquidity and differences in overall cost of capital assumptions) and was recorded as a component of total other revenues in the consolidated statement of income. We currently expect additional real estate secured receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately \$475 million could be transferred to held for sale during the remainder of 2014 as we anticipate that during the year they will be written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies and therefore meet our criteria to be considered held for sale. We believe credit losses related to these receivables are substantially covered by our existing credit loss reserves. However, based on the current fair value of our existing receivables held for sale portfolio, the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment for non-credit related factors on these receivables could be in the range of \$0 to \$50 million. Our estimate of both the volume of loans which will be transferred to held for sale as they become 180 days past due as well as the fair value adjustment required for the aforementioned pool of loans is influenced by factors outside our control such as changes in default rates, estimated costs to obtain properties, home prices and investors' required returns amongst others. There is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably possible that they could be significantly different as factors impacting the estimates continually evolve.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we reversed \$137 million and \$313 million, respectively, of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded primarily due to an increase in the fair value of the real estate secured receivables held for sale as conditions in the housing industry have continued to show improvement in the first half of 2014 due to modest improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased investor demand for these types of receivables. As noted in the preceding paragraph, these fair value estimates are influenced by numerous factors outside of our control and these factors have been highly volatile in recent years. Accordingly, the improving trend in the fair value of receivables held for sale that began in 2013 and has continued during the first half of 2014 should not be considered indicative of fair value changes in future periods as deterioration in these factors would likely require increases to our valuation allowance in future periods. Additionally, at June 30, 2014 our valuation allowance for receivables held for sale is zero and any future improvements in home prices will not result in further reversals in the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment.

At June 30, 2014, real estate secured receivables held for sale totaled \$1,874 million. We expect that receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 will be sold in multiple transactions generally over the next 15 months. If the foreclosure process is completed prior to sale, the underlying properties acquired in satisfaction of the receivables will be classified as REO and sold.

See Note 6, "Receivables Held for Sale," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding receivables held for sale.

Excluding receivables held for sale as discussed above, our real estate secured receivable portfolio held for investment, which totaled \$24,473 million at June 30, 2014, is currently running off. The timeframe in which this portfolio will liquidate is dependent upon the rate at which receivables pay off or charge-off prior to their maturity, which fluctuates for a variety of reasons such as interest rates, availability of refinancing, home values and individual borrowers' credit profile. In light of the current economic conditions and mortgage industry trends and the age of our run-off receivable portfolio, our loan prepayment rates have slowed when compared with historical experience even though interest rates remain low. Additionally, our loan modification programs, which are primarily designed to improve cash collections and avoid foreclosure as determined to be appropriate, are contributing to the slower loan prepayment rates. While difficult to project both loan prepayment rates and default rates, based on current experience we expect our run-off real estate secured receivable portfolio (excluding receivables held for sale) to be approximately \$18 billion by the end of 2016. Attrition will not be linear during this period. Run-off is expected to be slow as charge-offs decline

and the remaining real estate secured receivables stay on the balance sheet longer due to the impact of modifications and/or the lack of refinancing alternatives as well as the impact of a continued elongated foreclosure process.

As discussed more fully in Note 22, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2013 Form 10-K, we are currently in discussions with the U.S. bank regulators and other governmental agencies regarding foreclosure and other mortgage servicing practices. During the second quarter of 2014, we reduced our accrual relating to this matter by \$60 million, which was recorded as a component of other servicing and administrative expenses, reflecting the portion of the HSBC North America accrual we currently believe is allocable to us. The reduction was based on our discussions of the terms of any potential settlement with the regulators. As this matter progresses and more information becomes available, we will continue to evaluate our portion of the HSBC North America liability, which may result in changes to our current estimate in future periods.

We continue to evaluate our operations as we seek to optimize our risk profile and cost efficiencies as well as our liquidity, capital and funding requirements. This could result in further strategic actions that may include changes to our legal structure, asset levels, outstanding debt levels or cost structure in support of HSBC's strategic priorities. We also continue to focus on cost optimization efforts to ensure realization of cost efficiencies in an effort to create a more sustainable cost structure. Since 2011, we have taken various opportunities to reduce costs through organizational structure redesign, vendor spending, discretionary spending and other general efficiency initiatives which have resulted in workforce reductions. Our focus on cost optimization is continuing and, as a result, we may incur restructuring charges in future periods, the amount of which will depend upon the actions that ultimately are implemented.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights of HSBC Finance Corporation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and as of June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

	Three Mo	ided	Six	Month June	s Ended 30,	
	2014		2013	2014		2013
		(dollars are	in millions)		
Income from continuing operations\$	236	\$	271	\$ 34	18	\$ 575
Return on average assets ("ROA"), annualized	2.7%)	2.5%	2	.0%	2.6%
Return on average common shareholder's equity ("ROE"), annualized	14.9		18.1	10	.3	19.8
Net interest margin, annualized ⁽¹⁾	2.73		2.33	2.7	71	3.01
Consumer net charge-off ratio, annualized ⁽²⁾	1.73		6.24	3.0)3	5.11
Efficiency ratio ⁽¹⁾⁽³⁾	44.5		22.5	57	.7	28.7
	June 30	, 2014	Marc	ch 31, 2014	Dec	ember 31, 2013
			(dollars a	are in millior	ıs)	
Real estate secured receivables ⁽⁴⁾	\$ 2	4,473	\$	25,481	\$	26,584
Credit loss reserves ⁽²⁾		2,692		2,997		3,273
Two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio for real estate secured receivables held for investment ⁽²⁾		7.05%	⁄o	8.52%	, 0	10.01%

⁽¹⁾ See "Results of Operations" for a detailed discussion of trends in our net interest margin and efficiency ratio.

We reported net income of \$229 million and \$335 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with net income of \$220 million and \$446 million during the year-ago periods. Income from continuing operations was \$236 million and \$348 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with income from continuing operations of \$271 million and \$575 million during the year-ago periods. We reported income from continuing operations before income tax of \$348 million and \$443 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with income from continuing operations before income tax of \$404 million and \$860 million during the year-ago periods. Our results in all periods were impacted by the change in the fair value of own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected the fair value option which distorts

⁽²⁾ See "Credit Quality" for a detailed discussion of trends in credit loss reserve levels as well as delinquency and charge-off ratios.

⁽³⁾ Ratio of total costs and expenses from continuing operations to net interest income and other revenues from continuing operations.

⁽⁴⁾ See "Receivables Review" for a detailed discussion of changes in real estate secured receivable levels.

comparability of the underlying performance trends of our business. The following table summarizes the impact of this item on our income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax for all periods presented.

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Mont Jun	hs Er e 30,	ided
	2014			2013		2014		2013
				llions)			
Income from continuing operations before income tax, as reported	\$	348	\$	404	\$	443	\$	860
Fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to credit								
spread		9		(23)		25		18
Underlying income from continuing operations before income tax ⁽¹⁾	\$	357	\$	381	\$	468	\$	878

⁽¹⁾ Represents a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Excluding the impact of fair value movement on fair value option debt attributable to credit spread as presented in the table above, underlying income from continuing operations before tax declined \$24 million and \$410 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. The decrease reflects significantly lower other revenues driven by significantly higher reversals of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables held for sale during the year-ago periods and lower net interest income, partially offset by lower operating expenses and lower provisions for credit losses.

See "Results of Operations" for a more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Receivables Review" for further discussion on our receivable trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for further discussion on funding and capital and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

Funding and Capital During the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, we did not receive any capital contributions from HSBC Investments (North America) Inc. ("HINO"). During the six months ended June 30, 2014, we retired \$2,545 million of term debt as it matured. The maturing debt cash requirements were met through funding from cash generated from operations, including receivable sales and other balance sheet attrition as well as liquidation of short term investments. Continued success in reducing the size of our receivable portfolios through sales of pools of real estate secured receivables will be the primary driver of our liquidity during the remainder of 2014. However, lower cash flow as a result of declining receivable balances may not provide sufficient cash to fully repay maturing debt over the next four to five years. As we continue to liquidate our receivable portfolios, HSBC's continued support will be required to properly manage our business operations and maintain appropriate levels of capital. HSBC has historically provided significant capital in support of our operations and has indicated that it is fully committed and has the capacity and willingness to continue that support. Any required incremental funding has been integrated into the overall HSBC North America funding plans as we intend to source our funding needs through HSBC USA Inc. or through direct support from HSBC or its affiliates.

As discussed above, a portion of our real estate secured receivable portfolio is currently classified as held for sale as we no longer have the intent to hold these receivables for the foreseeable future for capital or operational reasons. In the current market environment, market pricing continues to value the portion of our real estate secured receivable portfolio held for investment at amounts that would not provide a sufficient economic benefit to us upon sale. Therefore, we have determined that we have the positive intent and ability to hold these remaining real estate secured receivables for the foreseeable future and, as such, continue to classify these real estate secured receivables as held for investment. However, should market pricing improve in the future or if HSBC calls upon us to execute certain strategies in order to address capital and other considerations, it could result in the reclassification of additional real estate secured receivables to held for sale.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). Unless noted, the discussion of our financial condition and results of operations included in MD&A are presented on a continuing operations basis of reporting. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

In addition to the U.S. GAAP financial results reported in our consolidated financial statements, MD&A includes reference to the following information which is presented on a non-U.S. GAAP basis:

Equity Ratios Tangible common equity to tangible assets is a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure that we use to evaluate capital adequacy. This ratio excludes from equity the impact of unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging instruments, postretirement benefit plan adjustments and unrealized gains (losses) on investments as well as subsequent changes in fair value recognized in earnings associated with debt for which we elected the fair value option and the related derivatives. This ratio may differ from similarly named measures presented by other companies. The most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure is the common and preferred equity to total assets ratio. For a quantitative reconciliation of these non-U.S. GAAP financial measures to our common and preferred equity to total assets ratio, see "Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures."

International Financial Reporting Standards Because HSBC reports financial information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and IFRSs operating results are used in measuring and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors net income under IFRSs (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure). All purchase accounting fair value adjustments relating to our acquisition by HSBC have been "pushed down" to HSBC Finance Corporation for both U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. The following table reconciles our net income on a U.S. GAAP basis to a net gain (loss) on an IFRSs basis:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months I June 30				
		2014		2013		2014		2013	
				(in mi	(in million				
Net income – U.S. GAAP basis	\$	229	\$	220	\$	335	\$	446	
Adjustments, net of tax:									
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for sale		(137)		(324)		(275)		(740)	
Loan impairment		(3)		127		29		156	
Tax valuation allowances		(2)				18			
Loss on sale of Insurance business		_						(92)	
Litigation expenses		6		26		6		26	
Derivatives and hedge accounting (including fair value adjustments)		(1)		(1)		(1)		(1)	
Loan origination cost deferrals		5				9		3	
Interest recognition		5		(11)		4		(11)	
Securities		_							
Present value of long term insurance contracts								1	
Pension and other postretirement benefit costs		2		3		2		7	
Other		4		5		6		1	
Net income (loss) – IFRSs basis		108		45		133		(204)	
Tax (expense) benefit – IFRSs basis		(44)		21		37		149	
Income (loss) before tax – IFRSs basis	\$	152	\$	24	\$	96	\$	(353)	

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impact our results are presented in our 2013 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since December 31, 2013 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs impacting our results.

Quantitative Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures For quantitative reconciliations of non-U.S. GAAP financial measures presented herein to the equivalent U.S. GAAP basis financial measures, see "Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures."

Receivables Review

The following table summarizes receivables and receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 and increases (decreases) since March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

			ses) From						
	June 30, 2014			March 3	1, 2014		December	31, 2013	
				\$	%		\$	%	
		(dollars are in millions)							
Receivables:									
Real estate secured:									
First lien	\$	21,682	\$	(917)	(4.1)%	\$	(1,886)	(8.0)%	
Second lien		2,791		(91)	(3.2)		(225)	(7.5)	
Total real estate secured receivables held for investment ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	\$	24,473	\$	(1,008)	(4.0)%	\$	(2,111)	(7.9)%	
Receivables held for sale:									
First lien real estate secured receivables held for sale ⁽³⁾	\$	1,874	\$	(546)	(22.6)%	\$	(173)	(8.5)%	

At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 real estate secured receivables held for investment includes \$825 million, \$927 million and \$879 million, respectively, of receivables that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policy.

Real estate secured receivables held for investment The decrease since March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects the continued liquidation of the real estate secured receivable portfolio which will continue going forward as well as the transfer of real estate secured receivables to held for sale with a carrying value prior to transfer of approximately \$332 million and \$674 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. The liquidation rates in our real estate secured receivable portfolio continue to be impacted by low loan prepayments as few refinancing opportunities for our customers exist.

Prior to 2013, real estate markets in a large portion of the United States had been affected by stagnation or declines in property values for a number of years. As a result, the loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our real estate secured receivable portfolios have generally deteriorated since origination. Receivables that have an LTV greater than 100 percent have historically had a greater likelihood of becoming delinquent, resulting in higher loss severities which adversely impacts our provision for credit losses. The following table presents LTV ratios for our real estate secured receivable portfolio held for investment as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. The improvement in LTV ratios since December 31, 2013 reflects modest improvements in home prices.

	LTV Ratios (1)(2)(3)							
	June 30	, 2014	December	31, 2013				
	First Lien	Second Lien	First Lien	Second Lien				
LTV < 80%	44%	17%	41%	15%				
$80\% \le LTV < 90\%$	18	12	18	12				
$90\% \le LTV < 100\%$	17	17	17	17				
LTV ≥ 100%	21	54	24	56				
Average LTV for portfolio	82	101	84	103				
Average LTV for LTV\ge 100\%	112	118	114	120				

⁽¹⁾ LTV ratios for first liens are calculated using the receivable balance, excluding any accrued interest income, as of the reporting date (including any charge-offs recorded to reduce receivables to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off

⁽²⁾ As discussed below, as a result of the transfer of certain real estate secured receivables to held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the trend for changes in receivable balances between June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects more than the change in the underlying receivables.

⁽³⁾ See Note 6, "Receivables Held for Sale," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for detail information related to the movements in the real estate secured receivables held for sale balances between periods.

policies). LTV ratios for second liens are calculated using the receivable balance as of the reporting date (including any charge-offs recorded to reduce receivables to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies) plus the senior lien amount at origination. For purposes of this disclosure, current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of receivable origination updated by the change in the Federal Housing Finance Agency's (formerly known as the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight) house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Area ("CBSA") or state level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. As a result, actual property values associated with loans that end in foreclosure may significantly differ from the estimated values used for purposes of this disclosure.

- For purposes of this disclosure, current estimated property values are calculated using the most current HPI's available and applied on an individual loan basis, which results in an approximate three month delay in the production of reportable statistics for the current period. Therefore, the June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using HPIs as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2013, respectively.
- (3) Excludes the purchased receivable portfolios which totaled \$798 million and \$831 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

Receivables held for sale Receivables held for sale totaled \$1,874 million at June 30, 2014 compared with \$2,420 million at March 31, 2014 and \$2,047 million at December 31, 2013. The decrease as compared with both periods reflects the sale of a pool of real estate secured receivables on May 1, 2014 as previously discussed as well as short sales of receivables held for sale and the transfer of receivables held for sale to REO which occurred during the six months ended June 30, 2014. This decrease was partially offset by the transfer of additional real estate secured receivables which had been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies into receivables held for sale with a fair value of approximately \$272 million and \$534 million at the time transfer during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, as discussed above. The decrease was also partially offset by an increase in the fair value of the real estate receivables held for sale during the first half of 2014. See Note 6, "Receivables Held for Sale," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Real Estate Owned

The following table provides quarterly information regarding our REO properties:

	Quarter Ended										
	June 30, 2014	Mar. 31, 2014	Dec. 31, 2013	Sept. 30, 2013	June 30, 2013						
Number of REO properties at end of period	2,226	2,912	4,149	4,599	3,984						
Number of properties added to REO inventory in the period	1,028	1,125	2,008	2,727	2,659						
Average loss (gain) on sale of REO properties ⁽¹⁾	(2.0)%	(.6)%	(.2)%	.4%	.1%						
Average total loss on foreclosed properties ⁽²⁾	49.0 %	51.5 %	51.9 %	51.2%	50.3%						
Average time to sell REO properties (in days)	166	156	157	150	150						

Property acquired through foreclosure is initially recognized at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less estimated costs to sell ("Initial REO Carrying Amount"). The average loss on sale of REO properties is calculated as cash proceeds less the Initial REO Carrying Amount divided by the unpaid loan principal balance prior to write-down (excluding any accrued interest income) plus certain other ancillary disbursements that, by law, are reimbursable from the cash proceeds (e.g., real estate tax advances) and were incurred prior to our taking title to the property and does not include holding costs on REO properties. This ratio represents the portion of our total loss on foreclosed properties that occurred after we took title to the property.

As previously reported, beginning in late 2010 we temporarily suspended all new foreclosure proceedings and in early 2011 temporarily suspended foreclosures in process where judgment had not yet been entered while we enhanced foreclosure documentation and processes for foreclosures and re-filed affidavits where necessary. Currently we have resumed processing suspended foreclosure actions in all states and have referred substantially all of the backlog of loans for foreclosure. We have also begun initiating new foreclosure activities in all states. The number of REO properties at June 30, 2014 declined as compared with the prior quarter as we sold more REO properties than were added to inventory. The decrease in the number of properties added to REO inventory during the second quarter of 2014 resulted from many of the receivables for which the underlying property had been in the process of foreclosure, were sold prior to the completion of the foreclosure process. The number of REO properties added to inventory during the remainder of 2014 and beyond will continue to be impacted by our receivable sale program as many

The average total loss on foreclosed properties sold each quarter includes both the loss on sale of the REO property as discussed above and the cumulative write-downs recognized on the loans up to the time we took title to the property. This calculation of the average total loss on foreclosed properties uses the unpaid loan principal balance prior to write-down (excluding any accrued interest income) plus certain other ancillary disbursements that, by law, are reimbursable from the cash proceeds (e.g., real estate tax advances) and were incurred prior to the date we took title to the property and does not include holding costs on REO properties.

of the properties currently in the process of foreclosure will be sold prior to our taking title and, to a lesser extent, will be impacted by the extended foreclosure timelines.

The average gain on sale of REO properties and the average total loss on foreclosed properties for the second quarter of 2014 improved as compared with the prior quarter due to improvements in home prices.

Results of Operations

Unless noted otherwise, the following discusses amounts from continuing operations as reported in our consolidated statement of income.

Net Interest Income The following table summarizes net interest income and net interest margin for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

	2014	% ⁽¹⁾	2013		% ⁽¹⁾
		(dollars are	in m	illions)	
Three Months Ended June 30:					
Interest income	\$ 492	5.97%	\$	591	5.79%
Interest expense	267	3.24		353	3.46
Net interest income	\$ 225	2.73%	\$	238	2.33%
Six Months Ended June 30:					
Interest income	\$ 998	5.93%	\$	1,364	6.51%
Interest expense	541	3.22		732	3.50
Net interest income	\$ 457	2.71%	\$	632	3.01%

^{(1) %} Columns: comparison to average interest-earning assets.

Net interest income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the year-ago periods due to the following:

- Average receivable levels decreased as a result of real estate secured receivable liquidation, including real estate secured receivable sales subsequent to June 30, 2013, and, for the six months ended June 30, 2014, as a result of the sale of our portfolio of personal non-credit card receivables on April 1, 2013.
- Overall receivable yields increased during the three months ended June 30, 2014 due to higher yields in our real estate secured receivable portfolio due to lower levels of nonaccrual receivables. Overall receivable yields decreased during the six months ended June 30, 2014 as a result of a significant shift in receivable mix to higher levels of lower yielding first lien real estate secured receivables as a result of the sale of our higher yielding personal non-credit card receivable portfolio on April 1, 2013 and continued run-off in our second lien real estate secured receivables portfolio. The decrease during the six months ended June 30, 2014 was partially offset by lower levels of nonaccrual receivables.
- Interest expense decreased resulting largely from lower average borrowings and lower average rates.

Net interest margin was 2.73 percent and 2.71 percent for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with 2.33 percent and 3.01 percent for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. The increase in net interest margin during the three months ended June 30, 2014 reflects higher yields in our real estate secured receivable portfolio as discussed above and a lower cost of funds as a percentage of average interest earning assets. The decrease in net interest margin during the six months ended June 30, 2014 reflects lower overall receivable yields as discussed above partially offset by a lower cost of funds as a percentage of average interest earning assets. The following table summarizes the significant trends affecting the comparability of net interest income and net interest margin:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2014				Six Month June 30	
			nillions)			
Net interest income/net interest margin from prior year quarter	\$	238	2.33%	\$	632	3.01%
Impact to net interest income resulting from:					;	
Lower asset levels		(128)			(334)	
Receivable yields		30			(38)	
Cost of funds (rate and volume)		86			190	
Other		(1)			7	
Net interest income/net interest margin for current quarter	\$	225	2.73%	\$	457	2.71%

The varying maturities and repricing frequencies of both our assets and liabilities expose us to interest rate risk. When the various risks inherent in both the asset and the debt do not meet our desired risk profile, we use derivative financial instruments to manage these risks to acceptable interest rate risk levels. See "Risk Management" for additional information regarding interest rate risk and derivative financial instruments.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes provision for credit losses by product:

Three Months Ended June 30: Real estate secured \$ Personal non-credit card \$ Total provision for credit losses \$	(in mill	lions)	
Real estate secured			
Personal non-credit card			
	(184)	\$	272
Total provision for credit losses	(13)		(5)
	(197)	\$	267
Six Months Ended June 30:			
Real estate secured	(178)	\$	328
Personal non-credit card	(17)		(37)
Total provision for credit losses.	(195)	\$	291

Our provision for credit losses decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the year-ago periods as discussed below.

- The provision for credit losses for real estate secured loans significantly improved for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflecting the impact of lower loss estimates due to lower receivable levels and improved credit quality, including lower dollars of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent as compared with the yearago periods. The improvement also reflects the transfer of certain real estate secured receivables to held for sale subsequent to June 30, 2013. Subsequent to the transfer to held for sale no further provision for credit losses are recorded on these receivables as receivables held for sale are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The improvement in the provision for credit losses also reflects lower new troubled debt restructure loan ("TDR Loan") volumes and lower reserve requirements on TDR Loans resulting from improvements in loss and severity estimates based on recent trends in the portfolio.
- The provision for credit losses for personal non-credit card receivables for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 reflects recoveries received from borrowers on fully charged-off personal non-credit card receivables that were not transferred to held for sale because there were no receivable balances outstanding. Additionally, the six months ended June 30, 2013 includes cash proceeds received from the bulk sale of recovery rights of certain previously charged-off personal non-credit card receivables.

The provision for credit losses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 also reflects the sale of recovery rights in May 2014 for receivables with outstanding balances of \$3.3 billion which had previously been fully charged-off. The cash proceeds from this transaction of \$57 million were recorded as a recovery of charged-off receivables during the second quarter of 2014.

Net charge-offs totaled \$108 million and \$386 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with \$482 million and \$808 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. The decrease in net charge-offs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflects lower charge-off on accounts that reach 180 days contractual delinquency as a result of improvements in home prices since June 30, 2013 as well as the impact of the sale of the recovery rights discussed above. The

decrease also reflects the impact of the transfer of certain real estate secured receivables to held for sale subsequent to June 30, 2013 as there are no longer any charge-offs associated with the receivables after the transfer to held for sale which impacts comparability between the periods. See "Credit Quality" for further discussion of our net charge-offs.

Credit loss reserves at June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as the provision for credit losses was lower than net charge-offs by \$305 million and \$581 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. The decrease compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects lower reserve requirements on TDR Loans, lower receivable levels and lower levels of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent. Reserve requirements on TDR Loans were lower at June 30, 2014 due to lower new TDR Loan volumes as well as the impact of continuing improvements in loss and severity estimates based on recent trends in the portfolio. The decrease also reflects the transfer to held for sale of additional real estate secured receivables during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 which had been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell as previously discussed. Credit loss reserves associated with these receivables prior to their transfer to held for sale totaled \$18 million and \$38 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, and were recognized as an additional charge-off at the time of the transfer to held for sale. See "Credit Quality" for further discussion of credit loss reserves.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

					Increase (l	Decrease)
	2014	2013		Amount		%
		(d	ollars are	in m	illions)	
Three Months Ended June 30:						
Derivative related income (expense)	\$ (90)	\$	186	\$	(276)	*
Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives	42		119		(77)	(64.7)%
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates	6		6			
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables held for sale	97		372		(275)	(73.9)
Other income (loss)	(8)		(55)		47	85.5
Total other revenues	 47	\$	628	\$	(581)	(92.5)%
Six Months Ended June 30:						
Derivative related income (expense)	\$ (180)	\$	86	\$	(266)	*
Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives	73		135		(62)	(45.9)%
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates	14		13		1	7.7
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables held for sale	208		826		(618)	(74.8)
Other income (loss)	14		(78)		92	*
Total other revenues	\$ 129	\$	982	\$	(853)	(86.9)%

Not meaningful

Derivative related income (expense) includes realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives which do not qualify as effective hedges under hedge accounting principles, ineffectiveness on derivatives which are qualifying hedges and, for the six months ended June 30, 2013, a derivative loss recognized on the termination of hedges on certain debt as discussed more fully below. Designation of swaps as effective hedges reduces the volatility that would otherwise result from mark-to-market accounting. All derivatives are economic hedges of the underlying debt instruments regardless of the accounting treatment. The following table summarizes derivative related income (expense) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

	Three Months End June 30, 2014 201				Six Months End June 30,		nded	
				2013		2014		2013
				(in mi	llion	s)		
Net realized losses	\$	(27)	\$	(26)	\$	(53)	\$	(53)
Mark-to-market on derivatives which do not qualify as effective hedges		(66)		207		(135)		317
Hedge accounting ineffectiveness		3		5		8		21
Derivative loss recognized on termination of hedges		_						(199)
Total	\$	(90)	\$	186	\$	(180)	\$	86

As previously discussed, our real estate secured receivables are remaining on the balance sheet longer due to lower prepayment rates. At June 30, 2014, we had \$3.2 billion of interest rate swaps outstanding for the purpose of offsetting the increase in the duration of these receivables and the corresponding increase in interest rate risk as measured by the present value of a basis point ("PVBP"). While these positions acted as economic hedges by lowering our overall interest rate risk and more closely matching both the structure and duration of our liabilities to the structure and duration of our assets, they did not qualify as effective hedges under hedge accounting principles. As a result, these positions are carried at fair value and are marked-to-market through income while the item being hedged is not carried at fair value and, therefore, no offsetting fair value adjustment is recorded. Our non-qualifying hedges at June 30, 2014 are primarily longer-dated pay fixed/receive variable interest rate swaps with an average life of 9.9 years. Market value movements for the longer-dated pay fixed/receive variable interest rate swaps may be volatile during periods in which long-term interest rates fluctuate, but they economically lock in fixed interest rates for a set period of time which results in funding that is better aligned with longer term assets when considered in conjunction with variable rate borrowings.

Derivative related income (expense) for the six months ended June 30, 2013 was impacted by a derivative loss of \$199 million recognized on the termination of hedges on certain debt as discussed more fully below. Excluding this item from the prior year period, derivative related income (expense) declined during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as a result of falling long-term interest rates during the first half of 2014 which had a negative impact on the mark-to-market for this portfolio of swaps. Rising long-term interest rates during the first half of 2013 had a positive impact on the mark-to-market for this portfolio of swaps during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. Ineffectiveness during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 was primarily related to our cross currency cash flow hedges that are approaching maturity.

As discussed in previous filings, we have approximately \$1.0 billion of junior subordinated notes issued to HSBC Finance Capital Trust IX ("HFCT IX"). HFCT IX, which is a related but unconsolidated entity, issued trust preferred securities to third party investors to fund the purchase of the junior subordinated notes. In October 2013, U.S. Regulators published a final rule in the Federal Register implementing the Basel III capital framework under which the qualification of trust preferred securities as Tier I capital will be phased out. In anticipation of these changes as well as other recent changes in our assessment of cash flow needs, including long term funding considerations, in the first quarter of 2013 we terminated the associated cash flow hedges associated with these notes, which resulted in the reclassification to income of \$199 million of unrealized losses previously accumulated in other comprehensive income during the six months ended June 30, 2013.

Net income volatility, whether based on changes in interest rates for swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting or ineffectiveness recorded on our qualifying hedges under the long haul method of accounting, impacts the comparability of our reported results between periods. Accordingly, derivative related income (expense) for the six months ended June 30, 2014 or any prior periods should not be considered indicative of the results for any future periods.

Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives reflects fair value changes on our fixed rate debt accounted for under fair value option ("FVO") as well as the fair value changes and realized gains (losses) on the related derivatives associated with debt designated at fair value. Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives was lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 primarily related to changes in market movements on certain debt and related derivatives that mature in the near term as well as tightening of our credit spreads during the first half of 2014. See Note 7, "Fair Value Option," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information, including a break out of the components of the gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates represents revenue received under service level agreements under which we service real estate secured receivables as well as rental revenue from HSBC Technology & Services (USA) Inc. ("HTSU") for certain office and administrative costs. Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 were flat as compared with the year-ago periods.

Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on receivables held for sale for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 is summarized in the following table:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Montl June		
	2014 2013					2014	2013	
				(in mi	llio	ns)		
Initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded on real estate secured receivables transferred to held for sale during the period	\$	42	\$	99	\$	102	\$	99
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment subsequent to the initial transfer to held for sale		(139)		(471)		(310)		(925)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment	\$	(97)	\$	(372)	\$	(208)	\$	(826)

As discussed in prior filings, during the second quarter of 2013 we transferred to held for sale all first lien real estate secured receivables held for investment meeting pre-determined criteria which had been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policy as of June 30, 2013 and we adopted a formal program to initiate sale activities for real estate secured receivables in our held for investment portfolio when a receivable meeting pre-determined criteria was written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell. This resulted in the transfer of receivables to held for sale with a carrying value of \$1,755 million during the second quarter of 2013 as compared with transfers of receivables to held for sale with a carrying value of \$332 million and \$674 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. While the volume of receivables transferred to held for sale was much greater during the prior year periods, the initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded on real estate secured receivables transferred to held for sale is modestly higher during the six months ended June 30, 2014 as a result of home price improvements subsequent to June 30, 2013. Improvements in home prices reduce the severity recorded on receivables held for investment when they reach 180-days contractually delinquent which results in a larger lower of amortized cost or fair value when the receivables is transferred to held for sale.

While both the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were positively impacted by an increase in the fair value of the real estate secured receivables held for sale, the impact was more significant during the year-ago periods as improvements in the conditions in the housing industry were more pronounced in the year-ago periods.

See Note 6, "Receivables Held for Sale," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional discussion.

Other income (loss) was a loss of \$8 million and income of \$14 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared with a loss of \$55 million and \$78 million in the year-ago periods. All periods were impacted by changes in the estimated repurchase liability recorded through earnings as discussed and reflected in the table below. Excluding this item from the periods presented, other income decreased during the three months ended June 30, 2014 as the prior year quarter includes servicing fee revenue for the period of time that we serviced the personal non-credit card receivable portfolio prior to the conversion of the receivables to the purchaser's systems. Excluding the impact of the changes in the estimated repurchase liability from the periods presented, other income was essentially flat during the year-to-date period.

Our reserve for potential repurchase liability represents our best estimate of the loss that has been incurred resulting from various representations and warranties in the contractual provisions of all of our loan sales. Our repurchase liability exposure at June 30, 2014 of \$81 million primarily relates to receivables sold by Decision One in previous years and also includes recent receivable sales. Because the level of loan repurchase losses are dependent upon investor strategies for bringing claims or pursuing legal action for losses incurred, the level of the liability for loan repurchase losses requires significant judgment. The following table summarizes the changes in our reserve for potential repurchase liability related to all of our loan sales:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Mont June	 	
	2014			2013		2014	2013	
				(in m	illions	s)		
Balance at beginning of period	\$	82	\$	61	\$	116	\$ 36	
Increase (decrease) in liability recorded through earnings		10		62		(6)	87	
Realized losses		(11)		_		(29)	_	
Balance at end of period	\$	81	\$	123	\$	81	\$ 123	

As we have limited information of the losses incurred by investors, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably possible that they could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between zero and \$62 million at June 30, 2014 related to claims that have been filed.

Operating Expenses Compliance costs, which continued to impact our operating expenses, totaled \$12 million and \$23 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared with \$13 million and \$48 million during the yearago period primarily within other servicing and administrative expenses. While compliance related costs remain elevated as compared with historical periods due to the remediation requirements and continuing compliance of the Federal Reserve Servicing Consent Order, our agreement in the first quarter of 2013 with the Federal Reserve to cease the Independent Foreclosure Review has positively impacted our compliance cost trends. We anticipate compliance costs will decline over time as we continue to runoff the real estate secured receivable portfolio.

The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses. The cost trends in the table below include fixed allocated costs which have not necessarily declined in line with the run-off of our loan portfolio, which will continue in future periods.

					Increase (I	Decrease)
	2014		2013	A	mount	%
		(dollars ar	in m	illions)	
Three Months Ended June 30:						
Salaries and employee benefits	\$ 51	\$	51	\$		<u> </u>
Occupancy and equipment expenses, net	9		9			
Real estate owned expenses	_		20		(20)	(100.0)
Other servicing and administrative expenses	(12)		48		(60)	*
Support services from HSBC affiliates	73		67		6	9.0
Total operating expenses	\$ 121	\$	195	\$	(74)	(37.9)%
Six Months Ended June 30:						
Salaries and employee benefits	\$ 107	\$	115	\$	(8)	(7.0)%
Occupancy and equipment expenses, net	18		18			
Real estate owned expenses	12		42		(30)	(71.4)
Other servicing and administrative expenses	68		153		(85)	(55.6)
Support services from HSBC affiliates	133		135		(2)	(1.5)
Total operating expenses	\$ 338	\$	463	\$	(125)	(27.0)%

Not meaningful

Salaries and employee benefits have been impacted during the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 by differences in the timing of adjustments in severance accruals. Excluding the impact of the timing of the severance accrual adjustments in both periods, salaries and employee benefits was lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the yearago periods due to the impact of the continuing reduced scope of our business operations and the impact of entity-wide initiatives to reduce costs. The decrease also reflects the impact of the conversion of the personal non-credit card receivables to the purchaser's system on September 1, 2013 which also resulted in the transfer of over 200 employees to the purchaser as discussed more fully in Note 6, "Receivables Held for Sale." These decreases were partially offset by increased staffing associated with the transfer of additional employees to HSBC Finance Corporation who had previously been centralized in North America and whose salary and employee benefits were previously allocated to us but primarily support the activities of HSBC Finance Corporation. Beginning on January 1, 2014, the salary and employee benefits related to these additional employees are now reported within HSBC Finance Corporation.

Occupancy and equipment expenses, net were flat during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the year-ago periods.

Real estate owned expenses during the second quarter of 2014 were less than \$1 million as estimated losses and holding costs on REO properties were completely offset by gains on sales of REO properties as a result of improvements in home prices. REO expenses were lower during the six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the prior year period due to higher gains on sales of REO properties and lower holding costs.

Other servicing and administrative expenses during the second quarters of 2014 and 2013 includes a reduction in an accrual related to regulatory mortgage servicing matters of \$60 million and \$14 million, respectively. Excluding this item from the periods presented, other servicing and administrative expenses decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflecting a continuing reduction in the scope of our business operations and the impact of entity-wide initiatives to reduce costs. The decrease

also reflects lower fees for consulting services as a result of our agreement in the first quarter of 2013 with the Federal Reserve to cease the Independent Foreclosure Review.

Support services from HSBC affiliates during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 includes \$6 million related to an increase in the severance accrual related to employees centralized in North America. Excluding this item, support services from HSBC affiliates was flat during the three months ended June 30, 2014 and decreased during the six months ended June 30, 2014 reflecting lower technology costs from HSBC affiliates and lower fees for receivables serviced by HSBC affiliates as a result of the sale of the personal non-credit card receivable portfolio on April 1, 2013 although the impact was more pronounced during the six months ended June 30, 2014. Support services from HSBC affiliates also decreased due to the impact of additional employees who had previously been centralized in North America and billed to HSBC Finance Corporation now being reported within salaries and employee benefits of HSBC Finance Corporation effective January 1, 2014 as discussed above.

Efficiency Ratio from continuing operations was 44.5 percent and 57.7 percent during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with 22.5 percent and 28.7 percent during the year-ago periods. Our efficiency ratio was higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as a result of lower other revenues during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as the prior year periods benefited from a larger improvement in the fair value of real estate secured receivables held for sale. The efficiency ratio was also negatively impacted by lower net interest income, partially offset by lower operating expenses.

Income taxes The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective income tax rates based on the total tax provision attributable to pretax income and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

	2014	ļ.		2013	
	,	(dollars are	in mil	lions)	
Three Months Ended June 30,					
Tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate \$	122	35.0%	\$	141	35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:					
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit	5	1.5		2	.5
Adjustment with respect to tax for prior periods ⁽¹⁾	(1)	(.3)		14	3.5
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes	_	_		(6)	(1.6)
Change in valuation allowance reserves ⁽³⁾	(7)	(2.0)		(15)	(3.8)
Uncertain tax positions ⁽⁴⁾	1	.3			
Other non-deductible/non-taxable items	(6)	(1.7)		(5)	(1.2)
Impact of foreign operations	_	_		2	.5
Other	(2)	(.6)		_	
Total income tax provision.	112	32.2%	\$	133	32.9%
Six Months Ended June 30,					
Tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate	155	35.0%	\$	300	35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:					
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit	7	1.5		5	.6
Adjustment with respect to tax for prior periods ⁽¹⁾	5	1.2		4	.5
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes ⁽²⁾	(52)	(11.7)		(11)	(1.3)
Change in valuation allowance reserves ⁽³⁾	(11)	(2.5)		(5)	(.6)
Uncertain tax positions ⁽⁴⁾	(2)	(.5)		(5)	(.6)
Other non-deductible/non-taxable items	(7)	(1.6)		(5)	(.6)
Impact of foreign operations	_	_		2	.1
Total income tax provision	95	21.4%	\$	285	33.1%
	=	<u> </u>	Ψ		33.17

⁽¹⁾ For 2014, the amounts relate to changes in estimates in the amount of state income taxes deductible on the federal income tax return. For 2013, the amounts relate to corrections to current and deferred tax balance sheet accounts and changes in estimates as a result of filing the federal and state income tax returns.

⁽²⁾ For 2014, the amounts primarily relate to the effects of re-valuing our deferred tax assets for New York State Tax Reform that was enacted on March 31, 2014.

- (3) For 2014 and 2013, the amounts primarily relate to changes in valuation allowance reserves in states with net operating loss carryforward periods of 12 to 20 years.
- (4) For 2014 and 2013, the amounts primarily relate to the conclusion of state audits and expiration of state statutes of limitations.

During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and local tax audits resulting in the settlement of uncertain tax positions covering a number of years. While the settlement did not have a significant impact on income tax expense, we released accrued interest associated with the settlement which resulted in a \$6 million benefit to interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014.

On March 31, 2014, New York Governor Cuomo signed legislation overhauling New York's corporate tax regime as well other significant tax changes. Most of these changes take effect for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2015 and will have a significant and positive future economic impact on HSBC entities with activity taxed in New York State, including us. As a result, these changes had an impact on our deferred taxes at March 31, 2014 and resulted in an increase to our net deferred tax asset of approximately \$55 million at March 31, 2014.

Segment Results - IFRSs Basis

We have one reportable segment: Consumer. Our Consumer segment consists of our run-off Consumer Lending and Mortgage Services businesses. While these businesses are operating in run-off, they have not been reported as discontinued operations because we continue to generate cash flow from the ongoing collections of the receivables, including interest and fees. Our segment results are reported on a continuing operations basis. There have been no changes in measurement or composition of our segment reporting as compared with the presentation in our 2013 Form 10-K.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with IFRSs. Our segment results are presented in accordance with IFRSs (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) on a legal entity basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed and trends are evaluated on an IFRSs basis. However, we continue to monitor liquidity and capital adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

Consumer Segment The following table summarizes the IFRSs results for our Consumer segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

						Increase (I	Decrease)
		2014		2013		Amount	%
				(dollars are	in m	illions)	
Three Months Ended June 30,							
Net interest income	\$	370	\$	493	\$	(123)	(24.9)%
Other operating income		(77)	_	(116)		39	33.6
Total operating income		293		377		(84)	(22.3)
Loan impairment charges		11		124		113	91.1
Net interest income and other operating income after loan impairment charges		282		253		29	11.5
Operating expenses		124		153		29	19.0
Income before income tax	\$	158	\$	100	\$	58	58.0%
Net interest margin		4.54%	_	4.80%			
Efficiency ratio		42.3		40.6			
Return (after-tax) on average assets ("ROA")		1.2		.9			
Six Months Ended June 30,							
Net interest income	\$	742	\$	1,129	\$	(387)	(34.3)%
Other operating income		(161)		(315)		154	48.9
Total operating income		581		814		(233)	(28.6)
Loan impairment charges		129		443		314	70.9
Net interest income and other operating income after loan impairment charges		452		371		81	21.8
Operating expenses		340		408		68	16.7
Income (loss) before income tax	\$	112	\$	(37)	\$	149	*
Net interest margin	_	4.44%	_	5.28%			
Efficiency ratio		58.5		50.1			
Return (after-tax) on average assets ("ROA")		.8		.1			
Balances at end of period:							
•	\$	26,379	\$	34,498	\$	(8,119)	(23.5)%
Loans held for sale		192		406		(214)	(52.7)
Assets		35,784		43,839		(8,055)	(18.4)

^{*} Not meaningful

Our Consumer segment reported income before income tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with income before income tax during the three months ended June 30, 2013 and a loss before income tax during the six months ended June 30, 2013. The improvement in both periods reflects lower loan impairment charges, improvements in other operating income and lower operating expenses, partially offset by lower net interest income.

Loan impairment charges improved during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we updated our review under IFRSs to reflect the period of time after a loss event that a loan remains current before delinquency is observed which results in an estimated average period of time from a loss event occurring and its ultimate migration from current status through to delinquency and ultimately write-off for real estate secured loans collectively evaluated for impairment using a roll rate migration analysis of 12 months. This resulted in an incremental loan impairment charge of \$110 million under IFRSs during the second quarter of 2013. Excluding the impact of this incremental loan impairment charge, loan impairment charges were higher during the three months ended June 30, 2014 and lower during the six months ended June 30, 2014 as discussed below:

- The increase in loan impairment charges during the three months ended June 30, 2014 reflects a smaller improvement in market value adjustments on loan collateral during the current quarter as improvements in market value adjustments on loan collateral were significantly more pronounced during the second quarter of 2013. The decrease in loan impairment charges for the six months ended June 30, 2014 reflects lower levels of new impaired loans and lower loan balances outstanding as a result of continued liquidation of the portfolio including loan sales as well as lower loss estimates due to lower delinquency and loss severity levels as compared with the prior year period, partially offset by lower market value adjustments on loan collateral.
- Loan impairment charges for personal non-credit card loans decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as the portfolio was sold on April 1, 2013.

Loan impairment charges were \$190 million and \$391 million lower than net charge-offs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared with loan impairment charges lower than net charge-offs of \$95 million and \$316 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively. Loan impairment allowances decreased to \$2,290 million at June 30, 2014 compared with \$2,960 million at December 31, 2013 as a result of lower levels of new impaired loans as a result of lower loan levels and improved economic conditions, improvements in loss severity, lower delinquency levels and transfers of real estate secured loans to held for sale. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 real estate secured loans transferred to held for sale had loan impairment allowances totaling \$30 million and \$191 million at the time of transfer. Loans held for sale and the associated loan impairment allowances are reported as a component of other assets. However, these loans continue to be accounted for and impairment continues to be measured through loan impairment charges in accordance with IAS 39 with any gain or loss recorded at the time of sale.

On May 1, 2014, we completed a sale of real estate secured loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of \$1,255 million (carrying value of \$863 million after impairment allowance and including the effect of write-downs) at the time of sale to a third-party investor and realized a gain of approximately \$15 million, net of transaction costs, during the second quarter of 2014.

In May 2014, we sold the recovery rights to loans with outstanding balances of \$3.3 billion which had previously been fully charged-off. As a result of this transaction, we recorded a loss of \$8 million during the second quarter of 2014.

As discussed previously, we have identified a pool of real estate secured loans we intend to sell, although only a portion of this pool of real estate secured loans currently qualifies for classification as held for sale under IFRSs at June 30, 2014. Assuming we had completed the sale of the entire pool of real estate secured loans held for sale under U.S. GAAP on June 30, 2014, based on market values at that time, we would have recorded a gain of approximately \$99 million before consideration of transaction costs.

On July 1, 2014, we completed the sale of real estate secured receivables with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of \$289 million (carrying value of \$192 million after impairment allowance and including the effect of write-downs) at the time of sale to a third-party investor and expect to realize a gain of \$94 million during the third quarter of 2014.

During July 2014, we commenced the active marketing to sell a further portion of our real estate secured loans. At that time, the sale was considered highly probable and these loans were classified as held for sale under IFRSs. As of June 30, 2014, the loans had an unpaid principal balance of approximately \$1.1 billion and a carrying amount before impairment allowance, but including the effect of write-downs, of approximately \$729 million. We expect to complete the sale of these loans no later than October 2014.

Net interest income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 due to lower average loan levels as compared with the year-ago periods primarily as a result of the sale of our portfolio of personal non-credit card loans on April 1, 2013 and certain real estate secured loan sales subsequent to June 30, 2013 and lower overall loan yields, partially offset by lower interest expense. Overall loan yields decreased during the three months ended June 30, 2014 due to changes in yield assumptions on loans participating in payment incentive programs, partially offset by the impact of improved credit quality for real estate secured loans. Overall loan yields for the six months ended June 30, 2014 decreased as a result of the sale of our higher yielding personal non-credit card loan portfolio which resulted in a significant shift in mix to higher levels of lower yielding first lien real estate secured loans as well as changes in yield assumptions on loans participating in payment incentive programs, partially offset by the impact of improved credit quality for real estate secured loans. Lower interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflects lower average borrowings and a lower cost of funds. Net interest margin decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflecting the lower overall loan yields as discussed above, partially offset by the lower cost of funds as a percentage of average interest earning assets.

Other operating income improved during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the year-ago periods. The following table summarizes significant components of other operating income for the periods presented:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Montl June			
	2	014		2013	2014			2013	
			(in millions)						
Trading income (loss) ⁽¹⁾	\$	(90)	\$	137	\$	(180)	\$	12	
Loss from debt designated at fair value		(12)				(42)		(70)	
Gain on sale of real estate secured receivables		15				15			
Loss on sale of recovery rights		(8)				(8)			
Loss on sale of personal non-credit card loan portfolio		_		(271)				(271)	
Other		18		18		54		14	
Total other operating income	\$	(77)	\$	(116)	\$	(161)	\$	(315)	

⁽¹⁾ Trading loss primarily reflects activity on our portfolio of non-qualifying hedges and, for the six months ended June 30, 2013, a derivative loss on the termination of a hedge relationship as well as provisions for mortgage loan repurchase obligations.

Total other operating income was significantly impacted in the year-ago periods by a loss on the sale of our personal non-credit card loan portfolio during the second quarter of 2013. Excluding this item from the year-ago periods, total other operating income was lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 primarily due to trading losses during the current year periods as a result of the impact of falling long-term interest rates on our non-qualifying hedge portfolio during the first half of 2014. Additionally, the six months ended June 30, 2013 included a \$199 million derivative loss recognized on the termination of interest rate swaps associated with a hedge relationship. Loss from debt designated at fair value deteriorated during the three months ended June 30, 2014 as credit spreads tightened during the current quarter compared with a minimal widening of credit spreads during the prior year quarter. The loss from debt designated at fair value improved during the six months ended June 30, 2014 primarily as a result of lower losses from tighter credit spreads during the first half of 2014. Other operating income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 also reflects lower losses on sales of REO properties as compared with the year-ago periods as a result of improvements in home prices. Additionally, during the six months ended June 30, 2014 other operating income also includes reductions in the estimated repurchase liability related to receivables sold in prior years as previously discussed while the year-ago period included increases in the estimated repurchase liabilities related to receivables sold.

Operating expenses during the second quarters of 2014 and 2013 were impacted by a reduction in an accrual related to regulatory mortgage servicing matters totaling \$60 million and \$54 million, respectively. Excluding this item from all periods presented, operating expenses were lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflecting the continuing reduction in the scope of our business operations and the impact of entity-wide initiatives to reduce costs. The decrease also reflects lower fees for consulting services as a result of our agreement in the first quarter of 2013 with the Federal Reserve to cease the Independent Foreclosure Review.

The efficiency ratio for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 deteriorated as the decrease in total operating income outpaced the decrease in operating expenses.

ROA for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, ROA improved reflecting higher income during the three months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with the prior year quarter and income in the current year-to-date period as compared with a loss in the comparative year-ago period primarily driven by lower loan impairment charges, higher other operating income and lower operating expenses and the impact of lower average assets.

Customer loans Customer loans for our Consumer segment consisted of the following:

				Increases (Decre	ases)	From			
			March 31	, 2014	December 31, 2013				
	Jui	ne 30, 2014	\$	\$ %		\$	%		
			(dollar	rs are in millions)					
Real estate secured loans held for investment	\$	26,379	\$ (904)	(3.3)%	\$	(2,883)	(9.9)%		
Real estate secured loans held for sale		192	(764)	(79.9)		192	100.0		
Real estate secured held for investment and held for sale	\$	26,571	\$ (1,668)	(5.9)%	\$	(2,691)	(9.2)%		

Real estate secured loans held for investment decreased to \$26,379 million at June 30, 2014 as compared with \$27,283 million at March 31, 2014 and \$29,262 million at December 31, 2013. The decrease in our real estate secured loan portfolio reflects the continued liquidation of this portfolio which will continue going forward. The liquidation rates in our real estate secured loan portfolio continue to be impacted by declines in loan prepayments as fewer refinancing opportunities for our customers exist and the trends impacting the mortgage lending industry as previously discussed. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, pools of real estate secured loans met the IFRSs criteria to be classified as held for sale with an unpaid principal balance of \$304 million and \$1,737 million, respectively, at the time of transfer. As discussed above, the real estate secured loans held for sale at June 30, 2014 were sold on July 1, 2014.

Credit Quality

Credit Loss Reserves We maintain credit loss reserves to cover probable incurred losses of principal, interest and fees. Credit loss reserves are based on a range of estimates and are intended to be adequate but not excessive. For loans which have been identified as TDR Loans, credit loss reserves are maintained based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans' original effective interest rates. We estimate probable losses for consumer receivables which do not qualify as TDR Loans using a roll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency, or buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our portfolio. This migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between a loss occurring and the confirming event of its chargeoff. Loans with different risk characteristics are typically segregated into separate models and may utilize different periods of time for estimating the period of a loss occurring and its confirmation. This analysis also considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether borrowers have filed for bankruptcy, or loans have been re-aged or are subject to modification. Our credit loss reserves also take into consideration the loss severity expected based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of default based on historical and recent trends, which are updated monthly based on a rolling average of several months' data using the most recently available information. Delinquency status may be affected by customer account management policies and practices, such as the re-age of accounts or modification arrangements. When customer account management policies or changes thereto shift loans that do not qualify as a TDR Loan from a "higher" delinquency bucket to a "lower" delinquency bucket, this will be reflected in our roll rate statistics. To the extent that re-aged or modified accounts that do not qualify as a TDR Loan have a greater propensity to roll to higher delinquency buckets, this will be captured in the roll rates. Since the loss reserve is computed based on the composite of all of these calculations, this increase in roll rate will be applied to receivables in all respective delinquency buckets, which will increase the overall reserve level. In addition, loss reserves on consumer receivables are maintained to reflect our judgment of portfolio risk factors that may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation or when historical trends are not reflective of current inherent losses in the portfolio. Portfolio risk factors considered in establishing loss reserves on consumer receivables include product mix, unemployment rates, the credit performance of modified loans, loan product features such as adjustable rate loans, the credit performance of second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent, economic conditions, such as national and local trends in housing markets and interest rates, portfolio seasoning, account management policies and practices, changes in laws and regulations and other factors which can affect consumer payment patterns on outstanding receivables, such as natural disasters.

While our credit loss reserves are available to absorb losses in the entire portfolio, we specifically consider the credit quality and other risk factors for each of our products. We recognize the different inherent loss characteristics in each of our products as well as customer account management policies and practices and risk management/collection practices. We also consider key ratios, including reserves as a percentage of nonaccrual receivables and reserves as a percentage of receivables. Loss reserve estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are reported in earnings when they become known. As these estimates are influenced by factors outside our control, such as consumer payment patterns and economic conditions, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates, making it likely that they will change.

Real estate secured receivable carrying amounts in excess of fair value less cost to sell are generally charged-off no later than the end of the month in which the account becomes six months contractually delinquent. Values are determined based upon broker price opinions or appraisals which are updated at least every 180 days. Typically, receivables written down to fair value of the collateral less cost to sell do not require credit loss reserves.

The table below sets forth credit loss reserves and credit loss reserve ratios for the periods indicated. The transfer of certain real estate secured receivables to held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 has resulted in these receivables being carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and no longer have any associated credit loss reserves as previously discussed which impacts comparability between credit loss reserves and the related reserve ratios for June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

	June 30, March 31, 2014			Dec	cember 31, 2013
	(d	lollar	s are in mil	lions)	
Credit loss reserves: ⁽¹⁾⁽³⁾ Reserves as a percentage of: ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾	\$ 2,692	\$	2,997	\$	3,273
Receivables	9.6%	,	10.5%		11.1%
Nonaccrual receivables	197.5		172.9		166.6

⁽¹⁾ At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, credit loss reserves includes \$49 million, \$52 million and \$52 million, respectively, related to receivables held for investment which have been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell primarily reflecting an estimate of additional loss following an interior appraisal of the property.

These ratios are impacted by changes in the level of real estate secured receivables which have been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies and are not classified as held for sale. The following table shows these ratios excluding these receivables and any associated credit loss reserves for all periods presented.

	June 30, 2014	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Reserves as a percentage of:			
Receivables	9.8%	10.7%	11.3%
Nonaccrual receivables	341.9	303.2	256.2

⁽³⁾ Reserves associated with accrued finance charges, which totaled \$332 million, \$328 million and \$326 million at June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, are reported within our total credit loss reserve balances noted above, although receivables, net charge-offs and nonaccrual receivables as reported generally exclude accrued finance charges. The credit loss reserve ratios presented in the table exclude any reserves associated with accrued finance charges.

Credit loss reserves at June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 due to lower reserve requirements on TDR Loans, lower receivable levels and lower levels of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent. Reserve requirements on TDR Loans were lower at June 30, 2014 due to lower levels of new TDR Loan volumes as well as the impact of improvements in loss and severity estimates based on recent trends in the portfolio. The decrease also reflects the transfer to held for sale of additional real estate secured receivables during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 which had been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell as previously discussed. Credit loss reserves associated with these receivables prior to their transfer to held for sale totaled \$18 million and \$38 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and was recognized as an additional charge-off at the time of the transfer to held for sale.

At June 30, 2014, 85 percent of our credit loss reserves are associated with TDR Loans held for investment which total \$10,523 million and are reserved for using a discounted cash flow analysis which, in addition to considering all expected future cash flows, also takes into consideration the time value of money and the difference between the current interest rate and the original effective interest rate on the loan. This methodology generally results in a higher reserve requirement for TDR Loans than the remainder of our receivable portfolio for which credit loss reserves are established using a roll rate migration analysis that only considers 12 months of losses. This methodology is highly sensitive to changes in volumes of TDR Loans as well as changes in estimates of the timing and amount of cash flows for TDR Loans. As a result, credit loss reserves at June 30, 2014 and provisions for credit losses for TDR Loans for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 should not be considered indicative of the results for any future periods.

In addition to TDR Loans, a portion of our real estate secured receivable portfolio held for investment is carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell. The following table summarizes these receivable components along with receivables collectively evaluated for impairment and receivables acquired with deteriorated credit quality and the associated credit loss reserves associated with each component:

⁽⁴⁾ Credit loss reserve ratios exclude receivables and nonaccrual receivables associated with receivable portfolios which are considered held for sale as these receivables are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value with no corresponding credit loss reserves.

	June 30	, 201	4	March 31, 2014		December 3			31, 2013														
- -	Credit Loss Reserves		0										Receivables		Credit Loss Reserves		Receivables		Receivables		edit Loss Reserves	Re	ceivables
					(in mil	lions)																	
Collectively evaluated for impairment	\$ 376	\$	13,089	\$	539	\$	13,774	\$	604	\$	14,617												
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽¹⁾	2,264		10,523		2,405		10,767		2,616		11,076												
Receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell	49		850		52		927		52		879												
Receivables acquired with deteriorated credit quality	3		11		1		13		1		12												
Total ⁽²⁾	\$ 2,692	\$	24,473	\$	2,997	\$	25,481	\$	3,273	\$	26,584												

The receivable balance above excludes TDR Loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled \$544 million, \$637 million and \$604 million at June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The reserve component above excludes credit loss reserves for TDR Loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled \$34 million, \$39 million and \$38 million at June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. These credit loss reserves are reflected within receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in the table above.

The following table summarizes our TDR Loans and receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in in comparison to the real estate secured receivable portfolio held for investment:

		June 30, 2014	De	cember 31, 2013
		(dollars are	in r	nillions)
Total real estate secured receivables held for investment.	\$	24,473	\$	26,584
Real estate secured receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell	<u> </u>	850	\$	879
Real estate secured TDR Loans ⁽¹⁾		10,523		11,076
Real estate secured receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell or reserved for using a discounted cash flow methodology	\$	11,373	\$	11,955
Real estate secured receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell or reserved for using a discounted cash flow methodology as a percentage of real estate secured receivables		46.5%	_	45.0%

⁽¹⁾ Excludes TDR Loans which are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and included separately in the table.

Credit loss reserve ratios Following is a discussion of changes in the reserve ratios we consider in establishing reserve levels.

Reserves as a percentage of receivables were lower at June 30, 2014 as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as the decrease in credit loss reserves as discussed above outpaced the decrease in receivables.

Reserves as a percentage of nonaccrual receivables were impacted by nonaccrual real estate secured receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell. Excluding receivables carried at fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and any associated credit loss reserves from these ratios, reserves as a percentage of nonaccrual receivables at June 30, 2014 remained higher as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as the decrease in nonaccrual receivables, as discussed more fully below, outpaced the decrease in credit loss reserves.

See Note 5, "Credit Loss Reserves," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit loss reserves by product for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

Delinquency Our policies and practices for the collection of consumer receivables, including our customer account management policies and practices, permit us to modify the terms of loans, either temporarily or permanently (a "modification"), and/or to reset the contractual delinquency status of an account that is contractually delinquent to current (a "re-age"), based on indicia or criteria which, in our judgment, evidence continued payment probability. Such policies and practices differ by product and are designed to manage customer relationships, improve collection opportunities and avoid foreclosure or repossession as determined to be

⁽²⁾ Reserves associated with accrued finance charges, which totaled \$332 million, \$328 million and \$326 million at June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, are reported within our total credit loss reserve balances, although receivable balances generally exclude accrued finance charges.

appropriate. If a re-aged account subsequently experiences payment defaults, it will again become contractually delinquent and be included in our delinquency ratios.

The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency for receivables and receivables held for sale and two-months-and-over contractual delinquency as a percent of consumer receivables and receivables held for sale ("delinquency ratio"). As previously discussed, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred additional real estate secured receivables carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell to receivables held for sale which creates a lack of comparability between dollars of contractual delinquency and the delinquency ratio for June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

		June 30, 2014	N	Iarch 31, 2014	Dec	ember 31, 2013	
		((dollars are in millions)				
Dollars of contractual delinquency:							
Receivables held for investment:							
Real estate secured:							
Late stage delinquency ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	. \$	547	\$	702	\$	670	
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽³⁾		957		1,175		1,591	
Collectively evaluated for impairment ⁽⁴⁾		222		294		401	
Total real estate secured receivables held for investment	. —	1,726		2,171		2,662	
Real estate secured receivables held for sale ⁽⁵⁾		1,094		1,630		1,473	
Total	. \$	2,820	\$	3,801	\$	4,135	
Delinquency ratio:							
Receivables held for investment:							
Real estate secured:							
Late stage delinquency		64.35%		75.73%		76.22%	
Individually evaluated for impairment		9.09		10.91		14.36	
Collectively evaluated for impairment		1.69		2.13		2.74	
Total real estate secured receivables held for investment	. —	7.05		8.52		10.01	
Real estate secured receivables held for sale		58.38		67.36		71.96	
Total	. —	10.70%		13.62%		14.44%	

Two-months-and-over contractually delinquent receivables are classified as "late stage delinquency" if at any point in its life cycle it has been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies (generally 180 days past due). However, as a result of account management actions or other account activity, these receivables may no longer be greater than 180 days past due. At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the amounts above include \$181 million, \$224 million and \$279 million, respectively, of receivables that at some point in their life cycle were written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies, but are currently between 60 and 180 days past due.

Dollars of delinquency for real estate secured receivables held for investment at June 30, 2014 decreased \$445 million since March 31, 2014 and decreased \$936 million since December 31, 2013 as discussed below.

⁽²⁾ Amount includes TDR Loans which totaled \$344 million, \$442 million and \$423 million at June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

⁽³⁾ This amount represents delinquent receivables which at no point in its life cycle have ever been greater than 180 days contractually delinquent and have been classified as TDR Loans which are carried at amortized cost. For TDR Loans we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow methodology. Each loan is individually identified as a TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted cash flow impairment analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. This amount excludes TDR Loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies as they are reflected in the late stage delinquency totals.

⁽⁴⁾ This amount represents delinquent receivables which at no point in its life cycle have ever been greater than 180 days contractually delinquent and are not classified as TDR Loans. As discussed more fully above, for these receivables we establish credit loss reserves using a roll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our portfolio.

⁽⁵⁾ At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, dollars of contractual delinquency for receivable held for sale includes \$765 million, \$1,101 million and \$944 million, respectively, of real estate secured receivables held for sale which are also classified as TDR Loans.

- Late stage delinquency Dollars of late stage delinquency decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as a result of this improved credit quality as fewer accounts progressed to late stage delinquency during the first half of 2014 due to the impact of the continued improvements in economic conditions and maturing of the portfolio. The decreases also reflect the transfer of additional real estate secured receivables to held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014.
- *Individually evaluated for impairment* The decrease in dollars of delinquency for receivables individually evaluated for impairment as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects improved credit quality as a result of the impact of the continued improvements in economic conditions and account management actions taken during the first half of 2014. The decrease was partially offset by the impact of fewer accounts progressing to late stage delinquency during the first half of 2014 as a result of the improvements in credit quality.
- Collectively evaluated for impairment The decrease in dollars of delinquency for accounts collectively evaluated for impairment as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects lower receivables levels and the continued improvements in economic conditions.

Dollars of delinquency for receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflecting the sale of a pool of real estate secured receivables on May 1, 2014, partially offset by the impact of the transfer of additional real estate secured receivables to held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as well as increases in the fair value of real estate secured receivables held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as previously discussed which increases the carrying value of these receivables.

Delinquency ratio The delinquency ratio for real estate secured receivables held for investment was 7.05 percent at June 30, 2014 compared with 8.52 percent at March 31, 2014 and 10.01 percent at December 31, 2013. The decrease primarily reflects lower dollars of delinquency as discussed above, partially offset by the impact of lower levels of real estate secured receivables held for investment as previously discussed.

See "Customer Account Management Policies and Practices" regarding the delinquency treatment of re-aged and modified accounts.

Net Charge-offs of Consumer Receivables The following table summarizes net charge-off of receivables both in dollars and as a percent of average receivables ("net charge-off ratio"). During a quarter that receivables are transferred to receivables held for sale, those receivables continue to be included in the average consumer receivable balances prior to such transfer and any charge-off related to those receivables prior to such transfer remain in our net charge-off totals. However, in the quarter following the transfer to held for sale classification, the receivables are no longer included in average consumer receivables as such loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and, accordingly, there are no longer any charge-offs associated with these receivables, although recoveries on these receivables continue to be reported as a component of net charge-offs. As a result, the amounts and ratios for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 are not comparable with the amounts and ratios for the quarters ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2013.

Three Months Ended ⁽¹⁾	June 30, 2014		Marc	March 31, 2014		June 30, 2013		
		(d	ıs)	s)				
Net charge-off dollars:								
Real estate secured	\$	120	\$	282	\$	487		
Personal non-credit card ⁽²⁾		(12)		(4)		(5)		
Total	\$	108	\$	278	\$	482		
Net charge-off ratio:								
Real estate secured		1.93%		4.34%		6.31%		
Personal non-credit card ⁽²⁾		_		_				
Total		1.73%		4.28%		6.24%		
Real estate charge-offs and REO expense as a percent of average real estate secured receivables		1.93%		4.53%		6.57%		

⁽¹⁾ The net charge-off ratio for all quarterly periods presented is net charge-offs for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average consumer receivables for the quarter.

Although we sold our personal non-credit card receivable portfolio on April 1, 2013, during the quarters ended June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2013 we received recoveries on personal non-credit card receivables which were fully charged-off prior to the sale of the portfolio. These recoveries are reflected in the table above. As these personal non-credit card receivables were fully charged-off with no carrying value remaining on our consolidated balance sheet, a net charge-off ratio for our personal non-credit card receivable portfolio cannot be calculated for the periods presented. However, the recoveries for personal non-credit card receivables are reflected in the total net charge-off ratio for the periods presented in the table above.

As previously discussed, during the quarters ended June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2013, we transferred certain real estate secured receivables to held for sale which consisted of real estate secured receivables which had been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell. At the time of transfer, we held credit loss reserves associated with these receivables related to an estimate of additional loss following an interior appraisal of the property. Because these receivables were collateral dependent, credit loss reserves totaling \$18 million, \$20 million and \$119 million were recognized as an additional charge-off at the time of the transfer to held for sale during the quarters ended June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2013, respectively. Excluding this additional charge-off for the periods presented, net charge-off dollars for real estate secured receivables for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 remained lower as compared with the prior and year-ago quarters due to the impact of lower receivable levels, continued improvements in economic conditions and lower charge-off on accounts that reach 180 days contractual delinquency as a result of improvements in home prices as well as the impact of the sale of the recovery rights previously discussed. Additionally, net charge-off dollars were lower as compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2014 as the prior quarter included charge-offs of \$28 million related to 2013, which was not material to the results for that year, associated with advances made on behalf of borrowers such as real estate taxes which enable us to maintain our collateral lien position on certain real estate secured loans.

The net charge-off ratio for real estate secured receivables for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with the prior quarter and prior year quarter as the decrease in dollars of net charge-offs as discussed above outpaced the decrease in average receivable levels.

Real estate charge-offs and REO expenses as a percentage of average real estate secured receivables for June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2013 due to lower dollars of net charge-offs as discussed above and lower REO expenses, partially offset by the impact of lower average receivable levels. See "Results of Operations" for further discussion of REO expenses.

Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

	J	une 30, 2014	March 31, 2014		ember 31, 2013
	(in million				
Nonaccrual real estate secured receivables held for investment:(1)					
Late stage delinquency ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	\$	519	\$	681	\$ 639
Individually evaluated for impairment ⁽⁴⁾		526		652	848
Collectively evaluated for impairment ⁽⁵⁾		150		211	282
Total nonaccrual real estate secured receivables held for investment ⁽⁶⁾		1,195		1,544	1,769
Real estate owned		180		238	323
Nonaccrual receivables held for sale ⁽¹⁾⁽⁷⁾		1,059		1,584	1,422
Total nonperforming assets	\$	2,434	\$	3,366	\$ 3,514

⁽¹⁾ Nonaccrual receivables reflect all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as second lien loans (regardless of delinquency status) where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent. Nonaccrual receivables held for investment and held for sale do not include receivables totaling \$1,146 million, \$1,054 million and \$953 million at June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, which have been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which are less than 90 days contractually delinquent and not accruing interest. In addition, nonaccrual receivables do not include receivables which have made qualifying payments and have been re-aged and the contractual delinquency status reset to current as such activity, in our judgment, evidences continued payment probability. If a re-aged loan subsequently experiences payment default and becomes 90 or more days contractually delinquent, it will be reported as nonaccrual.

Nonaccrual receivables are classified as "late stage delinquency" if at any point in its life cycle it has been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies (generally 180 days past due). However, as a result of account management actions or other account activity, these receivables may no longer be greater than 180 days past due. At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the amounts above include \$117 million, \$155 million and \$179 million, respectively, of receivables that at some point in their life cycle were written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies, but are currently between 90 and 180 days past due.

⁽³⁾ This amount includes TDR Loans which are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled \$326 million at June 30, 2014 compared with \$424 million at March 31, 2014 and \$397 million at December 31, 2013.

⁽⁴⁾ This amount represents nonaccrual receivables which at no point in its life cycle have ever been greater than 180 days contractually delinquent and have been classified as TDR Loans. This amount represents TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow methodology. Each loan is individually identified as a TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted cash flow impairment analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. This amount excludes TDR Loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell as they are reflected in the late stage delinquency totals.

⁽⁵⁾ This amount represents nonaccrual receivables which at no point in its life cycle have ever been greater than 180 days contractually delinquent and are not classified as TDR Loans. As discussed more fully above, for these receivables we establish credit loss reserves using a roll rate migration analysis that

estimates the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our portfolio.

- (6) At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, nonaccrual second lien real estate secured receivables totaled \$126 million, \$201 million and \$231 million, respectively.
- (7) At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, nonaccrual receivable held for sale includes \$736 million, \$1,062 million and \$900 million, respectively, of real estate secured receivables held for sale which are also classified as TDR Loans.

Nonaccrual real estate secured receivables held for investment at June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as discussed below.

- Late stage delinquency Nonaccrual late stage delinquency decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as a result of this improved credit quality as fewer accounts progressed to late stage delinquency during the first half of 2014 due to the impact of the continued improvements in economic conditions and maturing of the portfolio. The decreases also reflect the transfer of additional real estate secured receivables to held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014.
- Individually evaluated for impairment The decrease in nonaccrual receivables individually evaluated for impairment as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects improved credit quality as a result of the impact of the continued improvements in economic conditions and account management actions taken during the first half of 2014 as well as a decrease in the volume of new TDR Loans during three and six months ended June 30, 2014. The decrease was partially offset by the impact of fewer accounts progressing to late stage delinquency during the first half of 2014 as a result of the improvements in credit quality.
- Collectively evaluated for impairment The decrease in nonaccrual receivables collectively evaluated for impairment as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflects lower receivables levels and the continued improvements in economic conditions.

Nonaccrual receivables held for sale at June 30, 2014 decreased as compared with March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 reflecting the impact of the sale of real estate secured receivables, partially offset by the transfer of additional real estate secured receivables to held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as well as increases in the fair value of real estate secured receivables held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 which increases the carrying value of these receivables.

At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, nonaccrual receivables in the table above include TDR Loans and TDR Loans that are held for sale totaling \$1,588 million, \$2,138 million and \$2,145 million, respectively, some of which are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell in accordance with our existing charge-off policies. See Note 4, "Receivables," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details regarding TDR Loan balances.

Customer Account Management Policies and Practices Our policies and practices for the collection of consumer receivables, including our customer account management policies and practices, permit us to take action with respect to delinquent or troubled accounts based on criteria which, in our judgment, evidence continued payment probability, as well as, in the case of real estate secured receivables, a continuing desire for borrowers to stay in their homes. The policies and practices are designed to manage customer relationships, improve collection opportunities and avoid foreclosure as determined to be appropriate. From time to time we re-evaluate these policies and procedures and make changes as deemed appropriate.

Currently, we utilize the following account management actions:

- Modification Management action that results in a change to the terms and conditions of the loan either temporarily or
 permanently without changing the delinquency status of the loan. Modifications may include changes to one or more terms
 of the loan including, but not limited to, a change in interest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment
 amount and partial forgiveness or deferment of principal.
- Collection Re-age Management action that results in the resetting of the contractual delinquency status of an account to current but does not involve any changes to the original terms and conditions of the loan. If an account which has been reaged subsequently experiences a payment default, it will again become contractually delinquent. We use collection reaging as an account and customer management tool in an effort to increase the cash flow from our account relationships, and accordingly, the application of this tool is subject to complexities, variations and changes from time to time.
- *Modification Re-age* Management action that results in a change to the terms and conditions of the loan, either temporarily or permanently, and also resets the contractual delinquency status of an account to current as discussed above. If an account which has been re-aged subsequently experiences a payment default, it will again become contractually delinquent.

Generally, in our experience, we have found that the earlier in the default cycle we have been able to utilize account management actions, the lower the rate of recidivism is likely to be. Additionally, we have found that for loan modification, modifications with significant amounts of payment reduction experience lower levels of recidivism. Some customers receive multiple account management actions. In this regard, multiple account management action as a percentage of total modifications are in a range of 70 percent to 75 percent.

Our policies and practices for managing accounts are continually reviewed and assessed to assure that they meet the goals outlined above, and accordingly, we make exceptions to these general policies and practices from time to time. In addition, exceptions to these policies and practices may be made in specific situations in response to legal agreements, regulatory agreements or orders.

Since January 2007, we have cumulatively modified and/or re-aged approximately 401 thousand real estate secured loans with an aggregate outstanding principal balance of \$46.1 billion at the time of modification and/or re-age under our foreclosure avoidance programs which are described below. The following table provides information about the subsequent performance of all real estate secured loans granted a modification and/or re-age since January 2007, some of which may have received multiple account management actions:

Status as of June 30, 2014:	Number of Loans	Based on Outstanding Receivable Balance at Time of Account Modification Action
Current or less than 30-days delinquent	30%	28%
30- to 59-days delinquent	3	3
60-days or more delinquent	7	8
Paid-in-full or sold	20	24
Charged-off or transferred to real estate owned	40	37
	100%	100%

The following table shows the number of real estate secured accounts remaining in our portfolio (including receivables held for sale) as well as the outstanding receivable balance of these accounts as of the period indicated for loans that we have taken an account management action by the type of action taken, some of which may have received multiple account management actions.

	Number of Accounts ⁽¹⁾	Outstan Ba	Outstanding Receivable Balance (1)(3)		
	(accounts are in thousands)	(dollars are in millions)			
June 30, 2014: ⁽⁴⁾					
Collection re-age only	93.5	\$	7,301		
Modification only	6.9		645		
Modification re-age	70.8		7,398		
Total loans modified and/or re-aged ⁽²⁾	171.2	\$	15,344		
March 31, 2014: ⁽⁴⁾					
Collection re-age only	99.2	\$	7,778		
Modification only	7.4		694		
Modification re-age	75.9		7,926		
Total loans modified and/or re-aged ⁽²⁾	182.5	\$	16,398		
December 31, 2013: ⁽⁴⁾					
Collection re-age only	100.6	\$	7,876		
Modification only	7.7		734		
Modification re-age	76.4		7,954		
Total loans modified and/or re-aged ⁽²⁾	184.7	\$	16,564		

⁽¹⁾ See Note 4, "Receivables," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information describing modified and/or re-aged loans which are accounted for as TDR Loans.

The following table provides information regarding the delinquency status of loans remaining in the portfolio that were granted modifications of loan terms and/or re-aged as of June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 in the categories shown above:

	N	Number of Accounts			Outstanding Receivable Balance				
	Current or less than 30- days delinquent	30- to 59-days delinquent	60-days or more delinquent	Current or less than 30- days delinquent	30- to 59-days delinquent	60-days or more delinquent			
June 30, 2014:									
Collection re-age only	76%	8%	16%	77%	8%	15%			
Modification only	87	2	11	90	2	8			
Modification re-age	73	7	20	75	7	18			
Total loans modified and/or reaged	75%	8%	17%	76%	8%	16%			
March 31, 2014:									
Collection re-age only	73 %	7 %	20 %	73 %	8 %	19%			
Modification only	85	2	13	88	2	10			
Modification re-age	68	7	25	70	7	23			
Total loans modified and/or reaged	71 %	7%	22 %	72 %	8%	20 %			
December 31, 2013:									
Collection re-age only	68 %	10%	22 %	69 %	11%	20 %			
Modification only	84	2	14	87	3	10			
Modification re-age	64	9	27	66	9	25			
Total loans modified and/or reaged	67%	10%	23 %	68%	10%	22 %			

The outstanding receivable balance included in this table reflects the principal amount outstanding on the loan net of any charge-off recorded in accordance with our existing charge-off policies but excludes any basis adjustments to the loan such as unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated loans, purchase accounting fair value adjustments and premiums or discounts on purchased loans. Additionally, the balance in this table related to receivables which have been classified as held for sale has been reduced by the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment recorded as well as the credit loss reserves associated with these receivables prior to the transfer.

⁽⁴⁾ At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the outstanding receivable balance includes the following amounts related to receivables classified as held for sale.

	J	June 30, 2014	arch 31, 2014	Dec	December 31, 2013	
			(in	millions)		
Collection re-age only	\$	609	\$	805	\$	697
Modifications only		31		42		37
Modification re-age		1,029		1,332		1,127
Total loans modified and/or re-aged	\$	1,669	\$	2,179	\$	1,861

The following table provides additional information regarding real estate secured modified and/or re-aged loans during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 :

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Month Ended June 30,					
		2014		2013		2014		2013			
				(in mi	lions)						
Balance at beginning of period	\$	16,398	\$	20,828	\$	16,564	\$	20,811			
Additions due to an account management action ⁽¹⁾		151		277		342		529			
Payments ⁽²⁾		(355) (310)		(637)		(637)					
Net charge-offs		(137)		(437)		(241)		(761)			
Transfer to real estate owned		(60)		(150)		(103)		(268)			
Receivables held for sale that have subsequently been sold		(773)		(186)		(773)		(186)			
Change in lower of amortized cost or fair value on receivables held for sale		120		260		192		731			
Balance at end of period	\$	15,344	\$	20,282	\$	15,344	\$	20,282			

⁽¹⁾ Includes collection re-age only, modification only, and modification re-ages.

In addition to the account management techniques discussed above, we have also increased the use of deed-in-lieu and short sales in recent years to assist our real estate secured receivable customers. In a deed-in-lieu, the borrower agrees to surrender the deed to the property without going through foreclosure proceedings and we release the borrower from further obligation. In a short sale, the property is offered for sale to potential buyers at a price which has been pre-negotiated between us and the borrower. This pre-negotiated price is based on updated property valuations and overall loss exposure given liquidation through foreclosure. Short sales also release the borrower from further obligation. From our perspective, total losses on deed-in-lieu and short sales are lower than expected total losses from foreclosed loans, or loans where we have previously decided not to pursue foreclosure, and provide resolution to the delinquent receivable over a shorter period of time.

Modification programs We actively use account modifications to reduce the rate and/or payment on a number of qualifying loans and generally re-age certain of these accounts upon receipt of two or more modified payments and other criteria being met. This account management practice is designed to assist borrowers who may have purchased a home with an expectation of continued real estate appreciation or whose income has subsequently declined. Additionally, our loan modification programs are designed to improve cash collections and avoid foreclosure as determined to be appropriate. A significant portion of our real estate secured receivable portfolio has received multiple modifications.

Based on the economic environment and expected slow recovery of housing values, during 2008 we developed additional analytical review tools leveraging industry best practices to assist us in identifying customers who are willing to pay, but are expected to have longer term disruptions in their ability to pay. Using these analytical review tools, we expanded our foreclosure avoidance programs to assist customers who did not qualify for assistance under prior program requirements or who required greater assistance than available under the programs. The expanded program required certain documentation as well as receipt of two qualifying payments before the account could be re-aged. Prior to July 2008, for our Consumer Lending customers, receipt of one qualifying payment was required for a modified account before the account would be re-aged. We also increased the use of longer term modifications to provide assistance in accordance with the needs of our customers which may result in higher credit loss reserve requirements. For selected customer segments, this expanded program lowered the interest rate on fixed rate loans and for adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans the expanded program modified the loan to a lower interest rate than scheduled at the first interest rate reset date. The eligibility requirements for this expanded program allow more customers to qualify for payment relief and in certain cases can result in a lower interest rate than allowed under other existing programs. During the third quarter of 2009, in order to increase the long-term success rate of our modification programs we increased certain documentation requirements for participation in these programs. Late in the third quarter of 2011 the modification program was enhanced to improve underwriting and achieve a better balance between economics and customer-driven variables. The enhanced program offers a longer modification duration to select borrowers facing a temporary hardship and expands the treatment options to include term extension and principal deferral or forgiveness. During the first half of 2014, we revised our modification programs resulting in a minimum modification term of 24 months. As a result, the loans remaining in our portfolio are comprised of a growing composition of longer dated or permanent modification.

⁽²⁾ Includes amounts received under a short sale whereby the property is sold by the borrower at a price which has been pre-negotiated with us and the borrower is released from further obligation.

The volume of loans that have qualified for a new modification has fallen significantly in recent years. Although we made enhancements to our modification programs during 2013 to provide longer term modifications and larger payment relief on short term modifications, fewer customers are requesting these account modifications. We expect the volume of new modifications to continue to decline as we believe a smaller percentage of our customers with unmodified loans will benefit from loan modification in a way that will not ultimately result in a repeat default on their loans. Additionally, volumes of new loan modifications are expected to decrease due to the impact of improvements in economic conditions over the long-term and the continued seasoning of a liquidating portfolio.

In the second half of 2013, we expanded our current modification program to include principal write downs to customers meeting certain criteria. For qualifying customers, we determine the full amount contractually due, including unpaid principal balance, outstanding deferred interest and other ancillary disbursements that, by law, are reimbursable, and reduce the outstanding amount to a lower amount. However, in many cases this principal forgiveness does not change the carrying value of the receivable as many of these receivables had previously been written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral in accordance with our existing charge-off policies. During the three months ended June 30, 2014, we provided principal write downs totaling \$35 million, which included \$10 million for deferred interest and other ancillary disbursements. During the six months ended June 30, 2014, we provided principal write downs totaling \$75 million, which included \$21 million for deferred interest and other ancillary disbursements. The impact to the provision for credit losses was not material as these amounts were already included in our credit loss reserves.

We will continue to evaluate our consumer relief programs as well as all aspects of our account management practices to ensure our programs benefit our customers in accordance with their financial needs in ways that are economically viable for both our customers and our stakeholders. Loans modified under these programs are only included in the re-aging statistics table ("Reage Table") that is included in our discussion of our re-age programs if the delinquency status of a loan was reset as a part of the modification or was re-aged in the past for other reasons. Not all loans modified under these programs have the delinquency status reset and, therefore, are not considered to have been re-aged.

The following table summarizes loans modified during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, some of which may have also been re-aged:

	Number of Accounts Modified	Recei	Outstanding vable Balance at of Modification		
	(accounts are in thousands, dollars are in billions)				
Foreclosure avoidance programs ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ :					
Six months ended June 30, 2014	5.8	\$.8		
Six months ended June 30, 2013	6.9		1.0		

⁽¹⁾ Includes all loans modified during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 regardless of whether the loan was also re-aged.

A primary tool used during account modification involves modifying the monthly payment through lowering the rate on the loan on either a temporary or permanent basis. The following table summarizes the weighted-average contractual rate reductions and the average amount of payment relief provided to customers that entered an account modification (including receivables currently classified as held for sale) for the first time during the quarter indicated. The average payment relief provided on modifications has increased during the first half of 2014 as a result of a change to our modification programs during the first half of 2014 requiring a minimum modification term of 24 months as discussed above.

	Quarter Ended							
	June 30, 2014	Mar. 31, 2014	Dec. 31, 2013	Sept. 30, 2013	June 30, 2013			
Weighted-average contractual rate reduction in basis points on account modifications during the period ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	467	433	441	410	383			
Average payment relief provided on account modifications as a percentage of total payment prior to modification ⁽²⁾	41.5%	38.3%	37.4%	31.8%	29.4%			

⁽¹⁾ The weighted-average rate reduction was determined based on the rate in effect immediately prior to the modification, which for ARMs may be lower than the rate on the loan at the time of origination.

⁽²⁾ If qualification criteria are met, loan modification may occur on more than one occasion for the same account. For purposes of the table above, an account is only included in the modification totals once in an annual period and not for each separate modification in an annual period.

(2) Excludes any modifications on purchased receivable portfolios which had a carrying value of \$777 million and \$817 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

Re-age programs Our policies and practices include various criteria for an account to qualify for re-aging, but do not, however, require us to re-age the account. The extent to which we re-age accounts that are eligible under our existing policies will differ depending upon our view of prevailing economic conditions and other factors which may change from period to period. In addition, exceptions to our policies and practices may be made in specific situations in response to legal or regulatory agreements or orders. It is our practice to defer past due interest on re-aged real estate secured and personal non-credit card accounts to the end of the loan period. We do not accrue interest on these past due interest payments consistent with our 2002 settlement agreement with the State Attorneys General.

We continue to monitor and track information related to accounts that have been re-aged. First lien real estate secured products generally have less loss severity exposure than other products because of the underlying collateral. Credit loss reserves, including reserves on TDR Loans, take into account whether loans have been re-aged or are subject to modification, extension or deferment. Our credit loss reserves, including reserves on TDR Loans, also take into consideration the expected loss severity based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan. TDR Loans are typically reserved for using a discounted cash flow methodology.

We used certain assumptions and estimates to compile our re-aging statistics. The systemic counters used to compile the information presented below exclude from the reported statistics loans that have been reported as contractually delinquent but have been reset to a current status because we have determined that the loans should not have been considered delinquent (e.g., payment application processing errors). When comparing re-aging statistics from different periods, the fact that our re-age policies and practices will change over time, that exceptions are made to those policies and practices, and that our data capture methodologies have been enhanced, should be taken into account.

The following tables provide information about re-aged real estate secured receivables and real estate secured receivables held for sale and includes both Collection Re-ages and Modification Re-ages, as discussed above.

Re-age Table ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾		June 30, 2014		March 31, 2014		December 31, 2013		
	(dollars are in millions)							
Total real estate secured receivables ever re-aged	\$	14,097	\$	15,052	\$	15,253		
Real estate secured receivables ever re-aged as a percentage of total receivables and receivables held for sale								
Re-aged in the last 6 months ⁽³⁾		9.4%		9.5%		8.6%		
Re-aged in the last 7-12 months		8.7		9.4		10.5		
Previously re-aged beyond 12 months		35.4		35.0		34.2		
Total real estate secured receivables ever re-aged as a percentage of total receivables and receivables held for sale		53.5%		53.9%		53.3%		

⁽¹⁾ The outstanding balance included in this table reflects the principal amount outstanding on the loan net of unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated loans, purchase accounting fair value adjustments and premiums or discounts on purchased loans as well as net of any charge-off recorded in accordance with our existing charge-off policies as well as lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments recorded on receivables held for sale.

At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, \$2,303 million (16 percent of total re-aged loans in the Re-Age Table), \$3,107 million (21 percent of total re-aged loans in the Re-age Table) and \$3,417 million (22 percent of total re-aged loans in the Re-age Table), respectively, of re-aged accounts have subsequently experienced payment defaults and are included in our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency at the period indicated.

We continue to work with advocacy groups in select markets to assist in encouraging our customers with financial needs to contact us. We consider the feedback from advocacy groups as we make changes in our modification programs. We have also implemented new training programs to ensure that our customer service representatives are focused on helping the customer through difficulties, are knowledgeable about the available re-aging and modification programs and are able to advise each customer of the best solutions for their individual circumstance.

The tables above exclude any accounts re-aged without receipt of a payment which only occurs under special circumstances, such as re-ages associated with disaster or in connection with a bankruptcy filing. At June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the unpaid principal balance of re-ages without receipt of a payment totaled \$448 million, \$542 million and \$617 million, respectively.

⁽³⁾ During the six months ended June 30, 2014, approximately 70 percent of real estate secured receivable re-ages occurred on accounts that were less than 60 days contractually delinquent.

We also support a variety of national and local efforts in homeownership preservation and foreclosure avoidance.

Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as a significant credit exposure with an individual or group engaged in similar activities or having similar economic characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions.

We have historically served non-prime consumers. Such customers are individuals who have limited credit histories, modest incomes, high debt-to-income ratios or have experienced credit problems evidenced by occasional delinquencies, prior charge-offs, bankruptcy or other credit related actions. The majority of our secured receivables have high loan-to-value ratios.

Because we primarily lend to individual consumers, we do not have receivables (including receivables held for sale) from any industry group that equal or exceed 10 percent of total receivables at June 30, 2014 or December 31, 2013. The following table reflects the percentage of consumer receivables (including receivables held for sale) by state which individually account for 5 percent or greater of our portfolio.

	Percent of Estate Secure	
	June 30, 2014	December 31, 2013
California	9.4%	9.4%
New York	6.8	6.9
Ohio	6.2	6.0
Pennsylvania	6.2	6.1
Florida	5.4	5.4
Virginia	5.2	5.1

Liquidity and Capital Resources

HSBC Related Funding We work with our affiliates under the oversight of HSBC North America to maximize funding opportunities and efficiencies in HSBC's operations in the United States. All of our ongoing funding requirements have been integrated into the overall HSBC North America funding plans and our funding requirements are now sourced primarily through HSBC USA, Inc.

Due to affiliates totaled \$7,761 million and \$8,742 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The interest rates on funding from HSBC subsidiaries are market-based and comparable to those available from unaffiliated parties. The following table summarizes maturities of amounts due to affiliates at June 30, 2014:

	(ir	n millions)
2014	\$	805
2015		2,005
2016		500
2017		512
2018		2,500
Thereafter		1,439
Total	\$	7,761

See Note 11, "Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion about our funding arrangements with HSBC affiliates, including derivatives.

Short-Term Investments Securities purchased under agreements to resell totaled \$5,643 million and \$6,924 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. Securities purchased under agreements to resell decreased as compared with December 31, 2013 as a result of the retirement of debt, partially offset by the run-off of our liquidating receivable portfolios and the sale of real estate secured receivables and REO properties.

Long-Term Debt (excluding amounts due to affiliates) decreased to \$18,234 million at June 30, 2014 from \$20,839 million at December 31, 2013. There were no issuances of long-term debt during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 or 2013. Repayments of long-term debt totaled \$2,545 million and \$2,574 million during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The following table summarizes maturities of long-term debt at June 30, 2014, including secured financings:

	(in	millions)
2014	\$	943
2015		5,884
2016		5,486
2017		1,884
2018		308
Thereafter		3,729
Total	\$	18,234

Secured financings previously issued under public trusts of \$1,835 million at June 30, 2014 are secured by \$3,495 million of closed-end real estate secured receivables. Secured financings previously issued under public trusts of \$2,200 million at December 31, 2013 were secured by \$4,020 million of closed-end real estate secured receivables.

In order to eliminate future foreign exchange risk, currency swaps were used at the time of issuance to fix in U.S. dollars all foreign-denominated notes previously issued.

We use derivatives for managing interest rate and currency risk and have received loan commitments from third parties and affiliates, but we do not otherwise enter into off-balance sheet transactions.

Common Equity During the six months ended June 30, 2014, we did not receive any capital contributions from HINO. However, as we continue to liquidate our receivable portfolios, HSBC's continued support will be required to properly manage our business and maintain appropriate levels of capital. HSBC has historically provided significant capital in support of our operations and has indicated that they remain fully committed and have the capacity to continue that support.

Selected capital ratios In managing capital, we develop a target for tangible common equity to tangible assets. This ratio target is based on risks inherent in the portfolio and the projected operating environment and related risks. Our targets may change from time to time to accommodate changes in the operating environment or other considerations such as those listed above.

The following table summarizes selected capital ratios:

	June 30, 2014	December 31, 2013
Tangible common equity to tangible assets ⁽¹⁾	15.67%	13.45%
Common and preferred equity to total assets	20.19	17.59

⁽¹⁾ Tangible common equity to tangible assets represents a non-U.S. GAAP financial ratio that we use to evaluate capital adequacy and may differ from similarly named measures presented by other companies. See "Basis of Reporting" for additional discussion on the use of non-U.S. GAAP financial measures and "Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures" for quantitative reconciliations to the equivalent U.S. GAAP basis financial measure.

On March 26, 2014, the Federal Reserve informed HSBC North America, our indirect parent company, that it did not object to HSBC North America's capital actions, including payment of dividends on outstanding preferred stock and trust preferred securities of HSBC North America and its subsidiaries. The Federal Reserve informed HSBC North America that it did object to its capital plan submitted for the 2014 Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review ("CCAR") due to weaknesses in its capital planning processes. The Federal Reserve does not permit bank holding companies to disclose confidential supervisory information including the reason for an objection to a capital plan submitted for CCAR. HSBC North America is required to resubmit its capital plan, incorporating enhancements to its processes, by January 5, 2015, the due date for the next annual CCAR submission. Stress Testing results are based solely on hypothetical adverse scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted as forecasts of expected outcomes or capital adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America. Capital planning and stress testing for HSBC North America may impact our future capital and liquidity.

2014 Funding Strategy The following table summarizes our current range of estimates for funding needs and sources for 2014:

	thr	through			Estimated July 1 through December 31, 2014			Estimated Full Year 2014				
				(in	billio	ns)						
Funding needs:												
Term debt maturities	\$	3	\$	1 -	\$	2	\$	4 - \$	5			
Secured financing maturities				1 -		1		1 -	1			
Litigation bond						2			2			
Total funding needs	\$	3	\$	2 -	\$	5	\$	5 - \$	8			
Funding sources:								-				
Net asset attrition ⁽¹⁾	\$	1	\$	1 -	\$	2	\$	2 - \$	3			
Liquidation of short-term investments		1				2		1 -	3			
Asset sales and transfers		1		1 -		1		2 -	2			
Other ⁽²⁾		_				_			_			
Total funding sources		3	\$	2 -	\$	5	\$	5 - \$	8			

⁽¹⁾ Net of receivable charge-offs.

For the remainder of 2014, the combination of cash generated from operations including balance sheet attrition, liquidation of short-term investments and asset sales will generate the liquidity necessary to meet our maturing debt obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

On October 17, 2013, the District Court entered a partial final judgment against us in the Jaffe litigation in the amount of approximately \$2.5 billion. We are currently appealing this judgment. In addition to the partial judgment that has been entered, there also remains approximately \$625 million, prior to imposition of pre-judgment interest, in claims that still are subject to objections that have not yet been ruled upon by the District Court. In November 2013, we obtained a surety bond to secure a stay of execution of the partial judgment while the appeal is on-going. The surety bond has a term of three years and an annual fee of \$7 million. To reduce costs associated with posting cash collateral with the insurance companies, the surety bond has been guaranteed by HSBC North America and we will pay HSBC North America a fee of \$6 million annually for this guarantee. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we recorded expense of \$2 million and \$4 million, respectively, related to the surety bond and \$2 million and \$3 million, respectively, related to the guarantee provided by HSBC North America. See Note 15, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Fair Value

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives or changes in the fair value of receivables held for sale affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, our results for the six months ended June 30, 2014 should not be considered indicative of the results for any future period.

Fair Value Hierarchy Accounting principles related to fair value measurements establish a fair value hierarchy structure that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants' assumptions. It emphasizes the use of valuation methodologies that maximize market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The majority of valuation techniques use market inputs that are either observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is

Primarily reflects cash provided by operating activities and sales of REO properties.

valued based on valuation techniques that feature one or more significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The determination of the level of fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement of an asset or a liability is classified often requires judgment. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

- whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services;
- whether the instrument is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price that is readily available;
- the size of transactions occurring in an active market;
- the level of bid-ask spreads;
- a lack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, market liquidity;
- whether only a few transactions are observed over a significant period of time;
- whether the inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and
- whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for the identical assets or liabilities. A financial instrument is classified as a Level 1 measurement if it is listed on an exchange or is an instrument actively traded in the OTC market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. We regard financial instruments that are listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded.

Level 2 inputs are inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify as Level 1 inputs. We generally classify derivative contracts as well as our own debt issuance for which we have elected fair value option which are not traded in active markets, as Level 2 measurements. These valuations are typically obtained from a third party valuation source which, in the case of derivatives, includes valuations provided by an affiliate, HSBC Bank USA, National Association ("HSBC Bank USA").

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. Level 3 inputs incorporate market participants' assumptions about risk and the risk premium required by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, our Level 3 assets recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis included receivables held for sale totaling \$1,602 million and \$2,047 million, respectively. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had no Level 3 assets in our continuing operations recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to other hierarchy levels in each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 Measurements There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 3 Measurements During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred certain real estate secured receivables held for sale totaling \$272 million and \$1,174 million, respectively, from Level 3 to Level 2 prior to the sale of these receivables. During the six months ended June 30, 2013, we transferred our personal non-credit card receivable portfolio held for sale totaling \$2,947 million from Level 3 to Level 2 prior to the sale of this portfolio on April 1, 2013. We did not have any transfers into or out Level 3 classifications during the three months ended June 30, 2013.

See Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details including our valuation techniques as well as the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Risk Management

Overview Some degree of risk is inherent in virtually all of our activities. Accordingly, we have comprehensive risk management policies and practices in place to address potential risks, which include the following:

• *Credit risk* is the risk that financial loss arises from the failure of a customer or counterparty to meet its obligations under a contract. Our credit risk arises primarily from our lending and treasury activities;

- Liquidity risk is the potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtaining funding itself;
- *Market risk* is the risk that movements in market risk factors, including interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;
- *Interest rate risk* is the potential impairment of net interest income due to mismatched pricing between assets and liabilities as well as losses in value due to rate movements;
- Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people or systems or from external events (including legal risk);
- Compliance risk is the risk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of all relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations and standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;
- Reputational risk is the risk arising from a failure to safeguard our reputation by maintaining the highest standards of conduct at all times and by being aware of issues, activities and associations that might pose a threat to the reputation of HSBC locally, regionally or internationally;
- Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute and react appropriately to opportunities and/or threats arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years such as changing economic and political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory developments or competitor action;
- Security and Fraud risk is the risk to the business from terrorism, crime, incidents/disasters, cyber-attacks and groups hostile to HSBC interests;
- *Model risk* is the risk of incorrect implementation or inappropriate application of models. Model risk occurs when a model does not properly capture risk(s) or perform functions as designed; and
- *Pension risk* is the risk that the cash flows associated with pension assets will not be enough to cover the pension benefit obligations required to be paid and includes the risk that assumptions used by our actuaries may differ from actual experience.

The objective of our risk management system is to identify, measure, monitor and manage risks so that:

- potential costs can be weighed against the expected rewards from taking the risks;
- appropriate disclosures are made;
- adequate protections, capital and other resources can be put in place to weather all significant risks; and
- compliance with all relevant laws, codes, rules and regulations is ensured through staff education, adequate processes and controls, and ongoing monitoring efforts.

See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2013 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of the objectives of our risk management system as well as our risk management policies and practices. Our risk management process involves the use of various simulation models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what is assumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonable estimates, with the understanding that actual results may vary significantly from model projections.

Credit Risk Management Day-to-day management of credit risk is administered by the HSBC Finance Corporation Chief Risk Officer who reports to the HSBC North America Chief Risk Officer Risk Officer reports to the HSBC North America Chief Executive Officer, Group Managing Director, and to the Group Managing Director and Chief Risk Officer of HSBC. Our credit and portfolio management procedures currently focus on effective collections and customer account management efforts for each loan. Prior to the sale of our Card and Retail Services business on May 1, 2012, our lending guidelines, which delineate the credit risk we were willing to take and the related terms, were specific not only for each product, but also took into consideration various other factors including borrower characteristics, return on equity, capital deployment and our overall risk appetite. We also have specific policies to ensure the establishment of appropriate credit loss reserves on a timely basis to cover probable losses of principal, interest and fees. Our customer account management policies and practices are described under the caption "Credit Quality - Customer Account Management Policies and Practices" in MD&A. Also see Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2013 Form 10-K for further discussion of our policies surrounding credit loss reserves. Our policies and procedures are consistent with HSBC standards and are regularly reviewed and updated both on an HSBC Finance Corporation and HSBC level. The credit risk function continues to refine "early warning" indicators and reporting, including stress testing scenarios on the basis of current experience. These risk management tools are embedded within our business planning process.

Counterparty credit risk is our primary exposure on our interest rate swap portfolio. Counterparty credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a transaction fails to perform according to the terms of the contract. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, all

of our existing derivative contracts are with HSBC subsidiaries, making them our sole counterparty in derivative transactions. Derivative agreements require that payments be made to, or received from, the counterparty when the fair value of the agreement reaches a certain level. The fair value of our agreements with an affiliate counterparty required the affiliate to provide collateral to us of \$590 million and \$811 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, all of which was received in cash. These amounts are offset against the fair value amount recognized for derivative instruments that have been offset under the same master netting arrangement.

There has been no significant change in our approach to credit risk management since December 31, 2013.

Liquidity Risk Management Continued success in reducing the size of our run-offreal estate secured receivable portfolio, including the proceeds of receivables held for sale, will be the primary driver of our liquidity management process going forward. However, lower operating cash flow as a result of declining receivable balances may not provide sufficient cash to fully cover maturing debt over the next four to five years. We currently do not expect third-party long-term debt to be a source of funding for us in the future given the run-off nature of our business. We anticipate any required incremental funding will be integrated into the overall HSBC North America funding plans and will be sourced through HSBC USA Inc., or will be obtained through direct support from HSBC or its affiliates. HSBC has indicated it remains fully committed and has the capacity to continue to provide such support. Should HSBC North America call upon us to execute certain strategies in order to address capital and other considerations, our intent may change and a portion of this required funding could be generated through additional sales of selected receivables from our receivables held for investment portfolio.

We project cash flow requirements and determine the level of liquid assets and available funding sources to have at our disposal, with consideration given to anticipated balance sheet run-off, including liquidation of receivables held for sale, contingent liabilities and the ability of HSBC USA Inc. to access wholesale funding markets. In addition to base case projections, a stress scenario is generated to simulate crisis conditions, assuming:

- · no unsecured funding is available; and
- only affiliate committed credit facilities can be accessed.

Stressed coverage ratios are derived from stressed cash flow scenario analyses and express the stressed cash inflows as a percentage of stressed cash outflows over one-month and three-month time horizons.

The stressed cash inflows include:

- inflows (net of assumed discount required for an accelerated liquidation) expected to be generated from the realization of liquid assets;
- contractual cash inflows from maturing assets that are not already reflected as a utilization of liquid assets;
- planned asset sale proceeds; and
- affiliate committed credit facilities.

Our one-month and three-month time horizon stressed coverage ratio as of June 30, 2014 were 2,338 percent and 254 percent, respectively. A stressed coverage ratio of 100 percent or higher reflects a positive cumulative cash flow under the stress scenario being monitored. HSBC operating entities are required to maintain a ratio of 100 percent or greater out to three months under the combined market-wide and HSBC-specific stress scenario defined by the inherent liquidity risk categorization of the operating entity concerned.

We also maintain a liquidity management and contingency funding plan, which identifies certain potential early indicators of liquidity problems, and actions that can be taken both initially and in the event of a liquidity crisis, to minimize the long-term impact on our businesses. The liquidity contingency funding plan is reviewed annually and approved by the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors. We recognize a liquidity crisis can either be specific to us, relating to our ability to meet our obligations in a timely manner, or market-wide, caused by a macro risk event in the broader financial system. A range of indicators are monitored to attain an early warning of any liquidity issues. These include widening of key spreads or indices used to track market volatility, widening of our credit spreads and higher borrowing costs. In the event of a cash flow crisis, our objective is to fund cash requirements without HSBC affiliate access to the wholesale unsecured funding market for at least 90 days. Contingency funding needs will be satisfied primarily through liquidation of short term investments, sale of loans or secured borrowing using the mortgage portfolio as collateral. We maintain a liquid asset buffer consisting of cash and short-term liquid assets.

In January 2013, the Basel Committee issued revised Basel III liquidity rules and HSBC North America is in the process of evaluating the Basel III framework for liquidity risk management. The framework consists of two liquidity metrics: the liquidity coverage ratio ("LCR"), designed to be a short-term measure to ensure banks have sufficient high-quality liquid assets to cover

net stressed cash outflows over the next 30 days, and the net stable funding ratio ("NSFR"), which is a longer term measure with a 12-month time horizon to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities. The ratios are subject to an observation period and are expected to become established standards, subject to phase-in periods, by 2015 and 2018, respectively. Based on the results of the observation periods, the Basel Committee may make further changes.

In October 2013, the Federal Reserve, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation issued for public comment a rule to introduce a quantitative liquidity requirement in the United States, applicable to certain large banking institutions, including HSBC North America. The proposed LCR is generally consistent with the Basel Committee guidelines, but is more stringent in several areas including the range of assets that will qualify as high-quality liquid assets and the assumed rate of outflows of certain kinds of funding. Under the proposal, U.S. institutions would begin the LCR transition period on January 1, 2015 and would be required to be fully compliant by January 1, 2017, as opposed to the Basel Committee's requirement to be fully compliant by January 1, 2019. The proposed rule does not address the NSFR requirement, which is currently in an international observation period. Based on the results of the observation period, the Basel Committee and U.S. banking regulators may make further changes. U.S. regulators are expected to issue a proposed rulemaking implementing the NSFR in advance of its scheduled global implementation in 2018.

We believe that HSBC North America will meet these liquidity requirements prior to their formal introduction. The actual impact will be dependent on the specific final regulations issued by the U.S. regulators to implement these standards. HSBC Finance Corporation may need to change its liquidity profile to support HSBC North America's compliance with any future final rules. We are unable at this time, however, to determine the extent of changes we will need to make to our liquidity position, if any.

Maintaining our credit ratings is an important part of maintaining our overall liquidity profile. As indicated by the major rating agencies, our credit ratings are directly dependent upon the continued support of HSBC. A credit rating downgrade would increase future borrowing costs only for new debt obligations, if any. As discussed above, we do not currently expect to need to raise funds from the issuance of third party debt going forward, but instead any required funding has been integrated into HSBC North America's funding plans and will be sourced through HSBC USA Inc. or through direct support from HSBC or its affiliates. HSBC has historically provided significant capital in support of our operations and has indicated that they remain fully committed and have the capacity to continue that support.

The following table summarizes our credit ratings at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

	Standard & Poor's Corporation	Moody's Investors Service	Fitch, Inc.
As of June 30, 2014:			
Senior debt	A	Baa1	A +
Senior subordinated debt	A-	Baa2	A
Series B preferred stock	BBB+	Baa3	-
As of December 31, 2013:			
Senior debt	A	Baa1	A+
Senior subordinated debt	A-	Baa2	A
Series B preferred stock	BBB+	Baa3	_

As of June 30, 2014, there were no pending actions from these rating agencies in terms of changes to the ratings presented in the table above for HSBC Finance Corporation.

In May 2014, Moody's Investor Service downgraded the ratings of four tranches of debt securities issued by one of our secured financing trust, generally by one notch, as a result of recent performance of the underlying pools.

Other conditions that could negatively affect our liquidity include unforeseen capital requirements, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar, a slowdown in the rate of attrition of our balance sheet and an inability to obtain expected funding from HSBC and its subsidiaries.

See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for further discussion of our liquidity position.

There has been no significant change in our approach to liquidity risk management since December 31, 2013.

Market Risk Management We maintain an overall risk management strategy that primarily uses standard, over-the-counter interest rate and currency derivative financial instruments to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations caused by changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. We managed our exposure to interest rate risk primarily through the use of interest rate swaps. We do not use leveraged derivative financial instruments.

We manage our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk primarily through the use of currency swaps. Our financial statements are affected by movements in exchange rates on our foreign currency denominated debt.

There has been no significant change in our approach to market risk management since December 31, 2013.

Interest rate risk A principal part of our management of interest rate risk is to monitor the sensitivity of projected net interest income under varying interest rate scenarios (simulation modeling). We aim, through our management of interest rate risk, to mitigate the effect of prospective interest rate movements which could reduce future net interest income, while weighing the cost of such hedging activities on the current net revenue stream.

Projected net interest income sensitivity figures represented the effect of the pro forma movements in net interest income based on the projected yield curve scenarios and the current interest rate risk profile. This effect, however, does not incorporate actions which would probably be taken by us to mitigate the effect of interest rate risk.

The table below sets out the effect on our future net interest income of an incremental 25 basis points parallel rise or fall in rates at the beginning of each quarter over a 12 month period. Rates are not assumed to become negative in the down shock scenario which may effectively result in non-parallel shock. Assuming no management actions, a sequence of such rises would increase planned net interest income by \$29 million for the twelve months following June 30, 2014 (increase by \$13 million for the twelve months following December 31, 2013), while a sequence of such falls would decrease planned net interest income by \$19 million for the twelve months following June 30, 2014 (decrease by \$7 million for the twelve months following December 31, 2013). These amounts incorporate the effect of any option features in the underlying exposures.

	Amount	%
	(dollars are in millions)	
At June 30, 2014:		
Projected change in net interest income (reflects projected rate movements on January 1):		
Change resulting from a gradual 25 basis point increase in interest rates at the beginning of each quarter	29	2.3%
Change resulting from a gradual 25 basis point decrease in interest rates at the beginning of each quarter	(19)	(1.5)
At December 31, 2013:		
Projected change in net interest income (reflects projected rate movements on January 1):		
Change resulting from a gradual 25 basis point increase in interest rates at the beginning of each quarter	13	.8%
Change resulting from a gradual 25 basis point decrease in interest rates at the beginning of each quarter	(7)	(.4)

The increase in net interest income following a hypothetical rate rise as compared with December 31, 2013 reflects updates of economic stress scenarios including housing price index assumptions, regular adjustments of asset and liability behavior assumptions and model enhancements.

A principal consideration supporting the margin at risk analysis is the projected prepayment of loan balances for a given economic scenario. Individual loan underwriting standards in combination with housing valuations, loan modification program, changes to our foreclosure processes and macroeconomic factors related to available mortgage credit are the key assumptions driving these prepayment projections. While we have utilized a number of sources to refine these projections, we cannot currently project precise prepayment rates with a high degree of certainty in all economic environments given recent, significant changes in both subprime mortgage underwriting standards and property valuations across the country.

There has been no significant change in our approach to interest rate risk management since December 31, 2013.

Operational Risk Management There has been no significant change in our approach to operational risk management since December 31, 2013.

Compliance Risk Management There has been no significant change in our approach to compliance risk management since December 31, 2013.

Reputational Risk Management There has been no significant change in our approach to reputational risk management since December 31, 2013.

Strategic Risk Management There has been no significant change in our approach to strategic risk management since December 31, 2013.

Security and Fraud Risk Management There has been no significant change in our approach to security and fraud risk management since December 31, 2013.

Model Risk Management In order to manage the risks arising out of the use of incorrect or misused model output or reports, a comprehensive Model Governance framework has been established that provides oversight and challenge to all models across HSBC North America. This framework includes a HSBC North America Model Standards Policy that was enhanced during the second quarter of 2014 and aligns with model risk management regulations. Model governance is managed through HSBC's global Model Oversight Committee ("MOC") structure, with business and functional MOCs in HSBC North America reporting into corresponding global MOCs. Materiality levels of models are maintained through the HSBC North America Model Standards Policy. A complete inventory of all HSBC North America models is maintained and is being updated in line with recent policy enhancements.

There have been no other significant changes in our approach to model risk management since December 31, 2013.

Pension Risk Management There has been no significant change in our approach to pension risk management since December 31, 2013.

Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). In addition to the U.S. GAAP financial results reported in our consolidated financial statements, MD&A includes reference to the following information which is presented on a non-U.S. GAAP basis:

IFRSs Segment Results A non-U.S. GAAP measure of reporting results in accordance with IFRSs. For a reconciliation of IFRSs results to the comparable owned basis amounts, see Note 12, "Business Segments," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Equity Ratios In managing capital, we develop targets for tangible common equity to tangible assets. This ratio target is based on risks inherent in the portfolio and the projected operating environment and related risks. We monitor ratios excluding the equity impact of unrealized gains losses on cash flow hedging instruments, postretirement benefit plan adjustments and unrealized gains on investments as well as subsequent changes in fair value recognized in earnings associated with debt and the related derivatives for which we elected the fair value option. Our targets may change from time to time to accommodate changes in the operating environment or other considerations such as those listed above.

Quantitative Reconciliations of Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures to U.S. GAAP Financial Measures The following table provides a reconciliation for selected equity ratios:

	Ju	ine 30, 2014	De	cember 31, 2013
		(dollars ar	llions)	
Tangible common equity:				
Common shareholder's equity	\$	5,377	\$	5,086
Exclude:				
Fair value option adjustment		(65)		(99)
Unrealized (gains) losses on cash flow hedging instruments		74		97
Postretirement benefit plan adjustments, net of tax		10		11
Tangible common equity	\$	5,396	\$	5,095
Tangible shareholders' equity:				
Tangible common equity	\$	5,396	\$	5,095
Preferred stock		1,575		1,575
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of HSBC Finance Capital Trust IX ⁽¹⁾		1,000		1,000
Tangible shareholders' equity	\$	7,971	\$	7,670
Tangible assets:				
Total assets	\$	34,426	\$	37,872
Exclude:				
Intangible assets		_		_
Derivative financial assets		_		_
Tangible assets	\$	34,426	\$	37,872
Equity ratios:	_			
Common and preferred equity to total assets		20.19%		17.59%
Tangible common equity to tangible assets		15.67		13.45
Tangible shareholders' equity to tangible assets		23.15		20.25

⁽¹⁾ Preferred securities issued by certain non-consolidated trusts are considered tangible equity in the tangible shareholders' equity to tangible assets ratio calculation because of their long-term subordinated nature and the ability to defer dividends.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Information required by this Item is included in the following sections of Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations: "Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Risk Management."

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC Finance Corporation in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis. Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent outside directors, provides oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report so as to alert them in a timely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

See Note 15, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements beginning on page 43 for our legal proceedings disclosure, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information.

Disclosures Pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each issuer registered with the SEC to disclose in its annual or quarterly reports whether it or any of its affiliates have knowingly engaged in specified activities or transactions with persons or entities targeted by U.S. sanctions programs relating to Iran, terrorism, or the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the U.S. by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with local laws and regulations.

In order to comply with this requirement, HSBC Holdings plc (together with its affiliates, "HSBC Group") has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered by this Form 10-Q, HSBC Finance Corporation did not engage in any activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r). The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Finance division of HSBC Group arranged or participated in a portfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these loans were guaranteed by European and Asian export credit agencies, and they have varied maturity dates with final maturity in 2018. For those loans that remain outstanding, the HSBC Group continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies and, in all cases, with appropriate regulatory approvals. Details of these loans follow.

The HSBC Group has 11 loans outstanding to an Iranian petrochemical and energy company. These loans are supported by the official Export Credit Agencies of the following countries: the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, The Netherlands, South Korea and Japan. The HSBC Group continues to seek repayments from the company under the existing loans in accordance with the original maturity profiles. All repayments made by the Iranian company have received a license or an authorization from relevant authorities. Repayments have been received under a number of the loans in the second quarter of 2014.

Bank Melli and Bank Saderat acted as sub-participants in two of the aforementioned loans. The repayments due to these banks under the loan agreements were paid into frozen accounts under licenses or authorizations from relevant European governments although no such payments were made in the second quarter of 2014.

In 2002, the HSBC Group provided a loan to Bank Tejarat with a guarantee from the Government of Iran to fund the construction of a petrochemical plant undertaken by a U.K. contractor. This loan was supported by the U.K. Export Credit Agency and is administered under license from the relevant European Government. This loan has now matured, but claims for non-payment are still being processed with the UK Export Credit Agency.

The HSBC Group also maintains sub-participations in loans provided by other international banks to Bank Tejarat and Bank Mellat with guarantees from the Government of Iran. In relation to Bank Mellat, the HSBC Group has two sub-participations, which were supported by the Export Credit Agencies of the Netherlands and Spain. Both of the facilities have matured. In relation to Bank Tejarat, HSBC Group has one sub-participation supported by the Export Credit Agency of Italy, which has also has matured. The payments due under the sub-participations have not been received from Bank Mellat or Bank Tejarat and claims are being processed with the relevant European Export Credit Agencies. Licenses and relevant authorizations have been obtained from the competent authorities of the European Union in respect of the transactions.

Estimated gross revenue to the HSBC Group generated by these loans in repayment for the second quarter of 2014, which includes interest and fees, was approximately \$640,000. Estimated net profit for HSBC Group during the second quarter of 2014 was approximately \$388,000. While the HSBC Group intends to continue to seek repayment under the existing loans, it does not intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guarantees to a number of its non-Iranian customers in Europe and the Middle East for various business activities in Iran. In a number of cases, the HSBC Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities included Bank Tejarat, Bank Melli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

The HSBC Group has worked with relevant regulatory authorities to obtain licenses where required and ensure compliance with laws and regulations while seeking to cancel the guarantees and counter indemnities. None were canceled during the second quarter of 2014 and approximately 20 remain outstanding.

There was no measurable gross revenue to the HSBC Group for the second quarter of 2014. The HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate profits measure. The HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and does not intend to provide any new guarantees involving Iran.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S.-sanctioned Iranian banks not covered elsewhere in this disclosure includes the following:

- The HSBC Group maintains a frozen account in the U.K. for an Iranian-owned, U.K.-regulated financial institution. In April 2007, the U.K. government issued a license to allow HSBC Group to handle certain transactions (operational payments and settlement of pre-sanction transactions) for this institution. In December 2013, the U.K. government issued a new license to allow HSBC Group to deposit certain check payments. There was some licensed activity in the second quarter of 2014.
- The HSBC Group has acted during the second quarter of 2014 as the trustee and administrator for a pension scheme involving four employees of an U.S.-sanctioned Iranian bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of these schemes, HSBC Group accepts contributions from the Iranian bank each month and allocates the funds into the pension accounts of the four Iranian bank employees. The HSBC Group runs and operates the pension scheme in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regulations. During the second quarter of 2014, notices of resignation were received for two of the employees.
- In 2010, the HSBC Group closed its representative office in Iran. The HSBC Group maintains a local account with an Iranian bank in Tehran in order to facilitate residual activity related to the closure. The HSBC Group has been authorized by the U.S. Government (and by relevant non-U.S. regulators) to make these types of payments in connection with the liquidation and deregistration of the representative office in Tehran. In the second quarter of 2014, the HSBC Group initiated payments of approximately \$22,000 from this account to pay legal and administrative related expenses associated with the closure.

Estimated gross revenue to the HSBC Group in the second quarter of 2014 for all Iranian bank-related activity described in this section, which includes fees and/or commissions, was approximately \$109,000. The HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and therefore has not disclosed a separate profits measure. The HSBC Group intends to continue to wind down this Iranian bank-related activity and not enter into any new such activity.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 The HSBC Group maintains a frozen personal account for an individual sanctioned under Executive Order 13224, and by the U.K. and the U.N. Security Council. Activity on this account in the second quarter of 2014 was permitted by a license issued by the U.K. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profits generated in the second quarter of 2014.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13382 The HSBC Group held an account for a customer in the Middle East who was sanctioned under Executive Order 13382 in the first quarter of 2014. The HSBC Group closed the account in the second quarter. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profits generated to the HSBC Group in the first and second quarters of 2014.

Other activity The HSBC Group holds a lease of branch premises in London which it entered into in 2005 and is due to expire in 2020. The landlord of the premises is owned by the Iranian government and is a specially designated national under U.S. sanctions programs. The HSBC Group has exercised a break clause in the lease and is in the process of exiting the property. The HSBC Group made no payments in the second quarter of 2014. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group maintains several accounts that are frozen under relevant sanctions programs and on which no activity, except as licensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the second quarter of 2014. In the second quarter of 2014, the HSBC Group also froze payments where required under relevant sanctions programs. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group.

Item 6. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Exhibits included in this Report:

12	Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
31	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document ⁽¹⁾
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document(1)
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, formatted in eXentsible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and (v) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Index

Account management policies and practices 70	Executive overview 46
Assets:	Fair value measurements:
by business segment 35	assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis 40
fair value of financial assets 38	assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis 40
fair value measurements 37	fair value adjustments 37
nonperforming 16, 69	financial instruments 38
Balance sheet (consolidated) 5	hierarchy 78
Basel III 27, 45, 56, 81	transfers into/out of Level 1 and Level 2 40, 79
Basis of reporting 50	transfers into/out of Level 2 and Level 3 40, 79
Business:	valuation control framework 37
consolidated performance review 48	valuation techniques 42
focus 46	Financial highlights metrics 48
Capital:	Financial liabilities:
2014 funding strategy 78	designated at fair value 22
common equity movements 77	fair value of financial liabilities 38
consolidated statement of changes 6	Forward looking statements 45
selected capital ratios 77	Funding 49, 76
Cash flow (consolidated) 7	Gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives 22
Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements 45	Geographic concentration of receivables 76
Compliance risk 83	Impairment:
Consumer business segment 34, 61	credit losses 17, 54
Contingent liabilities:	nonaccrual receivables 12, 69
litigation 43	nonperforming receivables 16, 69
Controls and procedures 86	Income taxes 59
Credit quality 64	Interest income:
Credit risk:	net interest income 53
concentration 76	sensitivity 83
management 80	Interest rate risk 83
Current environment 46	Key performance indicators 48
Derivatives:	Legal proceedings 43
cash flow hedges 25	Liabilities:
fair value hedges 25	financial liabilities designated at fair value 22
inaama (avnansa) 55	
income (expense) 55	lines of credit 33
non-qualifying hedges 26	lines of credit 33 long-term debt 77
non-qualifying hedges 26	long-term debt 77
non-qualifying hedges 26 notional value 27	long-term debt 77 Liquidity and capital resources 76
non-qualifying hedges 26 notional value 27 Discontinued operations 9	long-term debt 77 Liquidity and capital resources 76 Liquidity risk 81
non-qualifying hedges 26 notional value 27 Discontinued operations 9 Equity:	long-term debt 77 Liquidity and capital resources 76 Liquidity risk 81 Litigation and regulatory matters 43

Market risk 82	Reconciliation of Non-U.S. GAAP financial measures to U.S GAAP financial measures 85
Market turmoil - see Current environment	Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP results to IFRSs 50
Model risk 84	Related party transactions 32
Mortgage Lending products 11, 51	Repurchase liability 57
Net interest income 53	Reputational risk 83
New accounting pronouncements 44	Results of operations 53
Off-balance sheet arrangements 78	Risk management:
Operating expenses 58	compliance 83
Operational risk 83	credit 80
Other revenues 55	interest rate 83
Pension and other postretirement benefits 31	liquidity 81
Pension risk 84	market 82
Performance, developments and trends 48	model 84
Profit (loss) before tax:	operational 83
by segment - IFRSs basis 35	overview 79
consolidated 3	pension 84
Provision for credit losses 17, 54	reputational 83
Ratios:	security and fraud 84
capital 77	strategic 84
charge-off (net) 68	Security and fraud risk 84
credit loss reserve related 65	Segment results - IFRSs basis:
delinquency 66	consumer 34, 61
earnings to fixed charges - Exhibit 12	overall summary 34, 60
efficiency 59	Selected financial data 48
financial 48	Sensitivity:
Re-aged receivables 75	projected net interest income 83
Real estate owned 52	Statement of cash flows 7
Receivables:	Statement of changes in shareholders' equity 6
by category 11, 51	Statement of comprehensive income 4
by charge-off (net) 68	Statement of income 3
by delinquency 66	Strategic initiatives and focus 46
geographic concentration 76	Strategic risk 84
held for sale 18	Table of contents 2
modified and/or re-aged 71	Tangible common equity to tangible assets 77
nonaccrual 12, 69	Tax expense 59
overall review 51	Troubled debt restructures 13, 65
risk concentration 76	Variable interest entities 36
troubled debt restructures 13, 65	

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC Finance Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 4, 2014

HSBC FINANCE CORPORATION

By: /s/ MICHAEL A. REEVES

Michael A. Reeves Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit Index

12	Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
31	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document ⁽¹⁾
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document ⁽¹⁾
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document ⁽¹⁾

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, formatted in eXentsible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and (v) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

HSBC FINANCE CORPORATION COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS (LOSS) TO FIXED CHARGES AND TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Six Months Ended June 30,	2014	4		2013
		rs are	e in millions)	
Income from continuing operations	\$	348	\$	575
Income tax expense		95		285
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense		443		860
Fixed charges:				
Interest expense		541		732
Interest portion of rentals ⁽¹⁾		2		3
Total fixed charges.		543		735
Total earnings from continuing operations as defined	\$	986	\$	1,595
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		1.82		2.17
Preferred stock dividends ⁽²⁾	\$	97	\$	97
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends		1.54		1.92

Represents one-third of rentals, which approximates the portion representing interest.
 Preferred stock dividends are grossed up to their pretax equivalents.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

- I, Patrick J. Burke, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of HSBC Finance Corporation, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC Finance Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:
 - a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
 designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
 the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
 principles;
 - evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
 conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
 this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2014

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

- I, Michael A. Reeves, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of HSBC Finance Corporation, certify that:
 - 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC Finance Corporation;
 - 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
 - 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 - 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:
 - a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
 - 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2014

/s/ MICHAEL A. REEVES

Michael A. Reeves Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC Finance Corporation (the "Company") Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report") for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

- I, Patrick J. Burke, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify that:
 - 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
 - 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of HSBC Finance Corporation.

Date: August 4, 2014

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC Finance Corporation (the "Company") Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report") for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Michael A. Reeves, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify that:

- 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
- 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of HSBC Finance Corporation.

Date: August 4, 2014

/s/ MICHAEL A. REEVES

Michael A. Reeves Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

These certifications accompany each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC Finance Corporation for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Signed originals of these written statements required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been provided to HSBC Finance Corporation and will be retained by HSBC Finance Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.